A Needs Assessment of the Educational Needs of Child Care Educators in the Promotion of Healthy Eating in the Child Care Setting

by

Alejandra Arguelles Lopez

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

in

Nutrition and Metabolism

Department of Agricultural, Food and Nutritional Science University of Alberta

© Alejandra Arguelles Lopez, 2018

Abstract

Child care utilization in Canada has increased dramatically in the last two decades. Child care centres provide opportunities for the promotion of healthy eating habits among a great number of young children. Child care educators play a major part in the promotion of healthy eating and behaviour change in children. However, there is room for improving the promotion of healthy eating in child care centres and by child care educators. Furthermore, there is a need for programs aimed at promoting healthy eating, with a special emphasis on child care educators in the child care setting.

The two main aims of this research were to conduct a needs assessment through: 1) a consultation with key informants in the child care sector to explore and identify the educational needs of child care educators in the promotion of healthy eating in child care; and 2) a rapid review of interventions designed to promote children's consumption of vegetables and fruits in child cares. First, a cross-sectional online survey was used to consult with a group of key informants on their perceptions of and recommendations for child care educators' educational needs in the promotion of healthy eating in child cares. Second, a rapid review methodology was used to guide a literature review on interventions aimed at promoting children's consumption of vegetables and fruits in child care centres.

Through the consultation with key informants, this study found there is a need for further training of child care educators in the promotion of healthy eating. In addition, other influential factors need to be addressed to enhance the promotion of healthy eating in child care centres. The rapid review revealed that comprehensive healthy eating interventions targeting children, parents, child care staff and the centre's food environment were more successful than single interventions in promoting healthy eating in child care centres. The findings of this research bring insight into what is needed for the promotion of healthy eating in child cares, and what are the most effective approaches to promote

ii

healthy eating in this setting. The findings from the needs assessment will inform the development of future programs aimed at promoting healthy eating in child cares.

Preface

The research conducted for this thesis is a study that is part of Dr. Anna Farmer's Nibbles & Wiggles Research Program. This research study was made possible with the assistance of several collaborations. First, Ms. Sheila Tyminski and Ms. Theresa Riege, collaborators from Alberta Health Services - Food, Nutrition and Environmental Services assisted with the recruitment of participants. Second, the librarians at the University of Alberta, Ms. Sandy Campbell and Ms. Christina Hwang helped with writing the literature search for the rapid review. Also, under the supervision and guidance of Dr. Anna Farmer and Dr. Geoff Ball, I was responsible for data collection, analysis and literature review for this thesis. The research undertaken for this thesis received research ethics approval from the University of Alberta Research Ethics Board, under the Project Name "An educational program to increase child care educators' knowledge, skills and self-efficacy in the promotion of healthy eating in child cares", on March 21, 2017 (Study ID: Pro00067183).

Acknowledgements

First of all, I would like to thank my God, Jesus Christ for giving me the opportunity to study a Master's degree and for giving me the strength, energy and motivation to finish this program.

I would like to thank the group of child care staff, parents, dietitians and experts who participated in this study and brought their valuable insights on healthy eating in child cares. I wish to thank Ms. Sheila Tyminski and Ms. Theresa Riege for their assistance with the recruitment through Alberta Health Services Population and Public Health Dietitians and the Healthy Eating Environments in Child Care Provincial Advisory Committee. Also, I would like to thank the librarians, Ms. Sandy Campbell and Ms. Christina Hwang for their assistance and guidance.

I am greatly thankful to my supervisor, Dr. Anna Farmer, who guided me through this journey and provided her support and expertise during this time. Thank you for your mentorship and guidance and for giving me the opportunity to be part your research team. I also would like to thank Dr. Geoff Ball for being part of my committee and for his advice throughout this project.

I would like to thank my fellow students and friends who contributed to my work and were with me during this experience, you made my graduate school experience very agreeable. Special thanks are extended to my research colleagues: Sabrina Lopestri, Paulina Blanco, Hadel Arafsha and Marjorie Lima. I would like to thank my family for their love, care and support, you were there with me for every moment I needed you. Also, I would like to thank my friends from the International Friendship Group, who were like my family during this time at the University of Alberta.

Finally, I wish to thank the Government of Mexico and the Consejo Nacional de Ciencia y Tecnologia (CONACYT) for providing me with the financial support to complete this degree.

Contents

Chapter 1 . Literature Review1
1.1 Introduction1
1.2 Background and literature review2
1.2.1 Child care in Canada2
1.2.2 Overweight and obesity and eating habits of preschool children2
1.2.3 Promotion of healthy eating in child cares4
1.2.3.1 Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth6
1.2.3.2 Role of child care educators in the promotion of healthy eating7
1.2.3.3 Child care educators' educational needs for the promotion of healthy eating
1.2.3.4 Role modeling10
1.2.3.5 Children's picky eating11
1.2.3.6 Communication with parents12
1.2.4 Intervention Mapping Approach13
1.2.4.1 Step 1. Conduct a needs assessment14
1.3 Study rationale14
1.4 Research purpose and objectives15
1.4.1 Research purpose15
1.4.2 Research objectives
Chapter 2 . Methods17
2.1 Overview of methods
2.2 Study 1. Consultation with key informants
2.2.1 Sampling and inclusion criteria18
2.2.2 Recruitment
2.2.3 Development and description of surveys19
2.2.4 Data collection and analysis21
2.3 Study 2. Rapid review
2.3.1 Search conducted and studies included
2.3.2 Screening and data management24
2.3.3 Data collection and analysis24

Chapter 3 . Study 1. Perceptions of and Recommendations for Child Care Educators' Educational Needs in the Promotion of Healthy Eating in Child Cares26
3.1 Background
3.2 Methods
3.2.1 Study Design
3.2.2 Sampling and inclusion criteria29
3.2.3 Recruitment
3.2.4 Development and description of surveys
3.2.5 Data collection
3.2.6 Data analysis
3.2.6.1 Quantitative analysis
3.2.6.2 Qualitative analysis
3.2.6.3 Triangulation of results
3.3 Results
3.3.1 Quantitative data
3.3.1.1 Eating Well with Canada Food Guide and promotion of healthy eating in child care37
3.3.1.2 Awareness and perceptions of Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth37
3.3.1.3 Role modeling
3.3.1.4 Perceptions of picky eating
3.3.1.5 Perceptions on communication with parents43
3.3.1.6 Training delivery methods45
3.3.2 Qualitative Data46
3.3.2.1 Policy level
3.3.2.2 Institutional Level
3.3.2.3 Intrapersonal level
3.3.2.4 Individual level
3.4 Discussion and conclusion
3.4.1 Discussion
3.4.2 Conclusions
3.4.3 Strengths and Limitations
3.4.4 Implications for research, practice and policy66

Chapter 4 . Study 2. Rapid Review of Interventions Aimed at Promoting Children's Consumption of Vegetables and Fruits in Child Cares		
4.1 Background		
4.2 Methods	70	
4.2.1 Search conducted	71	
4.2.2 Inclusion and exclusion criteria	72	
4.2.3 Screening and data management	73	
4.2.4 Data collection and analysis	74	
4.2.4.1 Theoretical framework	74	
4.2.4.2 Process evaluation	75	
4.2.4.3 Quality assessment	77	
4.3 Results	77	
4.3.1 Population studied	78	
4.3.2 Strategies used by interventions	85	
4.3.3 Study design of studies included	89	
4.3.4 Total number of participants	89	
4.3.5 Participants selection		
4.3.6 Main target behaviors	90	
4.3.7 Theoretical foundation	90	
4.3.8 Outcomes of interventions	91	
4.3.8.1 Individual	91	
4.3.8.2 Individual/Interpersonal	97	
4.3.8.3 Individual/Interpersonal/Institutional	97	
4.3.8.4 Interpersonal/Institutional	97	
4.3.8.5 Institutional	98	
4.3.8.6 Intrapersonal/Institutional/Public Policy	99	
4.3.9 Quality of the studies	99	
4.3.10Process evaluation		
4.4 Discussion and conclusion		
4.4.1 Discussion		
4.4.2 Conclusions		
4.4.3 Strengths and Limitations		
4.4.4 Implications for research, theory and practice		

4.5 Reflections on research: lessons learned	109
ter 5 Discussion	
Summary	110
Main findings of the thesis	110
Strengths and Limitations	114
Implications for research, practice and policy	115
rences	117
ndices	
endix A – Study invitations	128
endix B – Information Letters	131
endix C – Informed Consent Clause	140
endix D - Surveys	141
	ter 5 Discussion

Appendix E – Figures of quantitative analysis	163
Appendix F – Detailed search strategies for rapid review	171

List of tables

Table 1-1. Three areas of focus of the Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth in the promotion of healthy eating in child care centres.
Table 3-1 Inclusion criteria for key informants 30
Table 3-2. Themes and frequency of themes by group of key informants
Table 4-1. Inclusion and exclusion criteria for study selection
Table 4-2. Classification of studies according to the socioecological model levels of influence78
Table 4-3. Characteristics of studies 79
Table 4-4. Description of intervention strategies, types of intervention strategies and level of influence.
Table 4-5. Outcomes and process evaluation of interventions. 92
Table 4-6. Quality assessment of studies100
Table 4-7. Differences between rapid and scoping reviews 102

List of figures

Figure 3-1. Compositions of key informants
Figure 3-2. Dietitians and expert's perceptions of the adoption of <i>Alberta Nutrition Guidelines of</i> <i>Children and Youth</i> in child care centres
Figure 3-3. Key informants' perceptions of the importance of child care educators need for training on the Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth
Figure 3-4. Key informants' perceptions of the relevancy of the areas of the Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth to child care educators training
Figure 3-5. Child care educators' self-report of practicing role modeling behaviours at mealtimes41
Figure 3-6. Parents' perceptions of child care educators' role modeling behaviours at mealtimes
Figure 3-7. Key informant's perceptions of the importance of child care educators need for training in role modeling
Figure 3-8. Child care educators, directors, parents and dietitians perceptions of the frequency of children's picky eating as a barrier to the promotion of healthy eating at the child care
Figure 3-9. Perceptions of directors, parents, dietitians and experts of child care educators' knowledge in handling children's picky eating
Figure 3-10. Key informant's perceptions of the importance of child care educators need for training in picky eating
Figure 3-11. Key informant's perceptions of the importance of child care educators need for training in communication with parents
Figure 3-12. Key informants' recommendations for delivery methods of nutrition training to child care educators
Figure 4-1. Search and screening process and the reasons for exclusion of studies
Figure 4-2. Socioecological model for consumption of vegetables and fruits in children in the child care.
Figure 6-1. Child care educators and parents awareness of Eating Well with Canada's Food Guide 163
Figure 6-2. Child care educators and parents agreement with <i>Eating Well with Canada's Food Guide</i> recommendations

Figure 6-3. Parents' self-reports on the frequency of use of <i>Eating Well with Canada's Food Guide's</i> recommendations at home
Figure 6-4. Key informant's responses to whether they were aware of <i>Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth's</i> recommendations for child care
Figure 6-5. Child care educators, directors and parents level of awareness of the Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth's recommendations
Figure 6-6. Child care educators, directors and parents responses to whether the Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth's recommendations where practiced in child care
Figure 6-7. Dietitians perceptions of child care educators' knowledge of the Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth's recommendations
Figure 6-8. Directors reports on child care educator's performance of role modeling behaviours in child care
Figure 6-9. Dietitians perspectives on child care educators' performance of role modeling behaviours in child care
Figure 6-10. Experts' perspectives on how important were role modeling activities to be practiced by child care educators in child care
Figure 6-11. Child care educators' level of confidence in handling children's picky eating
Figure 6-12. Child care educators' level of comfort when talking to parents about children's eating behaviours
Figure 6-13. Child care educators' level of confidence on their own healthy eating knowledge when talking to parents about children's eating behaviours
Figure 6-14. Parents' level of comfort when talking to child care educators about children's eating behaviours
Figure 6-15. Directors and dietitians perspectives of child care educators' confidence in talking to parents
Figure 6-16. Directors and dietitians perspectives of child care educators' ability in talking to parents. 170

Chapter 1. Literature Review

1.1 Introduction

The two main aims of this research were to conduct a needs assessment through: 1) a consultation with key informants in the child care sector to explore and identify the educational needs of child care educators in the promotion of healthy eating in child care; and 2) a rapid review of interventions designed to promote children's consumption of vegetables and fruits in child cares.

The first aim was to explore and identify the educational needs of child care educators in their promotion of healthy eating in the child care setting from the perspective of key informants. The specific objectives were: 1) to consult with a sample of key informants from different child care sectors in Alberta involved in the delivery of programs and/or research to examine their perceptions of and recommendations for child care educators' educational needs in the promotion of healthy eating in child cares; and 2) to update the findings of previous work on the educational needs of child care educators in their promotion of healthy eating in Alberta child cares.

The second aim of this thesis was to conduct a rapid review of the published literature on interventions aimed at promoting children's consumption of vegetables and fruits in the child care setting. The specific objectives were: 1) to identify the types of interventions used at different ecological levels in the promotion of children's consumption of vegetables and fruits in child cares; and 2) to identify the type of strategies used in the interventions included in the review.

The findings from this thesis will serve as a foundation to inform the development of future programs aimed at promoting healthy eating in child care centres.

1.2 Background and literature review

1.2.1 Child care in Canada

Child care centre utilization in Canada has increased dramatically over the last two decades, especially for preschool children. In 2011, approximately 60% of Canadian children aged two to four years were using child care¹ compared to 42% in 1995 (Bushnik 2006; Sinha 2014). In 2011, 40% of Alberta's children attended child care (Sinha 2014). Sixty-percent of children using child care attend on a full-time basis, and spend at least 30 hours a week, meaning that children may potentially be eating up to one-half to two-thirds of their daily food intake in the child care centre (Bushnik 2006; Sinha 2014). The child care setting provides a great opportunity for the promotion of healthy eating habits in young children given that most children attend some form of child care for an extended period.

However, it is noteworthy that children attending child care may be at increased risk of overweight and obesity. Two systematic reviews investigated the association between child care and childhood overweight and obesity, and found that children who attended child care centres beginning in the early years as infants (less than 1 year of age) and attended for more than 20 hours per week (considered high intensity) may be at increased risk of childhood obesity (Black et al. 2017; Alberdi et al. 2016). Albeit, more research is needed to gain insight into the underlying factors potentially contributing to the obesogenic environment of the child care setting.

1.2.2 Overweight and obesity and eating habits of preschool children

The prevalence of overweight and obesity in preschool children has been incrementally rising world-wide, from 4.2% in 1990 to 6.7% in 2010, and is expected to increase to 9.1% in 2020 (de Onis, Blössner, and Borghi 2010). In Canada, over 30% of children aged 5-17 years were overweight and obese according to the Canadian Community Health Measures in 2012 to 2013 (CHMS) (Government of

¹ Child care refers to "temporary care and supervision of a child by an individual other than a child's parent"; including preschool programs, daycare programs, and kindergarten (Government of Alberta 2011).

Canada 2014), while in Alberta, the prevalence for overweight and obesity was 21.8 % in children aged 2-17 years (Alberta Health Services 2010) . These numbers are concerning since overweight preschool children are four times more likely to become overweight adults when compared with normal weight children (Gurnani, Birken, and Hamilton 2015), and are more likely to develop risk factors for cardiovascular diseases and type 2 diabetes than healthy children (Sahoo et al. 2015; Freedman et al. 2005).

Poor eating and sedentary behaviours are associated with childhood overweight and obesity. Poor eating behaviours are characterized by the consumption of high-energy foods and lower-energy expenditure, resulting in an energy imbalance that causes weight gain (Hill, Wyatt, and Peters 2012). There is ample evidence to show that children with high intakes of energy-dense foods and low consumption of vegetables and fruits (V & F) are at increased risk of overweight and obesity (Birch and Ventura 2009; Dubois et al. 2007). In contrast, consuming a high-quality diet in childhood is associated with improved weight status and decreased risks factors for chronic diseases (Lock et al. 2005). Fruits and vegetables contain nutrients and functional components that promote health and are beneficial for cognitive development in young children, as well as protective for the development of risk factors for cardiovascular diseases, type 2 diabetes and some kinds of cancer (Nyaradi et al. 2016; Nyaradi et al. 2013; Boeing et al. 2012; Steinmetz and Potter 1996).

The most recent Canadian Food Guide, *Eating Well with Canada's Food Guide* (EWCFG) recommends that children aged four to eight years should eat five servings of V & F per day, as well as four servings of grain products, two of milk and alternatives, and one of meat and alternatives (Government of Canada 2007). There are no published data on the adherence to EWCFG dietary recommendations for young children; however, studies reporting on previous guidelines found that children were not meeting the recommendations for V & F (Pabayo et al. 2012; Dubois et al. 2011;

Garriguet 2004). A cross-sectional study conducted in Edmonton, Alberta found that more than 70% of children aged four to five years were not meeting the minimum number of recommended servings of V & F (Pabayo et al. 2012). Similar trends were found in the United States where 60% of children did not meet the recommended number for servings of fruits and 93% did not meet the recommendations for servings of vegetables, in 2007-2010 (Centre for Disease Control and Prevention 2014). Promoting healthy eating habits in young children is a major public health issue and should be a priority for healthy public policy to ensure the health and wellbeing of the future generations.

1.2.3 Promotion of healthy eating in child cares

Child care is an important setting for the promotion of healthy eating and the prevention of overweight and obesity in young children (Benjamin-Neelon and Briley 2011; Fuller et al. 2005). Children develop eating habits, food preferences and sedentary or active behaviours during the early years of life and are likely to carry them into adulthood (Birch and Fisher 1998; Mikkilä et al. 2004). Therefore, promoting healthy eating habits in child care is crucial for children's development of healthy lifestyle habits.

Child care centres could offer opportunities for the promotion of healthy eating, such as increasing the access to foods and for modeling healthy eating habits to children (Birch and Ventura 2009; Story, Kaphingst, and French 2006; Birch and Fisher 1998). However, the promotion of healthy eating habits in child care is more complex than it appears – it is influenced by several factors, such as: government policies and regulations, child care centre's policies, practices and food environment, parents support of healthy eating, child care educator's² role modeling, and children's food preferences (Fitzgerald and Spaccarotella 2009; Stokols 1996). It is essential to consider all of these aspects of the micro- and macro-environments of child care centres in the promotion of healthy eating.

² Child care educator refers to a "staff member of a child care program whose primary duty is child care and who is actively engaged in the supervision of children" (Government of Alberta 2016).

Enforcing government policies and regulations is one of the primary approaches to ensure the promotion of healthy eating and the provision of healthy food in child care centres (Larson et al. 2011). In Alberta, licensed child care centres are required to comply with EWCFG dietary recommendations for the food provided at the centre, but EWCFG only provides broad guidance on food choice and does not provide any specifications about the quality of food (Government of Alberta 2016). In order to provide detail about the quality of the food provided to children, the *Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth* (ANGCY) were created, which are meant to help in the development of healthy food environments for children in educational and recreational settings (Government of Alberta 2012).

The child care centre's nutrition policies and practices also have a great influence in the promotion of healthy eating and children's dietary intake at the centre. The nutrition policies and practices determine adherence to the nutrition guidelines, the nutritional quality of the food served to children, and the child care educator's role modeling behaviours at mealtimes (Erinosho et al. 2012; Erinosho et al. 2011; Larson et al. 2011). Together these factors will determine the food environment of the centre. Furthermore, it is recognised that having a supportive healthy food environment in child care can improve children's eating behaviours (Bevans et al. 2011; Freedman and Alvarez 2010).

Several studies have found that child care centres can serve as important venues for teaching and promoting healthful eating habits to children, and that children's eating behaviours and dietary intake can be modified through nutritional programs. Programs that have successfully improved children's dietary habits have something in common, they have used at least one or more of the following strategies: changed centre's policies and practices, modified centre's food environment, provided nutrition education to children, provided training and resources for child care staff, and involved parents in the promotion of healthy eating (Witt and Dunn 2012; Zask et al. 2012; Larson et al. 2011; Bell et al. 2015; Williams et al. 2002). Nevertheless, other studies reported room for improvement

in several key areas in the promotion of healthy eating in child cares, such as: the food provided to children, the child care educator's role in the promotion of healthy eating, the child care staff's knowledge of nutrition guidelines, and the parents support of child care's nutrition policies (Shewring 2016; Farmer 2014; Larson et al. 2011; Erinosho et al. 2012).

1.2.3.1 Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth

In 2008, the Government of Alberta launched the *Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth* (ANGCY) in response to requests for guidance in the creation of environments that support healthy eating behaviours for children and youth. The goal of the ANGCY is "to equip facilities and organizations [including child care centres] with the tools they need to provide children and youth with healthy food choices" (Government of Alberta 2012). The ANGCY focuses on three areas as a comprehensive approach in the promotion of healthy eating: 1) providing healthy diets for children; 2) enhancing access to safe and nutritious foods; and 3) creating environments that support healthy food choices (Table 1-1)(Government of Alberta 2012). The ANGCY provides a Food Ranking System (FRS) to categorize foods into three main categories: 'choose most often', 'choose sometimes' and 'choose least often', as an alternative to categorized foods served at centres as either healthy or unhealthy (Government of Alberta 2012).

The aim of implementing the ANGCY in child cares is to shape and standardize nutrition practices in child care centres and to realize best practices in the promotion of healthy eating among young children. However, it is not clear to what extent the ANGCY are adopted and implemented across child cares in Alberta as the guidelines are not mandatory resulting in the adoption and implementation of them to varying degrees (Downs et al. 2011). A small explanatory qualitative study conducted in Edmonton, Alberta found that the ANGCY were positively described by child care educators, as relevant and easy to use (Nikolopoulos et al. 2012). Yet, other subsequent studies conducted in Alberta

found there was a lack of knowledge of the ANGCY's general recommendations amongst child care educators, highlighting an important barrier for realising both the adoption and the implementation of the guidelines in the child care setting (Shewring 2016; Farmer et al. 2014).

Table 1-1. Three areas of focus of the *Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth* in the promotion of healthy eating in child care centres.

1) Providing healthy diets for children	2) Enhancing access to safe and nutritious food	3) Creating environments that support healthy food choices
 Choose foods from all for groups of <i>Eating Well with</i> <i>Canada's Food Guide</i> Drink water daily Choose appropriate food portion sizes. Use the Food Ranking System Limit energy-dense foods Make nutritious foods more accessible 	 Provide safe food handling training for all individuals who prepare and serve food Adherence to provincial food safety standards Provide menu planning training for staff 	 Make the healthy choice the easy choice to make Work with staff, parents and children to develop policies that support healthy eating Encourage adults to be positive role models Provide healthy eating environments Serve food in age appropriate portion sizes Introduce new foods in small amounts, on multiple occasions Avoid using food as a reward

Source: Government of Alberta (2012).

1.2.3.2 Role of child care educators in the promotion of healthy eating

Child care educators (CCE) play a major part in the promotion of healthy eating and behaviour change in children, through role modeling and the feeding styles they use at mealtimes (Nikolopoulos et al. 2012; Hughes et al. 2007). Role modeling is defined as the positive eating behaviours CCE perform to teach and act as examples for children (Cruess, Cruess, and Steinert 2008). Children tend to imitate the habits of adults around them, and since children in child care often spend at least 20 hours per week

with CCE, the caregiver's eating and role modelling behaviours can greatly influence the development of children's eating habits (Birch and Ventura 2009).

Children's eating behaviours are also influenced by the instruction received from CCE at mealtimes and the context in which food is provided are behavioural components that are considered in the categorization of different caregiver feeding styles (Hughes et al. 2007). According to Nicklas et al. (2001), there are three types of caregiver feeding styles: authoritarian, authoritative, and permissive. Authoritarian feeding style is characterized by excessive control of children's food intake and eating behaviours through instructions, directives or coercion, including high use of restrictive behaviours, using food as a reward or punishment, and persuading children to eat although they are not hungry (Nicklas et al. 2001); these excessive control of children's eating practices may promote food rejection, picky eating, overeating and overweight/obesity (Birch, Savage, and Ventura 2007; Hughes et al. 2005). Permissive feeding style, on the other hand, is characterized by a lack of control in children's eating behaviours or 'nutritional neglect', were children chose what to eat and in what quantities (Hughes et al. 2007); this feeding style is associated with children having a low quality diet and a high intake of energydense foods (Hennessy et al. 2012; Nicklas et al. 2001). Authoritative feeding style uses reasoning, questions and negotiations in order to have a fair control of children's eating practices which facilitates the development of children's dietary self-control and guides children's eating behaviours (Hughes et al. 2005; Nicklas et al. 2001); this particular feeding style is associated with increased consumption of V & F and lower consumption of energy-dense foods (Hennessy et al. 2012; Kremers et al. 2003). Ideally, CCE should adopt an authoritative feeding style to facilitate and promote the development of healthy eating habits in young children (Hennessy et al. 2012; Kremers et al. 2003). Child care educators can greatly influence the promotion of healthy eating in child care and should not disregard their role as facilitators of healthy eating.

1.2.3.3 Child care educators' educational needs for the promotion of healthy eating

Child care educators are key players in the promotion of healthy eating in child care; however, several studies have found that there is room for improving some basic areas in the CCEs' promotion of healthy eating. Based on the work done in the child care setting in the US and in Alberta, CCE would benefit from additional training and education in these areas: knowledge of and adherence to nutrition guidelines, proper handling of children's picky eating and food preferences, introduction of new foods to children, communication with parents, and role modeling of healthy eating behaviours (Shewring 2016; Farmer et al. 2014; Erinosho et al. 2012; Larson et al. 2011; Freedman and Alvarez 2010; Needham et al. 2007).

Previous research in Alberta investigated the educational needs of CCE and reported that menu planning and portion sizes, picky eating, and communication with and support for parents were the priority issues for training of CCE (Farmer et al. 2014). Additionally, Farmer et al. (2014) found that CCE preferred educational formats, such as direct email, handouts, videos, and pictures; and preferred training that was easy, short, creative and visual appealing. Of note, in Alberta, there is lack of consistent and standardised training and professional development for CCE since there is no specific or mandatory curriculum on nutrition in the early childhood programs offered in Alberta's colleges and schools. As well, there is inconsistency in the educational requirements for CCE jobs in the child care sector. For instance, training duration in some early childhood programs in Alberta can vary from 50 hours to 2 years which may include limited nutrition education in the curriculum. As a result of the wide range in both the quality of educational programs and the expectations of CCE training in Alberta, the level of CCE training can vary in breadth and depth across the province (Farmer et al. 2016).

Several studies that examined the effects of providing CCE training on healthy eating found that such training improved their role modeling behaviours and communication with parents (Lanigan 2012;

Freedman and Alvarez 2010), including improvements in the food environment and promotion of healthy eating at the centre (Markides et al. 2017; Gosliner et al. 2010). Child care educators are facilitators in the promotion of healthy eating in child cares and providing training can help them to make better use of these opportunities to promote healthy eating to children.

1.2.3.4 Role modeling

In order to create a positive food environment for children child care educators should support and model healthy eating behaviours. The recommended 'best practices' for CCE role modeling are: 1) sitting with children at mealtimes; 2) eating the same food as children; 3) informally talking with children about healthy food; 4) encouraging children to try a new foods; and 5) avoiding the use of food as a reward or punishment (Benjamin-Neelon and Briley 2011; Government of Alberta 2012). Children learn about healthy eating behaviours by observing CCE and by receiving encouragement from them. Several authors have found that children were more likely to perform healthy eating habits if they observed the CCE modeling them first (Benjamin-Neelon and Briley 2011; Erinosho et al. 2011; Addessi et al. 2005; Hendy and Raudenbush 2000).

A recent exploratory study conducted in Edmonton, Alberta found that CCE understood the importance of promoting healthy eating to young children and recognized the positive influence that role modeling has over children's eating behaviours (Shewring, 2016). However, the same study reported that these activities were not always put into practice when CCE interacted with children (Shewring 2016). Erinosho et al. (2012) reported similar findings where CCE reported performing positive role modeling regularly, but found there was a discrepancy between what was self-reported by the CCE and the activities they performed. These results highlight there is a disconnection between what is known to be the 'best practice' and what is being practiced by CCE. Furthermore, a discordance between having an awareness of the issue and putting these behaviours into action point to the need

for improving the CCE's understanding of the importance of practicing role modeling, and developing their skills in the promotion of healthy eating in the child care setting.

1.2.3.5 Children's picky eating

Picky eating and the introduction of new foods are commonly reported barriers by parents and CCE in the promotion of healthy eating in young children (Needham et al. 2007; Nikolopoulos et al. 2012; Farmer et al. 2014). Picky eating or 'fussy eating' is a relatively common behaviour in toddlers and preschool children, and it is characterized by the refusal of accepting certain food flavours and textures, especially of vegetables and fruits (Fildes et al. 2016). Picky eating is more frequent in young children and tends to decrease as children evolve into adolescence (Dovey et al. 2008). Children described as 'picky eaters' tend to eat a reduced number of food choices, restrict consumption of foods, avoid some food groups, have strong food preferences, and are unwilling to try new food (Carruth et al. 1998; Fildes et al. 2016).

Another behaviour related to picky eating is 'food neophobia' which refers to avoidance or refusal to try unfamiliar foods, which is also associated with low consumption of vegetables and fruits (Fildes et al. 2016; Lucy Cooke, Carnell, and Wardle 2006). Young children are prone to avoid and reject new foods, except for sweet and salty foods (Birch and Fisher 1998). Acceptance of new foods does not occur immediately, as young children require 5 to 10 exposures of novel foods for them to start consuming and liking them (Birch and Fisher 1998; Birch and Marlin 1982). Proper introduction of novel foods is a determinant for shaping children food preferences and eating behaviours.

The characteristics of these two eating behaviours may produce concern and anxiety to parents and CCE since children with picky eating and food neophobia tend to have a low diet-quality and consume a small variety of foods (Carruth et al. 2004; Dubois et al. 2007; Dovey et al. 2008). It is important to target these two eating behaviours in child cares to ensure children's consumption of a

high-quality diet, especially of V & F. Providing CCE with resources and strategies to handle children's picky eating and food neophobia will increase CCE's confidence and skills in the promotion of healthy eating and in dealing with parents' angst on this issue (Taveras et al. 2006).

1.2.3.6 Communication with parents

The communication that occurs between CCE and parents is important for the successful promotion of healthy eating habits in children (Benjamin-Neelon and Briley 2011). In many cases, because parents are not able to talk to a professional about their child's eating behaviours, they rely on CCE for healthy eating advice and resources, where CCE act as health educators to parents (Taveras et al. 2006). To improve their effectiveness in their role as lay health educators, CCE require additional training to improve their communication with parents and their confidence in working with parents in the promotion of healthy eating in the child care setting.

Other studies reported a disconnection between what is being promoted at the child care centre and what parents are promoting at home. For example, there are instances, where parents were not supporting the nutritional policies and practices that were supported at the centre, and unknowingly, through their lack of support and knowledge, parents were discouraging children to follow them (Farmer et al. 2014; Needham et al. 2007; Taveras et al. 2006). The food environment that parents provide is the first one to which children are exposed and is important for shaping lifelong eating habits. Children are completely dependent on their parents for the food choices they have at home, and those food choices shape children's eating habits (Chambers 2017; Natale, Messiah, et al. 2014; Birch and Fisher 1998). Informing parents about the nutrition policies and practices of the centre is likely to influence and encourage them promote healthy eating. There is evidence that parent involvement in the promotion of healthy eating in child care has positive effects on children's eating habits and dietary intake at child care (Hingle et al. 2010; Natale, Messiah, et al. 2014).

Communication and understanding between CCE and parents are crucial for the proper promotion of healthy eating. Equipping CCE with strategies on how to approach parents and ways to successfully communicate with them are warranted.

1.2.4 Intervention Mapping Approach

Intervention Mapping (IM) is an intervention planning approach that provides a framework for the development of health promotion programs (Bartholomew 2016, 3). It uses an ecological approach to assess the needs and strengths of a population, and to plan, conduct, and disseminate a program, targeting different ecological levels to produce a desired change (Bartholomew 2016, 15). The IM approach focuses on tailoring culturally appropriate interventions and promoting community participation, where the target community is involved in the development of the program. Involvement and participation are fundamental for producing the desired change in a community-based intervention (Bartholomew et al. 2011, 3).

The IM approach has been used as a framework for the creation of a variety of health promotion programs, including healthy lifestyle programs in the child care setting. The IM method has shown to be successful in creating interventions that have positive effects in promoting healthy eating in young children (Sweitzer et al. 2010; Vereecken et al. 2009).

The IM framework propose six sequential steps to tailor a health promotion program: 1) conduct a needs assessment; 2) create objectives; 3) select theoretical methods and applications; 4) develop components and materials to support the program; 5) develop a plan for adoption, implementation, and sustainability of the program; and 6) develop an evaluation plan (Bartholomew et al. 2011, 18).

1.2.4.1 Step 1. Conduct a needs assessment

The first step of the Intervention Mapping (IM) framework is to conduct a needs assessment for the program. A needs assessment is the process for identifying gaps between the current situation and the ideal or desired situation in a community (Gilmore and Campbell 2005, 7). A needs assessment seeks to understand the 'problems' in a community and provide a detailed description of it and addresses the factors that influence the 'problem', such as behaviour and environment (Bartholomew et al. 2011, 174). A needs assessment provides the foundation for the development of a health promotion program, and it guides planning and delivery of the program for a community.

Ideally, a needs assessment would contain several sources of data which produces a detailed and comprehensive understanding of the situation in the community (Bartholomew et al. 2011, 209). The IM framework recommends a consultation with key informants to explore the 'situation' in the community and also recommends a literature review on the topic (Bartholomew et al. 2011, 209). Consulting key informants from the community provides insights about the 'situation' from the community point of view and how the 'situation' in the community could be addressed. A literature review of relevant studies on the topic provides insight about what is already known on the topic.

1.3 Study rationale

There is a need to focus more efforts on the promotion of healthy eating in child cares and there is a need for programs aimed at promoting healthy eating, with a special emphasis on CCE education (Taveras et al. 2006). Child care educators have been overlooked as facilitators in the promotion of healthy eating in child cares, and in turn, they can make better use of these opportunities to teach children healthful behaviours. For CCE to embrace positive role modeling and effectively promote healthy eating to children, they will require educational programs to address these gaps.

Given there are few community-tailored, theoretically informed and empirically evaluated educational programs for child care educators, the development of an evidence-based educational program is warranted. The research conducted in this thesis will serve as a foundation for the development of future programs aimed at promoting healthy eating in the child care setting. A consultation with key informants will provide information on what is needed for the promotion of healthy eating by CCE in Alberta. Also, a rapid review of interventions used in the promotion of healthy eating in child cares will provide a comprehensive description of the programs that have been conducted and their effect on the promotion of fruits and vegetables consumption in child cares.

Understanding the educational needs of CCE in their promotion of healthy eating and insight into healthy eating interventions in child cares will provide key and valuable information for the development of future programs aimed at promoting healthy eating in child care centres.

1.4 Research purpose and objectives

1.4.1 Research purpose

The two main aims of this research are to conduct a needs assessment through: 1) a consultation with key informants in the child care sector to explore and identify the educational needs of child care educators in the promotion of healthy eating in child care; and 2) a rapid review of interventions designed to promote children's consumption of vegetables and fruits in child cares.

1.4.2 Research objectives

Study 1. Explore and identify the educational needs of child care educators in their promotion of healthy eating in the child care setting from the perspective of key informants.

1.1 Consult with a sample of key informants from different child care sectors in Alberta involved in the delivery of programs and/or research to examine their perceptions of and

recommendations for child care educator's educational needs in the promotion of healthy eating in child cares.

1.2 Update the findings of previous work conducted in Alberta on child care educator's educational needs in their promotion of healthy eating in child cares.

Study 2. Conduct a rapid review of the literature on interventions aimed at promoting children's consumption of vegetables and fruits in child cares.

- 2.1 Characterize the types of interventions used at different ecological levels in the promotion of children's consumption of vegetables and fruits in child cares.
- 2.2 Identify the type of strategies used in interventions to promote children's consumption of vegetables and fruit in child cares.

Chapter 2 . Methods

2.1 Overview of methods

The main aim of this research was to conduct a needs assessment through: 1) a consultation with key informants in the child care sector to explore and identify the educational needs of child care educators (CCE) in the promotion of healthy eating in child care; and 2) a rapid review of interventions designed to promote children's consumption of vegetables and fruits in child cares. The information gathered from the needs assessment is part of an Intervention Mapping (IM) process to inform future healthy eating programs in child cares.

Parts of the Intervention Mapping framework were used to guide the data collection of the needs assessment. The IM framework is typically used for the development of evidence-based health promotion interventions which was an appropriate choice for this study. The first step of IM is to conduct a needs assessment which involves a process of identifying gaps between the current 'situation' and the ideal or desired 'situation' in a community, and to identify factors that influence such 'situation' in a community (Bartholomew et al. 2011, 174; Gilmore and Campbell 2005, 7).

The needs assessment was comprised of two sources of data: 1) Study 1. Consultation with key informants to determine child care educator's educational needs in their promotion of healthy eating; and 2) Study 2. Rapid review of interventions aimed at promoting children's consumption of vegetables and fruits in child cares.

2.2 Study 1. Consultation with key informants

A cross-sectional study design was used with key informants to address the gaps on CCE's educational needs for the promotion of healthy eating in child cares. Online surveys with closed- and open-ended questions were used to consult with a sample of key informants from different child care

sectors. Content analysis was used to analyse the open-ended questions, and descriptive statistics were used to analyse the closed-ended questions. For a detailed description of the methods followed for Study 1, see section 3.2 Methods in Chapter 3.

2.2.1 Sampling and inclusion criteria

A sample size of at least twenty-five participants is deemed acceptable for a small qualitative study that involves content analysis (Mason, 2010). For this study, given the mix of key informants, forty key informants would provide enough information to reach the point of data saturation for content analysis (Mason 2010). The sampling size for each of the five groups of key informants in this study was composed of the following: 1) ten CCE, 2) five child care directors, 3) ten parents of children attending child care, 4) five dietitians working in the child care setting and 5) ten experts in child cares' food environment working in academia or government. The key informants were included to ensure representation from relevant agents in the child care sector involved in the promotion of healthy eating in child cares.

Inclusion criteria. Child care educators, directors and dietitians were included in the study if they worked for at least three months in child care centres. Parents were included if they were a parent or guardian of a child attending child care. Experts were included if they had expertise in child care's food environment. To be included in the study, all participants had to be able to read and write in English.

2.2.2 Recruitment

The snowball method was used for recruitment of participants. Child care educators, directors and parents were contacted through child care centres in Edmonton, Alberta. Child cares were selected if they were licensed according to the regulations of Alberta's Child Care Licensing Act (Government of Alberta 2016), provided food to children on a regular basis and had an active email address for

contacting them. Three out of twenty-six (11%) child care centres agreed to participate. Child care directors distributed the study invitation via email to CCE and parents at their child care centre.

Experts in academia and government were contacted through the Healthy Eating Environments in Child Care (HEECC) Provincial Advisory Committee, of which Dr. Anna Farmer is a member and supervisor of this thesis project. Ms. Sheila Tyminski, Chair of HEECC was contacted to ask for permission to contact the group. Once permission to contact HEECC was obtained, the Chair sent HEECC members a copy of the study's invitation and the information letter through email. Individuals interested in participating in the study followed up with the primary investigator (AAL) of the study.

Dietitians were contacted through Alberta Health Services (AHS). First, the Director of dietitians working in the child care setting was contacted to ask whether dietitians from AHS would be interested in getting involved in this study and attaining permission to contact the dietitians. Once permission was obtained, the Director sent the study invitation and information letter through an email to the dietitians working in child care centres. Dietitians who were interested in participating in the study, followed up with an email to principal investigator of the study.

Before conducting any phase of the study, approval was obtained from the Ethics Board of the University of Alberta. A \$10 dollar gift card was offered to all participants for participating in the study. The Information Letter for dietitians and experts was sent along with the study invitation, while the Information Letter targeting directors, CCE and parents was embedded in the surveys. Key informants' consent to participate in the study was obtained implicitly by completing the survey. To see a copy of the invitations and information letters, see Appendix A and Appendix B, respectively.

2.2.3 Development and description of surveys

The researchers (AAL and AF) developed five similar surveys for the consultation with key informants. Each survey was tailored for each group of key informants (i.e., CCE, directors, parents,

dietitians and experts) and the surveys had a similar structure and series of questions. The questions and themes were derived from previous work conducted with child cares in Edmonton (Farmer et al. 2014; Shewring 2016) and findings from a Food Literacy Meeting with government and non-government sectors in Alberta (Farmer et al. 2016).

The surveys were composed of closed- and open-ended questions with six main sections: 1) *Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth* (Government of Alberta 2012); 2) Role modeling; 3) Picky eating; 4) Communication with parents; 5) Training; and 6) Training Delivery Method. The surveys inquired about the educational needs of CCE and participants were asked to comment if there is room for improvement in these areas. Also, the survey asked about the preferred delivery method for CCE training. The surveys for parents and CCE had additional questions regarding *Eating Well with Canada's Food Guide* (Health Canada 2007), while the directors' survey had an additional question that inquired about their role in the promotion of healthy eating in the child care centre. Most closed-ended questions used Likert scales responses. The surveys were pre-tested with researchers to ensure suitability and acceptability of the questions. The surveys are presented in Appendix D.

The surveys were administered online. The benefits of using online surveys include, they are "quick and easy to distribute, easy to access and data collection can be carried out quickly" (Braun and Clarke 2013, p. 136). The REDCap platform (Research Electronic Data Capture) was used to manage the online surveys. REDCap is a secure web-based survey application hosted at the University of Alberta (Harris et al. 2009). Once the surveys were set up on the REDCap platform, the surveys were pre-tested to ensure they were working properly and formatted as expected, and were accessible before delivering it to participants.

2.2.4 Data collection and analysis

Data were collected through the online surveys. The survey was open and accessible to anyone with the URL link to the survey and an internet connection for accessing it from a computer, tablet or smartphone. The URL link to access the survey was embedded in the invitation and information letter that were distributed to participants. Data were collected from March 21 to May 31, 2017. The surveys took approximately 15-20 minutes to complete, and the electronic gift cards were granted to participants who accepted the incentive.

Microsoft Excel (Inc., Redmond, WA, USA) was used for management of the data. The data were organized by group of key informants; close-ended questions were analyzed using quantitative analysis, while open-ended questions were analysed using qualitative content analysis. Fifty-three key informants' surveys were included in the analyses.

Closed-ended questions were analyzed quantitatively using descriptive statistics, and response frequency was the most utilized method for the analysis and presentation of data. Frequency counts of the number of occurrences within a particular group of respondents were accounted (Government of Canada 2002). The analysis was conducted in Microsoft Excel (Inc., Redmond, WA, USA) and histograms were used to illustrate the response frequencies. Due to the small number of respondents, responses to Likert scale questions were aggregated and collapsed. For example, 'very important' and 'important' were combined.

Open-ended responses on the survey were analyzed using content analysis. Content analysis is a systematic method that uses an inductive approach for coding and identifying themes and patterns for subjective interpretation of text data (Hsieh and Shannon, 2005). An inductive approach characterizes by "detailed readings of raw data to derive concepts, themes through interpretations made from the raw data by an evaluator or researcher" (Thomas 2006, p. 238). Conventional content analysis was the

most suitable method to analyse the survey responses, since we wanted to expand on the current knowledge on the nutrition educational needs of child care educators. Conventional content analysis entails "researcher's immersion of the data by reading all data several times and by making notes in the reading process. As this activity continues, labels for codes emerge that are reflective of the data; these often come directly from the text and then become the initial coding scheme. Codes then are sorted into categories based on how different are related and linked. These emerging categories are used to organize and group codes into meaningful clusters" (Hsieh and Shannon 2005, p. 1279). This approach allowed for the discovery of new insights to emerge from the data and brought deeper knowledge and understanding on the topic (Hsieh and Shannon 2005; Kondracki, Wellman, and Amundson 2002). Complete coding was used to identify codes, which is the process of "identifying codes from anything and everything that answers the research question, within the entire dataset" (Braun and Clarke 2013, p.206). Microsoft Office Word was used to organize and analyzed by one researcher (AAL); however, a second researcher (APF) reviewed the analysis and conceptual ordering of data.

After reviewing the qualitative data, and including the nature of the data, it was decided that the Socioecological Model (SEM) was an appropriate framework for organizing the qualitative data, since the SEM encompasses all the levels of influence that may affect the promotion of healthy eating in child cares (i.e., individual, interpersonal, institutional, and public policy levels) (Stokols 1996).

Triangulation of data was conducted to confirm the consistency of the findings in the quantitative and qualitative data. Triangulation refers to the combination of qualitative and quantitative data to validate findings across the two kinds of data (Patton 1999, 1192). Closed-ended responses were analyzed quantitatively and open-ended were analyzed qualitatively, and then the findings from the two

sets were compared and analysed together to discover any agreement or conflict between the data in order to develop conclusions about the findings (Bryman 2006; Fetters, Curry, and Creswell 2013).

2.3 Study 2. Rapid review

The rapid review conducted in Study 2 was guided by the methodologies suggested by Khangura et al. (2012) and Gannan et at. (2010). A rapid review is characterized by "focusing the research question, using broader search strategies, reviewing the literature within a limited timeframe, restricting the amount of gray literature, extracting only key variables and executing only 'simple' quality appraisal" (Grant and Booth 2009, 100). A rapid review was the most suitable method for conducting this review since this is a new area of research and we wanted to explore available literature on the topic before committing to an extensive review. For a detailed description of the methods followed for the rapid review, see section 4.2 Methods in Chapter 4.

2.3.1 Search conducted and studies included

The original literature search was conducted in May 2016 with the assistance of a library scientist (SC) and updated in July 2017, using four electronic databases (PubMed, CINAHL, Scopus and Web of Science) for relevant articles using the following key words: 'intervention', 'healthy eating', 'child care', and 'vegetable and fruit'. Relevant reviews were scanned for additional papers. The search was limited to studies published in the last 11 years (2006-2017), the search was limited to studies published in the last 11 year after the original search and included studies published to July 2017. The search was limited to studies published in English, French or Spanish. For a complete list of search terms and search strategies, see Appendix F.

Included studies were intervention studies that aimed to promote consumption of vegetables and fruits (V & F) among children in the child care setting, that targeted preschool children (2 to 5 years of age), that evaluated the intervention by reporting differences in V & F consumption with control

group and intervention groups comparisons or baseline and post-interventions measurements and were conducted in North America, Europe, Australia and New Zealand. Descriptive studies and pilot studies were excluded, and studies that only included overweight or obese children, or that included children with special needs were also excluded since we wanted to explore the consumption of V & F in healthy children.

2.3.2 Screening and data management

The screening of the studies followed the reporting standards of the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) statement (Liberati et al. 2009). A total of 958 studies were identified, 636 studies were screened based on the titles and abstracts. Forty-four full-text studies were retrieved through the University of Alberta Libraries System for further review. After the screening process was completed, 20 studies were selected for inclusion. An additional article was included after the search was updated in July 2017. A total of 21 studies were selected for analysis. The primary reviewer (AAL) screened and analysed the studies and a second reviewer (APF) confirmed the results.

2.3.3 Data collection and analysis

For each of the selected intervention studies, the following information was retrieved: aim of the study, intervention setting, target population and country, age of children, description of the intervention, strategies used, theoretical foundation, study design, sampling method, number of participants, duration/length of the intervention, main target outcomes, outcomes and process evaluation data. Although some studies evaluated other intervention outcomes, only children's consumption of V & F outcomes were taken into consideration.

The Socioecological Model (SEM) was used to organize and categorise the interventions by level of influence. The SEM proposes that a health behaviour is regulated by the interaction of multiple levels
of influences, including factors at the individual, interpersonal, institutional, and public policy levels (Stokols 1996). Studies were categorized according to the level of influence they targeted, namely the individual, interpersonal, institutional, and public policy level.

The information on the process evaluation of studies was included (if available) to provide additional data on the fidelity and the quality of implementation of interventions. The process evaluation framework proposed by Linnan and Steckler (2002) was used for this purpose which included information on context, reach, dose delivered, dose received and fidelity of interventions (Steckler and Linnan 2002). Some studies had additional articles that described the process evaluation of interventions; and these articles were also included in this review to provide contextual information on the intervention. Any qualitative and quantitative data presented in studies regarding these aspects were collected.

To add rigour to this review, the methodological quality of the studies was assessed. The Effective Public Health Practice Project (EPHPP) Quality Assessment Tool for Quantitative Studies was used (Armijo-Olivo et al. 2012). The EPHPP tool rates the quality of methodology of interventions on six components: 1) selection bias, 2) study design, 3) confounders, 4) blinding, 5) data collection methods, 6) withdrawals and dropouts. Each component was evaluated as 'strong', 'moderate' or 'weak'. Based on the ratings for each component, the tool provides a global rating for the study assessed. Studies not receiving any 'weak' ratings were categorized as strong quality, studies receiving one 'weak' rating were categorized as moderate quality, and studies receiving two or more 'weak' ratings were categorized as weak quality (Armijo-Olivo et al. 2012). Two raters assessed the quality of studies (AAL, APF).

Chapter 3 . Study 1. Perceptions of and Recommendations for Child Care Educators' Educational Needs in the Promotion of Healthy Eating in Child Cares

3.1 Background

Child care is an important setting for the promotion of healthy eating habits and the prevention of overweight and obesity in children. In Canada, approximately 60% of young children use child care daily (Sinha 2014). Child care centres provide opportunities for increasing the availability and accessibility of foods and for modeling healthy eating habits targeting a great number of children (Birch and Ventura 2009; Story, Kaphingst, and French 2006; Birch and Fisher 1998). Several studies found that child care centres can serve as important venues for teaching and promoting healthful eating habits to children; and that children's eating behaviours can be modified through the centre's food environment, and positive interaction with child care educators (CCE) (Shewring 2016; Farmer 2014; Erinosho et al. 2012; Larson et al. 2011).

The promotion of healthy eating in child cares is influenced by several factors ranging from nutrition policies to individual behaviours. A review of the literature found that the promotion of healthy eating is influenced by the nutrition policies and practices of child cares: the degree of adherence to nutrition guidelines, the attributes of the food environment, the nutritional quality of the food served, the behaviours of CCE in the food context, the provision of nutrition education for children, and the involvement of parents (Erinosho et al. 2012; Erinosho et al. 2011; Larson et al. 2011). All these factors in conjunction should work together to promote children's healthy eating. However, there are some barriers to promoting healthy eating in child care, such as low implementation and adherence to nutrition guidelines, low quality of food served, lack of training for CCE, and negative or poor role modeling from CCE (Downs et al. 2011; Shewring 2016; Farmer et al. 2014).

Child care educators are key players in the promotion of healthy eating and behaviour change in children, through positive role modeling, encouraging healthy eating and proper introduction of new foods (Shewring 2016; Erinosho et al. 2012; Hughes et al. 2007). However, several studies found there is room for improving CCE's efforts in the promotion of healthy eating (Shewring 2016; Farmer et al.2014; Sharma et al. 2013; Lumeng et al. 2008). For instance, previous research conducted in Alberta found there is room for improving CCE's knowledge of and adherence to the *Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth*, handling of children's picky eating and children's food preferences, communication with parents, and role modeling of healthy eating behaviours (Shewring 2016; Farmer et al. 2014).

In 2008, the Government of Alberta launched the *Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth* (ANGCY) to "equip schools, recreation facilities and child care centres with the tools needed to promote healthy food choices and healthy eating behaviours" (Government of Alberta 2012, p.1). The aim of the ANGCY in child cares is to shape and standardize nutrition practices among child care centres and to realize best practices in the promotion of healthy eating among young children. The ANGCY has three pillars in the promotion of healthy eating: 1) providing healthy diets for children; 2) enhancing access to safe and nutritious foods; and 3) creating environments that support healthy food choices (Table 1-1) (Government of Alberta 2012) . Since the implementation of the ANGCY is optional, the ANGCY were adopted and implemented to varying degrees across child cares in Alberta (Shewring 2016; Downs et al. 2011). An exploratory qualitative study found the ANGCY were positively described by CCE, as relevant and easy to use (Nikolopoulos et al. 2012). Nevertheless, several other studies found CCE lacked knowledge of the ANGCY's general recommendations, highlighting an important barrier to the adoption and implementation of the guidelines and the promotion of healthy eating in child care (Shewring 2016; Farmer et al. 2014; Downs et al. 2011).

The ANGCY recommends that CCE act as role models for the creation of supportive healthy eating environments for children. Role modeling is defined as the positive eating behaviours CCE perform to act as examples to influence children's eating habits (Cruess, Cruess, and Steinert 2008). The recommended best practices for the role modeling by CCE are: 1) sitting with children at mealtimes, 2) eating the same food as children, 3) informally talking with children about healthy food, 4) encouraging children to try a new food, and 5) avoiding the use of food as a reward or punishment (Government of Alberta 2012; Benjamin-Neelon and Briley 2011).

Introduction of new foods is one of the recommendations made in the ANGCY. However, the introduction of new foods to children was perceived as challenging by CCE, and picky eating was identified as an important barrier to the introduction of new foods (Farmer et al. 2014). Picky eating is a relatively common behaviour in toddlers and preschool children that is characterized by restrictive consumption of foods, strong food preferences, and unwillingness to try new foods (Fildes et al. 2016). Picky eating has been associated with poor dietary quality and underweight in children (Fildes et al. 2016; Carruth et al. 1998). Awareness of role modeling and proper handling of children's picky eating are crucial for CCE's promotion of healthy eating among preschool children.

Little attention has been paid to the development of tailored and targeted educational programs for CCE, yet moderate evidence exists to suggest that healthy eating programs tailored to CCE are effective in improving the promotion of healthy eating in child cares (Markides et al. 2017; Lanigan 2012; Needham et al. 2007). Nevertheless, more information about the educational needs of CCE and the specific ways of tailoring effective educational programs and curriculum are needed to support CCE in their efforts to promote healthy eating in the child care setting.

The aim of this study is to explore and identify the educational needs of child care educators in their promotion of healthy eating in the child care setting from the perspective of key informants. The

objectives of this study were to consult with a sample of key informants from different child care sectors in Alberta involved in the delivery of programs and/or research to examine their perceptions of and recommendations for child care educator's educational needs in the promotion of healthy eating in child cares; and to update the findings of previous work conducted in Alberta on the educational needs of child care educators in their promotion of healthy eating in child cares.

3.2 Methods

3.2.1 Study Design

A cross-sectional design was used to address the gaps in the CCE's educational needs in the promotion of healthy eating in child cares. Cross-sectional surveys allowed us to capture a variety of data in a specific point in time in a cost effective and time efficient manner. Online surveys with closed-and open-ended questions were used to consult with a sample of key informants from different child care sectors. The benefits of using online survey include they are quick and easy to distribute, easy to access and data collection can be carried out quickly (Braun and Clarke 2013, 136). The open-ended questions were analysed using content analysis and the closed-ended questions were analysed using descriptive statistics.

3.2.2 Sampling and inclusion criteria

A sample size of at least twenty-five participants is deemed acceptable for a small qualitative study that involves content analysis (Mason, 2010). For this study, given the mix of key informants, forty key informants would provide enough information to reach the point of data saturation for content analysis (Mason 2010). The sample size for each of the five groups of key informants in this study was: 1) ten CCE, 2) five directors, 3) ten parents of children attending child care, 4) five dietitians working in the child care setting and 5) ten experts in the child cares' food environment working in academia and government. The different groups of key informants were included to have representation from relevant

agents in the promotion of healthy eating in child cares. The inclusion criteria for key informants are presented in Table 3-1.

Table 3-1 Inclusion criteria for key informants

Key informants	Inclusion criteria
All groups	Ability to read and write in English
Child care educators, directors and	Worked for at least three months in child care centres
dietitians	
Parents	To be parent or guardian of a child attending child care
Experts	To have expertise in child cares' food environment

3.2.3 Recruitment

The snowball method was used in the recruitment of participants. Child care educators, directors and parents were contacted through child care centres in Edmonton, Alberta. Child care centres located in Edmonton were identified from the Government of Alberta website

(http://www.humanservices.alberta.ca/oldfusion/ChildCareLookup.cfm). Child cares were selected if they were licensed according to regulations of the Alberta Child Care Licensing Act (Government of Alberta 2016), provided food to children on a regular basis and provided an email address to contact them. Twenty-six child care centres were invited to participate through an email sent to child care directors. Of the twenty-six child cares, eight directors replied to the email and expressed interest in the study, and further information was sent to them. After sending the information, three directors replied to the email and agreed to participate in the study and formal consent process was undertaken with them. The participation rate for child care centres was 11%; although the participation rate was low, more than half of the proposed number of child care centres (n=5) participated in the study. The directors from each centre assisted with the recruitment of participants by distributing the study invitation to CCE and parents at their centre via email, directors preferred to distribute the invitation through email instead of distributing a printed copy of the invitation, even though printed flyers and posters were offered to them. Experts in academia and government were contacted through the Healthy Eating Environments in Child Care (HEECC) Provincial Advisory Committee, of which Dr. Anna Farmer is a member and supervisor of this thesis project. Ms. Sheila Tyminski, Chair of HEECC was contacted to ask for permission to contact the group. Once permission to contact HEECC was obtained, the Chair sent the HEECC members the study invitation and the Information Letter through email. Individuals interested in participating in the study, followed up with the primary investigator (PI) (AAL) of this study.

Dietitians were contacted through Alberta Health Services - (AHS). First, the Director of dietitians working in the child care setting was contacted to ask whether dietitians from AHS would be interested in getting involved in this study and attaining permission to contact the dietitians. Once permission was obtained, the Director sent the study invitation and information letter through an email to the dietitians working in child care centres. Dietitians who were interested in participating in the study, followed up with an email to principal investigator of the study.

Before conducting any phase of the study approval was obtained from the Ethics Board of the University of Alberta. A \$10 dollar gift card was offered to all participants for participating in the study. The information letter for dietitians and experts was sent along with the study invitation, while the information letter for directors, educators and parents was embedded in the survey. Consent from key informants to participate in the study was obtained implicitly by completing the survey. The study invitations and information letters are found in Appendix A and Appendix B, respectively.

3.2.4 Development and description of surveys

The researchers (AAL and AF) developed five similar surveys for the consultation with key informants. Each survey was tailored for each group of key informants (i.e., CCE, directors, parents, dietitians and experts) and each survey had a similar structure and series of questions. The questions and themes were derived from previous work conducted in Alberta (Farmer et al. 2014; Shewring 2016)

and findings from a Food Literacy Meeting with government and non-government sectors in Alberta (Farmer et al. 2016).

The surveys were composed of closed- and open-ended questions with six main sections: 1) *Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth* (Government of Alberta 2012); 2) Role modeling; 3) Picky eating; 4) Communication with parents; 5) Training; and 6) Training Delivery Method. The surveys inquired about the educational needs of CCE, and participants were asked to comment if there is room for improvement in these areas. Also, the surveys asked about the preferred delivery method for CCE's training. The surveys for parents and CCE had additional questions regarding *Eating Well with Canada's Food Guide* (Health Canada 2007), while the director's survey had an additional question that inquired about their role in the promotion of healthy eating in their child care centre. Most closed-ended questions used Likert scale responses.

Regarding the ANGCY, the surveys inquired about CCE's knowledge of the ANGCY's Food Ranking System (FRS) but the surveys did not inquire about the other areas of the ANGCY (i.e., Menu Planning and Food Portion Sizes). The reason for only including the FRS, and not the other areas was because menu planning is not typically part of the CCE's responsibility; however, knowledge of Food Portion Sizes (part of EWCFG) is expected for CCE. The surveys were pre-tested with researchers to ensure suitability and acceptability of the questions, and after pre-testing, some questions were reworded to improve the clarity. The surveys are presented in the Appendix D.

All the questions on the surveys were optional, that is, if participants did not want to answer a question they could skip it and continue to answer the rest. This flexible feature of the surveys was kept since some key informants may not feel comfortable answering some of the questions. Also, mandatory questions are likely to increase the surveys' drop-outs (Dillman, Smyth, and Christian 2014).

The surveys were administered online. Some of the benefits of online surveys include they are "quick and easy to distribute to a numerous group of participants that are geographically dispersed, can be easily accessed with internet connection, allow responses to be anonymous, data collection can be carried out quickly and there is no need for data entry" (Braun and Clarke 2013, 136).

The REDCap platform (Research Electronic Data Capture) was used to manage the online surveys. REDCap is a secure web-based application for building and managing online research projects (Harris et al. 2009) hosted at the University of Alberta. Once captured in the REDCap platform, the surveys were pre-tested to ensure they were working properly and were accessible before delivering it to participants.

The surveys were open access and anyone with the URL link to the survey and internet connection could access to the survey from a computer, tablet or smartphone. The only identifier collected by the survey was the participant's email address which was collected if they agreed to receive the incentive (\$10 gift card) which was optional; the email address was needed to deliver the electronic gift card. If participants did not provide an email address, their responses were kept anonymous, and if they did share their email address, their responses were kept confidential.

3.2.5 Data collection

Data were collected through online surveys that included quantitative and qualitative data. The URL link to access the survey was embedded in the invitation and information letter that was distributed to participants. Data were collected from March 21 to May 31, 2017. The surveys took approximately 15-20 minutes to complete and the electronic gift card was granted to participants who accepted the incentive.

3.2.6 Data analysis

Microsoft Excel (Inc., Redmond, WA, USA) was used for the management of data. Data were organized by groups of key informants, closed-ended questions were analyzed using quantitative methods and open-ended questions were analysed using qualitative methods. Fifty-three key informant surveys were included in the analyses, which included surveys that were answered completely or where most (50% or more) of the questions were answered. Only one survey was excluded since the respondent did not answer the majority of the questions. Missing values were omitted in the analysis, given that less than 5% of the participants had missing values (Pickles 2005).

3.2.6.1 Quantitative analysis

Closed-ended responses were analyzed quantitatively using descriptive statistics; response frequency was the most utilized method in the analysis. Frequency counts the number of occurrences within a particular group of respondents (Government of Canada 2002). The analysis was conducted in Microsoft Excel (Inc., Redmond, WA, USA) and histograms were used to illustrate response frequencies. Due to the small number of respondents, responses to the Likert scale questions were aggregated and collapsed; for example, responses such as 'very important' and 'important' were combined.

3.2.6.2 Qualitative analysis

Open-ended responses were analyzed using content analysis. Content analysis is a systematic method that uses an inductive approach for coding and identifying themes and patterns for subjective interpretation of text data (Hsieh and Shannon, 2005). An inductive approach characterizes by "detailed readings of raw data to derive concepts, themes through interpretations made from the raw data by an evaluator or researcher" (Thomas 2006, p.238). Conventional content analysis was the most suitable method to analyse the survey responses since we sought to expand on the current knowledge and the nutrition educational needs of CCE. Conventional content analysis entails "researcher's immersion of the

data by reading all data several times and by making notes of his or her first impressions of the text. As this process continues, labels for codes emerge that are reflective of the data; these often come directly from the text and then become the initial coding scheme. Codes then are sorted into categories based on how different are related and linked. These emerging categories are used to organize and group codes into meaningful clusters" (Hsieh and Shannon 2005, p. 1279). This approach allowed for the discovery of new insights to emerge from the data and brought deeper knowledge and understanding on the topic (Hsieh and Shannon 2005; Kondracki, Wellman, and Amundson 2002).

Complete coding was used to identify codes, which is the process of "identifying codes from anything and everything that answers the research question, within the entire dataset" (Braun and Clarke 2013, p.206). Microsoft Office Word was used to organize and manage the qualitative data (Inc., Redmond, WA, USA). Responses were reviewed line-by-line several times to become familiar with the data and to identify emerging themes inductively. Data were coded, grouped in themes and analyzed by one researcher (AAL); however, a second researcher (APF) reviewed the analysis and conceptual ordering of data.

Theoretical Framework. After reviewing the data and given the characteristics of the data, it was decided that it was appropriate to use the Socioecological Model (SEM) framework to organize the data by levels of influence. The SEM proposes that the performance of a behaviour is regulated by the interaction of multiple levels of influences, including factors at the individual, interpersonal, institutional, and public policy levels (Stokols 1996). According to McLeroy (1988) and Stokols (1996) individual factors are the characteristics of the individual, such as knowledge, skills, etc.; interpersonal factors are the social networks and social support systems; institutional factors are social organizations with organizational characteristics, rules and regulations for operation, such as child care centres; and public policies are local, state, and national laws and policies.

3.2.6.3 Triangulation of results

Triangulation of data was conducted to confirm the consistency of the findings in the quantitative and qualitative data. Triangulation refers to the combination of qualitative and quantitative data to validate findings across the two kinds of data (Patton 1999, 1192). Closed-ended responses were analyzed quantitatively and open-ended were analyzed qualitatively, and then the findings from the two sets of data were compared and analysed together to discover any agreement or conflict between the data in order to develop conclusions about the findings (Bryman 2006; Fetters, Curry, and Creswell 2013). For example, in the quantitative data, key informants reported that CCE needed training in handling children's picky eating, while in the qualitative data, they expressed that CCE needed specific training in child's development and introduction of new foods as part of their training in picky eating. In this case, each set of data corroborated the findings of the other and enhanced the credibility of the findings.

3.3 Results

The total number of key informants completing the survey (n=53) was composed of: eight CCE (15%), three directors (6%), twenty-nine parents (55%), six dietitians (11%), and seven experts (13%). The number of key informants completing the survey exceeded the proposed number (n=40) at the beginning of the study. This is partly due to having a higher number of parents answering the survey than planned. However, despite our recruitment efforts, we did not achieve the expected number of CCE, directors and experts. Figure 3-1 presents the distribution of key informants.

3.3.1 Quantitative data

Only the most important figures were presented in this section, refer to Appendix E for the other figures derived from quantitative data.



Figure 3-1. Compositions of key informants

3.3.1.1 Eating Well with Canada Food Guide and promotion of healthy eating in child care

CCE and parents were asked about their awareness and agreement with *Eating Well with Canada's Food Guide's* (EWCFG) recommendations. Parents were also asked whether they agreed that healthy eating was being promoted at their child's child care centre. All CCE (n=8) reported being aware of EWCFG to some extent. As well, the majority (n=7) of CCE agreed with the EWCFG recommendations which was expected since only licensed child care centres were included, and licensed child cares in Alberta are required to follow EWCFG (Government of Alberta 2016). For parents, 75.8% (n=22) agreed that healthy eating was being promoted at their child's child care, while 20.7% (n=6) were indifferent and 3.4% (n=1) disagreed. All parents (n=29) were aware of EWCFG recommendations and reported using EWCFG recommendations to some extent at home.

3.3.1.2 Awareness and perceptions of Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth

We asked key informants about their awareness and perceptions of *Alberta Nutrition Guidelines* for *Children and Youth* (ANGCY). Child care educators, directors and parents were asked whether the guidelines and the Food Ranking System (FRS) of the ANGCY were put into practice at their child care centre, and CCE were also asked about their confidence in using the FRS. Most CCE (n=6) reported being aware of the ANGCY to some extent, and reported that the ANGCY and the FRS were put into practice at their centre. Also, all CCE who used the FRS (n=6) reported being confident in using the FRS to some extent. All directors (n=3) reported being aware of the ANGCY and that the ANGCY were put into practice at their centre; however, only one director reported using the FRS at the centre. Only eight out of twenty-nine (27.6%) parents reported being aware of the ANGCY and six of the eight reported the ANGCY were used at their child's centre. Five parents reported that the FRS was used at their child's centre and reported 'excellent/good' knowledge of the FRS by the CCE.

Dietitians and experts were asked about their perceptions of the level of adoption of the ANGCY in child care centres. Additionally, dietitians were asked about their awareness of the guidelines, the frequency in which they used the ANGCY in their practice, and perceptions of CCE knowledge of the ANGCY recommendations. All dietitians (n=6) were aware of the ANGCY and reported using them in their practice; these findings were as expected since dietitians employed at Alberta Health Services receive training on the ANGCY and are encouraged to use and support them. Dietitians and experts' responses were aggregated to report on the adoption of ANGCY in child cares, and most of them (n=6) reported fair adoption, but four reported poor adoption of ANGCY in child care centres (Figure 3-2). Four of six dietitians perceived that CCE had poor knowledge of the ANGCY recommendations.

Key informants were asked whether they agreed that it is important for CCE to receive training on the ANGCY. Most CCE (n=8), directors (n=3), parents (n=28) and experts (n=7) agreed, but half of dietitians (n=3) reported they 'neither agreed nor disagreed' that is important for CCE to receive training on the ANGCY (Figure 3-3).



Figure 3-2. Dietitians (n=6) and expert's (n=7) perceptions of the adoption of *Alberta Nutrition Guidelines of Children and Youth* in child care centres.





Key informants were asked to indicate which areas of the ANGCY they considered to be the most relevant for CCE training (i.e., menu planning, food portion sizes and Food Ranking System). Key

informants could select more than one area as relevant. Overall, menu planning was the most relevant (92.4%, n=49) and food portion sizes relevant was considered the least relevant training topic for CCE (67.9% n=36) (Figure 3-4).



Figure 3-4. Key informants' perceptions of the relevancy of the areas of the *Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth* to child care educators training (n=53).

3.3.1.3 Role modeling

Child care educators were asked to self-report on their practice of role modeling behaviours at mealtimes. Directors, parents and dietitians were asked about CCE's role modeling behaviours at mealtimes at child cares. Experts were asked to rate how important they considered role modeling behaviours to be practiced by CCE at the child care setting.

All CCE (n=8) reported sitting with children, eating the same food children eat at mealtimes and encouraging children to try new foods; however, two CCE reported 'sometimes' using food as a reward or punishment with children (Figure 3-5). Although all directors (n=3) reported that CCE never used food

as reward or punishment at child care, dietitians (n=6) reports confirmed that CCE 'sometimes' used food as reward or punishment.



Figure 3-5. Child care educators' self-report of practicing role modeling behaviours at mealtimes (n=8)

When parents were asked about CCE's role modeling behaviours at their child's centre, 58.6% (n=17) reported not being sure if CCE ate the same food as children. While 51.7% (n=15) reported not being sure if CCE used food as reward or punishment at their child's centre, reflecting a lack of knowledge about the practices of their child's child care centre (Figure 3-6).

All experts (n=7) agreed that it was important for CCE to sit with children at meal times, to eat the same foods as children, to encourage them to try new foods, and for CCE to avoid using food as reward or punishment. Key informants were asked whether they agreed that it was important for CCE to receive training on role modeling. Most key informants (n=47) agreed that was important for CCE to receive training on role modeling (Figure 3-7).



Figure 3-6. Parents' perceptions of child care educators' role modeling behaviours at mealtimes (n=29).



Figure 3-7. Key informant's perceptions of the importance of child care educators need for training in role modeling (n=52).

3.3.1.4 Perceptions of picky eating

Child care educators, directors, parents and dietitians were asked about the frequency of children's picky eating as a barrier to the promotion of healthy eating in child care. All of them reported

that children's picky eating was a barrier to the promotion of healthy eating to some extent, nevertheless, some parents (n=7) reported that it was 'almost never' a barrier (Figure 3-8).



Figure 3-8. Child care educators (n=8), directors (n=3), parents (n=28) and dietitians (n=6) perceptions of the frequency of children's picky eating as a barrier to the promotion of healthy eating at the child care.

CCE were asked to self-report on their confidence in handling children's picky eating, and all of them reported being confident to some extent. However, when dietitians were asked about their perceptions of CCE's knowledge in handling children's picky eating, half of them (n=3) reported poor knowledge of CCE in handling children's picky eating (Figure 3-9). Key informants were asked whether they agreed that was important for CCE to receive training on handling children's picky eating. Most key informants agreed that was important for CCE to receive training in picky eating (Figure 3-10).

3.3.1.5 Perceptions on communication with parents

Parents were asked to report on how comfortable they felt when talking to CCE about their child's eating behaviours and to report on their confidence in CCE's healthy eating knowledge when

discussing their child's eating behaviours. Over 86% of parents (n=25) reported feeling comfortable in talking to CCE, but only 65.5% (n=19) reported feeling confident about CCE's healthy eating knowledge.



Figure 3-9. Perceptions of directors (n=3), parents (n=27), dietitians (n=5) and experts (n=6) of child care educators' knowledge in handling children's picky eating.



Figure 3-10. Key informant's perceptions of the importance of child care educators need for training in picky eating (n=52).

Directors and dietitians were asked to report on their perspectives of CCE's confidence and ability to talk to parents about children's eating behaviours, all directors (n=3) reported positively perceiving CCE's confidence and ability. However, half (n=3) of the dietitians reported that CCE were perceived as having 'poor' confidence and ability to talk to parents. Key informants were asked whether they agreed that was important for CCE to receive training on communication with parents. Most key informants agreed that it was important for CCE to receive training on communication with parents (Figure 3-11).



Figure 3-11. Key informant's perceptions of the importance of child care educators need for training in communication with parents (n=52).

3.3.1.6 Training delivery methods

All key informants were asked to indicate the preferred methods of delivering nutrition training to the CCE. The CCE indicated the most preferred methods were workshops (n=6) and videos (n=6). Overall, key informants indicated the preferred delivery methods included workshops (n=43), videos (n=39), website (n=29) and during meetings (n=29) (Figure 3-12).



Figure 3-12. Key informants' recommendations for delivery methods of nutrition training to child care educators.

3.3.2 Qualitative Data

The Socioecological Model (SEM) was used to organize the qualitative data and categorize the information by level of influence. The responses by key informants were separated into themes and these themes were categorized into SEM levels: changes in policy, institution, interpersonal and individual levels. The frequency of themes found in the different groups of key informants is presented in Table 3-2.

Table 3-2. Themes and frequency of themes by group of key informants

	CCE	Directors	Parents	Dietitians	Experts	TOTAL
Policy level			•	•		
Need for better dissemination	1	2	1	11	2	17
and implementation of the						
ANGCY in child care centres						
ANGCY need to be updated		1		9	5	15
Institution Level	•	1		ł	L	•
Barriers child care centres face in	1			2	2	5
implementing the ANGCY						

	CCE	Directors	Parents	Dietitians	Experts	TOTAL
Role of directors in promoting	1	4	1		4	10
healthy eating at the centre and						
the need of nutrition training for						
directors						
Need for more opportunities for	3		1	1	3	8
CCE and children to interact in						
the food context						
Child care food environment	1		6		4	11
should support healthy eating						
More information for parents	1		6	2	2	11
Intrapersonal level		·				
More involvement and			1	1	1	3
participation of parents						
Individual level						
Training in healthy eating		1	2	2	2	7
Training in role modeling	1	2	2	8	1	14
Training in picky eating	1	5	2	6	6	20
Training in communication with				2	3	5
parents						

Key informants' responses indicated that providing training to CCE in the promotion of healthy eating will only solve one part of the problem, and there is a need for a comprehensive approach to enable the promotion of healthy eating in this setting.

"A multi-component approach is needed. Education can be one component but in and of itself it will not lead to behavior change" Dietitian 5

3.3.2.1 Policy level

- Need for better dissemination and implementation of the *Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth* in child care centres

In 2008, the Government of Alberta launched the *Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth* (ANGCY) to equip child care centres with the tools needed to provide children healthy food environments that promote healthy food choices and healthy eating behaviours. Dissemination of the ANGCY consisted of distributing copies of the guidelines to all child care centres in the province of Alberta (Downs et al. 2011); even though the guidelines are meant to promote major changes in the food environment of centres, no guidance was provided to child care centres to assist them with the implementation of the ANGCY recommendations. Additionally, the guidelines are voluntary which resulted in low adoption and implementation in child care centres (Downs et al. 2011; Shewring 2016). Dietitians' reports confirmed the low adoption and implementation of the guidelines in child care centres.

"most centres know the ANGCY exist but have no incentive to follow them, we have offered free training on the ANGCY in the past with very little uptake/interest" Dietitian 4

Dietitians suggested that there is a need for more efforts to enhance the adoption and implementation of ANGCY by child care centres, such support would involve providing guidance on ways of adopting and implementing the guidelines, and the development of governmental policies and regulations to support the adoption and implementation of the ANGCY. At this time, licensing regulations only require child care centres to follow the recommendations of *Eating Well with Canada's Food Guide* (EWCFG) for the foods provided at the centre (Government of Alberta 2016); however, the EWCFG recommendations are broad and do not provide detailed information about the nutritional quality of the foods, which is a characteristic feature of the ANGCY recommendations.

"Practical guidance as to how to implement [is needed]" Dietitian 5

"As they are currently only 'optional guidelines' to supplement existing mandatory provincial standards, add more detail regarding nutrition/ANGCY in the Child Care Licensing Regulations" Dietitian 2 For the ANGCY to be implemented there is a need for more efforts that promote and enable the adoption of the guidelines in child care centres.

- Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth need to be updated

Key informants provided a possible explanation for the lack of adoption of the guidelines by highlighting that they perceived the ANGCY as impractical, unclear and difficult to understand. Experts and dietitians made negative critiques on the presentation of the guidelines as well as on the content, describing them as not clear and not realistic for child care centres to implement.

"The actual document is very lengthy and the overview is very basic. As a family day home agency we would love to use this tool in our day homes. I would like to see it condensed to a more visual tool for providers" Expert 4

"Guidelines are complex; very time consuming to analyze all foods offered" Dietitian 1

One of the main features of the ANGCY is a Food Ranking System (FRS) to categorize foods into three main categories: 'choose most often', 'chose sometimes' and 'choose least often', as an alternative to categorize foods served as either healthy or unhealthy in child care centres (Government of Alberta 2012). The ANGCY recommends that all the food provided at the centre should belong to the 'choose most often' group which are foods low in fat, sugar and sodium. However, dietitians and experts perceived the FRS as too restrictive and not practical to implement. Overall, key informants referred to the ANGCY's content as not feasible to implement in the child care setting.

"[ANGCY] are extremely challenging to follow because of the way they categorize foods and are too restrictive... When whole grain bread and hard cheese are not 'choose most often' choices because of sodium, when there are no canned fruits that are 'choose most often', the guidelines are not realistic" Dietitian 4 "I think it is likely that the guidelines are too complicated for meal planners/preparers in child care to follow confidently" Expert 2

Dietitians, experts and directors stressed the need to update the ANGCY and the need for new resources that are simple, practical, condensed, visual and user-friendly. Also, key informants expressed the need for a more realistic, straightforward and accessible approach to increase the likelihood of child care centres adopting the guidelines.

"Until the ANGCY are revised to be more realistic, I don't see centres using them" Dietitian 4

"A simplified tool or tools that comply with ANGCY may be preferable for this setting. The tools need some basic information and meal and snack planning fundamentals." Expert 2

"Consider a realistic goal for child care centres; perhaps a staged approach. E.g. elimination of 'choose least often' foods in child cares initially" Dietitian 1

3.3.2.2 Institutional Level

- Barriers child care centres face in implementing the *Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Children* and Youth

Dietitians, experts and CCE referred to barriers that child care centres have for adopting and implementing the guidelines, such as lack of time, resources, equipment and personnel. Implementing the ANGCY recommendations would require changing the centre's food policies, modifying the menus, changing the serving style and providing training for staff (Government of Alberta 2012), which could appear as burdensome to child care staff to implement, especially if they do not have the resources to do it.

"Child cares have repeatedly stated they do not have the time and resources to delve into manuals, guidelines, etc. Thus a more simple/ straight forward approach is required." Dietitian 1

"ANGCY are challenging to implement... Add to that the challenges with limited infrastructure and training in food preparation at many centres. Staff ratios can create an immediate challenge, impacting food preparation" Dietitian 5

Key informants also suggested that providing financial assistance to child care centres would help in covering the cost of changing the centre's menu and the provision of healthier food, leading to increased adherence to the guidelines.

"Funding of some sort to help cover the cost of eating healthy without having to raise daycare fees to parents" CCE 6

- Role of directors in promoting healthy eating at the centre and the need of nutrition training for them

Directors were asked about their role in promoting healthy eating at their child care centre and they described their role as gatekeepers of the nutrition policies and practices at the centre. They described their role as overseeing the following activities: adhering to EWCFG recommendations; directing the food service of the centre, budgeting, provision of food supplies and designing the food menu; and sharing resources and nutritional support to child care staff and parents.

"Creating and implementing nutritional practices and policies at the centre. Providing direction, resources and in services for child care staff and cook to support nutritional practices. Provide information and resources to families with regards to nutritional practices. Provide adequate resources and financial budgets to support nutritional practices /foods at the centre" Director 2

Key informants indicated the need for more dissemination of nutrition resources within child care centres, as extending the ANGCY and other resources to child care staff and families. This task is normally performed by directors, dissemination of nutrition resources should be a priority for directors to promote healthy eating within child care centres.

"Some [ANGCY] workshops or handouts could be provided" CCE 3

"Inform parents about followed policies, and approaches to promoting healthy eating and nutrition" Parent 3

"One possible consideration would be to lend further thought as to how further information can also be extended to families about nutritional guidelines so that programs who do not provide all meals and snacks have a stronger working partnership with families in working together to ensure children's nutritional needs are better reflected in context to Alberta's nutritional guidelines. In many instances, parents would be interested and willing to support guidelines, but may not have as much awareness of them, and/or might need be interested in further lunch recipes and ideas that could be provided to them that could assist them more knowledgeably in striving towards this." Expert 6

Key informants expressed the need for increased awareness of and training for owners/directors about healthy eating. One recurrent theme was owners/directors' belief that healthy eating was 'expensive' and this belief was transferred or shared with CCE. If directors are not on board on with promoting healthy eating or have misconceptions about healthy eating being 'negative', it is very likely that no efforts will be made to promote healthy eating at the centre.

"For some child care programs, the owner/operator [director] believes it costs more money (food and labor expenses) to provide healthy snack/meal options for children. Education geared towards Owners/Operators [directors] is critical as well." Expert 5

Child care directors and owners play a pivotal role as gatekeepers of the nutrition policies and practices of the centre, and thus, there is a need to raise awareness of directors and owners about healthy eating to see some response to the efforts made to promote healthy eating in child cares.

- Need for more opportunities for child care educators and children to interact in the food context

Key informants suggested a need for more opportunities for CCE to interact with children in the food context for the promotion of healthy eating. Mealtimes represent a significant opportunity for this interaction to occur as best practices suggest that children and CCE should sit and eat together and to eat the same kind of food (Erinosho et al. 2012). However, in some child cares, there are limitations for this interaction to happen since not all child care centres provide meals to CCE or they do not have the financial means to provide food to CCE or simply do not allow CCE to eat with children at mealtimes.

"... educators should sit at meal time and eat the same food as the children. In this way they are acting good role models for the children" Parent 25

"This is a difficult area as many child care programs require the children to bring meals/snacks from home which means these educators do not eat the same foods as children. As well, most educators are not permitted to eat with children regardless if food is supplied by the child care program or brought in by the educator" Expert 5

Child care educators suggested that if they are to promote healthy eating, there should be more opportunities for them to interact with children that involve food-related activities, such as cooking, meal preparation and exploration of new foods. Child care educators must adhere to the planned children's programs and activities, and for these interactive opportunities to occur, they should be allowed and promoted by the child care program not only by CCE. Hence, there is room for improving child care programs to include more food-related activities for children in the child care setting.

"Do more cooking with them, I believe if they have more opportunities to be part of the process they take more away from it and it opens the door for more conversations and learning opportunities" CCE 4

- Child care food environment should support healthy eating

Key informants stressed the need for food environments that support healthy eating at child care centres. Parents were concerned about the food provided to their children at the child care and suggested the need for healthier and less processed foods, as well as more variety in the foods offered.

"There are items on the menu that are not what I would consider to be 'healthy' choices. For example, hot dogs and other items with added sugar and nitrates etc." Parent 5

"A greater source of variety in the food provided to children. While the quality of food at our day care is excellent (better than most), the variety is fairly limited" Parent 16

Experts, parents and CCE suggested that having a supportive food environment will make children more interested in healthy food and will help in handling children's picky eating. Some of the suggestions for a supportive food environment were to prepare food with an appealing presentation for children, and to prepare more than one option of foods offered to children at mealtimes.

"Educators or food handlers should make a way where in the food is presentable and palatable to the child's eye, so they will be attracted and they will be encouraged to eat." Parent 25

"I do think it's important where possible to try and support at least 2 options for snack and/or meals so that hopefully children may at least have interest in one or the other" Expert 6

"More options during meal time. Give the children choices in what is being cooked or what is all going into it" CCE 4 Regarding a supportive food environment, parents and experts were concerned about the food CCE bring for their own consumption at the centre (i.e., meals, snacks). For instance, some child care centres provide food/meals to the CCE but in other centres, the CCE must bring their own food. Parents were concerned about 'unhealthy' food being consumed by CCE in front of their children. Experts suggested that there should be policies and expectations about the food CCE bring to the centre to have coherence between what is served to children and what is consumed by CCE.

"My kids have often expressed that they would like the workers lunches because they have more exciting food (which in our home is often snack/treat food)" Parent 27

"... where educators bring their own food to eat with children during meal times, I do think it's important for them to be [have] some expectation for educators to have policies around bringing and/or consuming foods that model positive healthy food choices as I have also been in programs where we often see educators drinking soft drinks, and/or snacking on things such as chocolates/chips etc... in presence of children" Expert 6

Overall, experts, dietitians, parents and CCE suggested that the promotion of healthy eating habits in child care centres should start with healthy food environments supported by the child care program.

"... if healthy options are not provided by the program, the educator has limited or no input to what the children eat" Expert 5

- More information for parents

Key informants suggested that child care centres should include nutrition education in the communication practices they use with families and inform parents about children's eating behaviours. A common practice in child care centres is to share the weekly or monthly menu with parents, but

regularly little or no information is given about children's acceptance and consumption of food provided at the centre, parents were emphatic on this need of information.

"Although the weekly menu is given to parents, there is no[t] information on how the children respond to food choices, and if the children eat everything that is offered through the day. There should be a way to know if my child is eating normally at the daycare to be able to adjust meals at super time at home" Parent 18

"It would be great to know what my child chose to eat of the foods that were offered. A balanced meal is offered, but I do not know whether they ate or tried all components" Parent 19

"I think there are many opportunities to fit nutrition messaging into the practices child cares use conversation at drop off, pick up, activity journals, photos, tips of the day, newsletter, parent nights etc.... Again, I think it will be a suite of ideas that gets nutrition as part of the daily conversation, not an add on" Dietitian 5

3.3.2.3 Intrapersonal level

- More involvement and participation of parents

Parents, dietitians and experts reported the need to involve parents in the child care's healthy eating practices, especially when dealing with children's picky eating. Dietitians suggested that parents and CCE should use the same approach in promoting healthy eating behaviours with children.

"Practical education for both educators and parents so that a common approach can be used" Dietitian 3

3.3.2.4 Individual level

- Training in healthy eating

Key informants indicated the need for more nutrition and healthy eating training for CCE; experts and parents stressed the need for more education on food origins and processes, as well as on food economics.

"Information about where food comes from and how it is processed (or not) for providers [CCE] awareness and to use when educating children about healthy eating" Expert 4

"I think it's also important for educators to know about the economics of healthy eating (e.g., it's difficult for people with less money to eat healthily, but as a society we tend to blame the victims, such as just assuming they are uneducated)." Parent 28

Dietitians, experts and parents indicated that they would like to see nutrition, including the ANGCY, being added into CCE training curriculum.

"Include information on ANGCY during their mandatory training/college courses" Dietitian 2

"[nutrition] as part of their training curriculum" Parent 19

There is need to add the training on the ANGCY into CCE's training curriculum. Of note, in Alberta there is not a specific nutrition curriculum integrated in the CCE educational program and there is also inconsistency in the educational requirements for working as CCE across centres in Alberta (Farmer et al. 2016), To overcomes these issues, a variety of topics in nutrition and eating behaviours should be part of CCE's training and professional development.

- Training in role modeling

There is need for role modeling training for CCE. Key informants indicated that positive role modeling behaviours are not always practiced by CCE and that sometimes CCE's eating behaviours

negate the efforts made for the promotion of healthy eating at the centre. There is a need for increased awareness on how CCE's eating behaviours impact children and improved understanding of how CCE act as models of eating behaviours to children.

"I have also been in programs where we often see educators drinking soft drinks, and/or snacking on things such as chocolates/chips etc... in presence of children so again some type of emphasis on modeling healthy well-being and nutrition that is also aimed at the adults [educators] as well as specific to meals/snacks prepared for children would be important" Expert 6

"It would be great if they could consistently model healthy eating habits" Parent 19

"Continued reminders of the influence that the CCE educators play as models to children on healthy eating habits" Director 2

Dietitians referred to the need for CCE to understand how the context in which food is provided impacts children's behaviours at mealtimes, and the need for more understanding in feeding styles and how it affects children, feeding styles are the strategies that CCE used to feed children (Hughes et al. 2007).

"It is just as important to provide education around what 'context' is the food provided in (how to talk about food choices and eating habits positively and supportively, the impact/influence they have and how to build healthy relationships with food) not just the type of food provided." Dietitian 2

"Work with parenting messaging to help understand how parenting styles can impact approaches to food.... We need to assist educators in understanding the importance of not using food as a reward/punishment and provide practical alternative strategies/expectations" Dietitian 3 There is also need for increased awareness among CCE of the personal comments they make to children regarding food and how these comments affect children's eating behaviours. Key informants indicated that CCE should avoid labeling food as 'bad' and tying high calorie foods into rewards.

"Awareness of personal attitudes and beliefs that are shared with children. E.g. personal comments that negate the efforts of healthy eating. E.g. bread makes you fat, I like chocolate cake for dessert, etc. Increased awareness and understanding of the feeding relationship" Dietitian 1

"Also, my kids have said that their care workers have told them that certain foods are unhealthy but according to the food guide and the way we prepare them at home they are not. They may be higher in calorie[s] but they are not unhealthy and are rather whole foods (i.e. pizza and burgers). It concerns me that high-calorie foods are being labelled as bad at daycare" Parent 27

- Training in picky eating

For CCE to properly handle children's picky eating, they require knowledge of child development and introduction of new foods. Directors and dietitians emphasized the need for CCE to understand the development of children's eating habits and the expected eating behaviours through the life cycle. Young children have small appetites and are very susceptible to rejecting new foods, especially vegetables (Birch and Fisher 1998), so having a good understanding of these facts will help CCE to distinguish between 'normal' food behaviour and picky eating in children.

"[CCE] to have 'healthy' expectations of the children (how they eat, how they express their preferences, how much they actually need to eat, etc.)" Dietitian 6

"Sometimes educators 'forget' that this can be expected milestones in a child's development and learning" Director 2 "Help educators and staff distinguish typical eating behaviour from feeding difficulties that require referral to a health professional feeding team" Dietitian 3

Aside from the need for understanding of child's development, key informants expressed the need for training CCE on the introduction of new foods. Since young children are naturally predisposed to avoiding or refusing to try unfamiliar foods, training on proper introduction of new foods is a determinant for the CCE's promotion of heathy eating with children (Birch and Fisher 1998).

"How can I convince children to try new foods they've never tried?" CCE 1

"For some educators, it is difficult not to push the new foods as they want the child to try but they may not yet be ready. I think we can continue our discussions and shape our conversations with children to continue being more supportive of trying new foods and expanding their food choices." Director 1

Child care educators should also receive training on how to handle children's picky eating and strategies to use with them at mealtimes, experts from this study suggested that CCE should receive training from dietitians with expertise on the topic. Equipping CCE with strategies on ways of handling picky eating will make them more confident in dealing with children's negative behaviours towards food.

"Educate them [CCE] in the 'normal' or 'usual' selective stages of kids so they have an understanding of why 'picky eating' can occur and what the best strategies to work with them are without interfering with the feeding relationship" Dietitian 2

- Training in communication with parents

Experts and dietitians expressed the need for training CCE on how to communicate with parents and how to share nutrition resources with them. Understanding between CCE and parents is crucial for the proper promotion of healthy eating at the centre.
"Provide educators with case scenarios, resources and strategies to support them" Dietitian 2

"I often hear that child care providers are looking for support on how to word nutrition messaging and suggestions/recommendations to make to parents around healthy eating, without having them become defensive" Dietitian 6

3.4 Discussion and conclusion

3.4.1 Discussion

The main objective of this study was to consult with a sample of key informants involved in some capacity in the child care sector on their perceptions of and recommendations for child care educator's educational needs in the promotion of healthy eating in child cares. Key informants expressed the need for training CCE in healthy eating but also pointed to other factors that influence CCE's promotion of healthy eating, which need to be addressed to create environments that foster healthy eating in child care.

Although the sample was small, there seemed to be a discrepancy between the reports of directors and CCE and the other groups of key informants. Directors and CCE reported an appropriate level of promotion of healthy eating in child cares, while dietitians, experts and parents reported a limited or even limited promotion of healthy eating in child care centres - pointing to many areas that need to be improved in their health promotion efforts. These discrepancies in the data do not discredit any of the reports, but they provide a richer description of the situation in child care centres, and highlight the different points of view from the diverse groups of key informants.

Dietitians and the experts were the most vocal and expressive groups on the surveys' openended questions, while CCE were the least expressive and provided minimal responses in the openended questions. A possible explanation for the differences between the groups is that dietitians and experts were likely the most educated group and they might be used to answering this kind of survey

where their perspectives and opinions are asked. While, CCE might not be used to answering this kind of survey. For future research, we would recommend another kind of data collection method for use with CCE since online surveys did not seem to be the most appropriate strategy for collecting CCE's perspectives and recommendations. Studies that have used focus groups with CCE have been successful in gathering CCE's perspectives (Needham et al. 2007; Taveras et al. 2006).

- Educational needs of child care educators

Picky eating was the area of training that key informants considered most important for CCE in their promotion of healthy eating – this theme came up in both the qualitative and quantitative data. As well, most participants reported that picky eating was a barrier in the promotion of healthy eating in child cares. Similar findings were found in other studies, where picky eating was a common problematic eating behaviour in young children (Fildes et al. 2016; Carruth et al. 2004). Although all CCE reported having confidence in handling children's picky eating, dietitians in this study reported perceiving CCE's poor knowledge in dealing with children's picky eating. These findings are somewhat similar to Taveras et al. (2006) where CCE were confident in their healthy eating knowledge, but this knowledge came from their own experience, not from training or best practices. Some of the specific topics for training on picky eating for CCE include children's development of eating behaviours, introduction of new foods, and strategies for handling picky eaters. There is a need for training CCE in proper handling of children's picky eating so that an evidence-based approach can be used.

Training in role modeling was also one of the most important areas for CCE training. Child care educators greatly influence children's eating behaviours through role modeling and it is critical for CCE to understand their influence on children and to perform healthy eating habits in child care (Erinosho et al. 2012; Birch and Ventura 2009). Some areas for CCE improvement were awareness of how their own eating behaviours impact children, avoidance of use of food as reward or punishment, and

understanding feeding styles. Child care educators should use an authoritative feeding style, which is an fair control of children's eating practices to guide children's eating behaviours (Nicklas et al. 2001). Child care educators should have awareness of how their role modeling and feeding styles impact children's eating behaviours and to receive training on how to perform an authoritarian style and avoid strategies that negatively impact children.

Regarding the training on Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth (ANGCY), the priority for key informants was first to update the ANGCY and then to provide training to centres and CCE. Although, it is important for CCE to receive training on healthy eating, the guidelines were not considered the most appropriate tool for educating CCE, as the ANGCY were considered unclear, impractical and challenging to follow. Of note, these findings conflict with those reported by Nikolopoulos et al. (2012), who reported the ANGCY were considered relevant and easy to use. One possible explanation for the discrepancy in the perceptions of the ANGCY, is that the former was conducted two years after the ANGCY were released, when the guidelines were still a novelty. Now it has been almost a decade since the ANGCY were published and there is evidence that the uptake of the guidelines was not favourable.

- Implementation of the Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth in child care

In this study, there were mixed results in the perceived adoption and implementation of the guidelines across key informants. Directors and CCE reported successful adoption and implementation of the guidelines at their centre, while dietitians and experts reported that in general there was poor adoption of the guidelines in child care centres. These findings are similar to previous research that reported the lack of adoption of ANGCY in educational settings (Downs et al. 2011; Shewring 2016). Although, adoption and implementation do not have the same meaning and are not meant to be interchangeable, the guidelines need to be adopted first in order to be implemented in child care

centres. Adoption refers to the uptake of the ANGCY by child care centres and implementation to the active efforts to put to action the guidelines' recommendations (Glanz, Rimer, and Viswanath 2008). This discrepancy in the findings could be due to the small number of child care centres included in this study which were not representative of the entire population, or to social desirability bias, which is the tendency of survey respondents to give responses that they perceive as more socially acceptable than to give responses that reflect the truth (Grimm 2010). There is need for more research on the actual adoption and implementation of the guidelines across child care centres in Alberta.

Communication with parents and parental involvement

Regarding communication with parents, all CCE reported feeling comfortable in talking to parents and vice versa, most parents reported feeling comfortable in talking to CCE about children's eating behaviours. However, it was found that there was room for improving the sharing of information between CCE and parents. Parents indicated that they were not aware of nutrition policies and practices of the centre, and they expressed a desire to be more informed on their child's eating behaviours at the centre. Evidence suggest that, lack of healthy eating knowledge is a barrier for CCE to communicate with parents about children's eating behaviours (Lanigan 2012; Taveras et al. 2006). Increasing CCE's healthy eating knowledge will lead to increased communication with parents.

Through this study we found that there was need of parental involvement in child care centres; although parents were concerned about the food provided, they were not involved in the centre's healthy eating practices. Parental involvement in child care is crucial for the promotion of healthy eating. Evidence shows that that parental involvement has positive effects on children eating habits at the centre (Hingle et al. 2010; Natale et al. 2014), and research conducted in Alberta found that parental involvement was a determinant for the adoption of the ANGCY in schools (Quintanilha et al. 2013).

Therefore, involving parents in the promotion of healthy eating should be one of the priorities of child care centres.

Child care food environment

A supportive food environment is indispensable for the promotion of healthy eating in child cares. We found there is room for improving some areas of child cares' food environment, such as the food provided to children, the food CCE bring to the centre, and the opportunities CCE have to interact with children in the food context. Key informants suggested having specific policies about the food CCE bring to the centre, for them to consume only healthy foods in front of the children. However, there is evidence that policies are insufficient to change CCE's eating behaviours, therefore, providing healthy food to CCE at the centre is a strategy that has shown positive effects in promoting healthy eating among CCE (Erinosho et al. 2012).

- Role of owners/directors

In this study, we found that there is a need to work with directors/owners to raise awareness about the importance of promoting healthy eating at their centre. Director/owners are the gatekeepers of the nutrition policies and practices of the centre, as well as of the nutrition resources shared to staff and parents (Taveras et al. 2006). The need for increased awareness and training for directors was a novel finding in this study, since this was not reported in any of the studies that explored the needs for the promotion of healthy eating in child cares.

3.4.2 Conclusions

In this study, we found that CCE required training in picky eating, role modeling and healthy eating, and the most preferred delivery methods for training were workshops, videos, website and during meetings. Although the need of training for CCE in the promotion of healthy eating is evident, there is a need to target the different factors influencing CCE's promotion of healthy eating in child

cares, such as governmental support for the promotion of healthy eating, support from child care directors and owners, involvement of parents for the promotion of healthy eating, and a supportive healthy food environment. Addressing all these factors will enable the promotion of healthy eating in child care centres.

3.4.3 Strengths and Limitations

This study has several strengths as the collection of data from multiple sources (e.g., CCE, directors, parents, dietitians and experts), the use of open- and closed-ended questions that collected qualitative and quantitative data, and the triangulation of the qualitative and quantitative data that increased the validity and credibility of the findings.

Some of the limitations of this study were the low number of child care centres participating in the study. Instrument validity was also a limitation, although the surveys were developed based in previous tools, additional validation measures should be conducted. The use of online surveys limited participation to key informants that did not have internet or computer access. Additionally, some of the responses from child care staff could be affected by desirability bias, which affected the credibility of the findings.

3.4.4 Implications for research, practice and policy

Through this study, we confirmed the need of training for CCE in their promotion of healthy eating and the need to raise awareness of directors and owners on the promotion healthy eating in child cares. Future efforts in the promotion of healthy eating in child care should provide training to CCE and work with directors and owners to raise awareness on healthy eating. Additionally, there is need to work with child care centres to overcome the barriers they face in promoting healthy eating, such as creating nutrition policies, providing healthy food to children, providing food to CCE and allowing CCE to eat with children.

In this study, we found that the current provincial nutrition guidelines are not well received by child care centres, and it is essential to update the ANGCY to have an increased uptake of the guidelines in child care centres. Also, once the guidelines are updated, it is necessary to have governmental policies and regulations to support the implementation of the ANGCY, such as making them mandatory for all child care centres to follow. Additionally, regarding policy, it is imperative to add nutrition training to the child care educators' curriculum. The findings from this study could be used to inform future policies and regulations on healthy eating in child care centres.

Chapter 4 . Study 2. Rapid Review of Interventions Aimed at Promoting Children's Consumption of Vegetables and Fruits in Child Cares

4.1 Background

Childhood overweight and obesity is a concerning public health problem and its prevalence is expected to double to 9.1% by 2020 (de Onis, Blössner, and Borghi 2010). Overweight and obese children are more likely to become overweight and obese adults than normal weight children (Gurnani, Birken, and Hamilton 2015). Some factors associated with childhood overweight and obesity are children's poor eating habits, low consumption of vegetables and fruits (V & F) and high intake of energy dense foods (Birch and Ventura 2009; Dubois et al. 2007), while in contrast, a high quality diet that includes V & F is associated with improved health and weight status (Mytton et al. 2014).

The promotion of healthy eating habits in young children is a viable way to prevent and reduce childhood overweight and obesity rates since in the early years children develop eating habits, food preferences, and active or sedentary behaviours that they may carry for the rest of their life (Birch and Fisher 1998). V & F contain nutrients and functional components that promote health that are beneficial for proper cognitive development in children and protect them from the development of chronic diseases in the future (Nyaradi et al. 2013; Boeing et al. 2012; Steinmetz and Potter 1996). Promoting healthy eating habits in young children is a major public health issue and should be a priority to ensure the health and wellbeing of the future generations.

Child care centre³ use has increased continuously in developed countries and a high proportion of children are spending the majority of their day in this setting (Federal Interagency Forum on Child and

³ Child care includes "Pre-school program, which is a childcare program provided to pre-school children and kindergarten children for less than four hours per day; daycare program, which is a childcare program provided to infants, pre-school children and kindergarten children for four or more consecutive hours per day; and kindergarten, which is early childhood services program provided to children 4.5 years of age or older" (Government of Alberta 2011).

Family Statistics 2016; Bushnik 2006). Children attending child care eat one-half to two-thirds of their daily food intake at the centre, opening a valuable opportunity for the promotion healthy eating habits among this population (Sinha 2014; Bushnik 2006). Of note, children who attend child care centres beginning in the early years as infants (less than 1 year of age) and attend for more than 20 hours per week (considered high intensity) may be at increased risk of childhood obesity (Black et al. 2017; Alberdi et al. 2016). Therefore, intervening in the early years is crucial for preventing childhood overweight and obesity.

Child care centres are ideal venues for reaching out to young children and for the promotion of V & F, however, the consumption of V & F in the child care setting is more complex than it appears on the surface. The social, physical and economic aspects of child cares' food environments vary considerably among centres which can influence children's eating behaviours (Nikolopoulos 2012; Larson et al. 2011). Children's consumption of V & F in child cares may be influenced by several factors, such as: children's preferences, attitudes, and beliefs; child care educator's⁴ role modeling and parents support of healthy eating; child care centre's structure, norms, policies and food environment; and government regulations and public policy factors that favour or limit the consumption of healthy foods at child care (Fitzgerald and Spaccarotella 2009; Stokols 1996); taking into consideration all these aspects is essential for promoting healthy eating in child care centres.

The consumption of V & F is of special interest because these are the foods that children are more resistant to eat and regularly have the lowest consumption compared to other foods groups, such as milk and grain products, and meat and alternatives (Dubois et al. 2011; Birch and Fisher 1998). According to the Canadian Community Health Survey (Nutrition) more than 70% of children aged four to

⁴ Child care educator refers to "a staff member of a child care centre whose primary function is child care and who is actively engaged in the supervision of children" (Government of Alberta 2011).

eight are not meeting the minimum number of servings of V & F recommended by *Eating Well with Canada's Food Guide* (Garriguet 2004). Similar trends are reported in the United States as 93% of children were not eating enough vegetables (Centre for Disease Control and Prevention, 2014). Several interventions targeting children and the promotion of healthy eating in child cares found that child care centres can serve as important venues for teaching children healthful eating habits and that children's eating practices can be modified through nutrition programs and the positive interaction with child care educators (Mikkelsen et al. 2014; Zask et al. 2012; de Silva-Sanigorski et al. 2010).

A systematic review of healthy eating interventions in preschools found that children's consumption of V & F was significantly improved through healthy eating interventions (Mikkelsen et al. 2014). It is worth mentioning, there are a few reviews on interventions that promote healthy eating in child cares, but none of them solely focus on increasing children's consumption of V & F (Wolfenden et al. 2014; Mikkelsen et al. 2014). Since little is known about interventions that promote children's consumption of V & F in child cares and the strategies used in promoting and increasing children's consumption of V & F, this review will help to inform the development of effective interventions to promote healthy eating habits in young children.

The aim of this study was to conduct a rapid review of the literature on interventions aimed at promoting children's consumption of V & F in child cares. The objectives of this study were: to characterize the types of interventions used at different ecological levels in the promotion of children's consumption of V & F in child cares; and to identify the type of strategies used in interventions to promote children's consumption of V & F in child cares.

4.2 Methods

The rapid review methodology was chosen to conduct this review. A rapid review is "a type of knowledge synthesis in which systematic review processes are accelerated and methods are streamlined

to complete the review more quickly than typical systematic reviews" (Tricco, Langlois, Straus 2017, p.3). This methodology was used because the topic is focused, the literature is reviewed within a limited timeframe, and uses methods to accelerate the systematic review process without compromising the rigour and systematicity (Ganann, Ciliska, and Thomas 2010). Commonly rapid reviews are conducted within 1 to 6 months and are characterized by "carefully focusing the research question, using broader search strategies, restricting the amount of gray literature, extracting only key variables and executing only 'simple' quality appraisal" (Grant and Booth 2009, p.100). There is not a standardized methodology for the development of rapid reviews; however, we followed methods suggested by Khangura et al. (2012) and Gannan et at. (2010). For this rapid review, the literature search was limited to four databases, included specific inclusion criteria, and search and selection of studies, as well as, data collection and analysis were conducted by a single reviewer and confirmed by a second reviewer. In addition, a quality assessment of the included studies was conducted. A rapid review was the most suitable method for conducting a literature review on interventions that promote consumption of V & F in child cares to inform practice since this is a new area of research and we wanted to explore what literature was available on the topic before committing to an extensive comprehensive review.

4.2.1 Search conducted

The original literature search was conducted in May 2016 with the assistance of a library scientist (SC) and updated in July 2017, using four electronic databases (PubMed, CINAHL, Scopus and Web of Science) for relevant articles using the following key words: 'intervention', 'healthy eating', 'child care', and 'vegetable and fruit'. For the term 'child care' other additional related terms were used, such as, 'preschool', 'daycare', 'day care', 'kindergarten', given that other terms may refer to the same kind of centres and that different countries used distinct terms for non-parental care centres for young children.

Relevant reviews were scanned for additional papers. The search was limited to studies

published in the last 11 years (2006-2017), the search was limited to studies published 2006 and onwards since few studies on the topic were conducted prior that date. The original search included studies published up to 2016 but then the review was updated to include studies published to July 2017. The search was limited to studies published in English, French or Spanish, given these languages were represented in the research group. For a complete list of search terms and search strategies see Appendix F.

4.2.2 Inclusion and exclusion criteria

Inclusion and exclusion criteria guided the screening process. Included studies comprised of intervention studies that aimed to promote consumption of V & F among children in the child care setting. The inclusion and exclusion criteria are described in Table 4-1.

	Inclusion criteria	Exclusion Criteria
Type of	Interventions that promoted consumption of V & F,	
interventions	among children in the child care setting.	
Participants	Preschool children (2 to 5 years of age), studies that also included child care staff and parents as part of the intervention were included.	Interventions that only included overweight or obese children. Interventions that included children with special needs.
Study Design	Studies that evaluated the intervention by reporting differences in V & F consumption with control group and intervention groups comparisons or baseline and post interventions measurements.	Descriptive studies. Pilot studies, given that we wanted to evaluate effectiveness of interventions.
Setting	Child care centres (e.g., child care, preschool, day care, etc.)	
Place	Conducted in North America, Europe, Australia and New Zealand where the population is similar to the population of Canada, since the information of this review will serve to inform future interventions to promote healthy eating in child care in Canada.	

Table 4-1. Inclusion and exclusion criteria for study selection

4.2.3 Screening and data management

The screening of the studies followed the reporting standards of the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) statement (Liberati et al. 2009). A total of 958 studies were identified, 636 studies were screened based on the titles and abstracts. Forty-four full-text studies were retrieved through the University of Alberta Libraries System for further review. After screening process, 20 studies were selected. An additional article was included after the search was updated in July 2017. A total of 21 studies were selected for analysis. The primary reviewer (AAL) screened and analysed the studies and a second reviewer (APF) confirmed the results. The search and screening process and the reasons for exclusion are represented in Figure 4-1.



Figure 4-1. Search and screening process and the reasons for exclusion of studies

4.2.4 Data collection and analysis

For each of the selected intervention studies, the following information was retrieved: aim of the study, intervention setting, target population and country, age of children, description of the intervention, strategies used, theoretical foundation, study design, sampling method, number of participants, duration/length of the intervention, main target outcomes, outcomes and process evaluation data. Although, some studies evaluated other intervention outcomes, only children's consumption of V & F was taken into consideration. For reported outcomes, when studies reported V & F intake in number of servings, the corresponding nutritional guidelines from each country where interventions were conducted were used to translate the number of servings into grams consumed. For the studies by Williams et al. (2014) and Harnack et al. (2012), the *Dietary Guidelines for Americans 2010* were used (U.S. Department of Agriculture 2010). For the studies by Zask et al. (2012) and Bell et al. (2015), the *Australian Dietary Guidelines* were used (National Health and Medical Research Council 2013).

4.2.4.1 Theoretical framework

The Socioecological Model (SEM) was used to organize and analyse interventions. The SEM was used to guide this literature review because it includes all the levels of influence for the performance of a behaviour, such as children's consumption of V & F in in child care, and it provides a framework for organizing studies according to the levels of influence targeted (McLeroy et al. 1988). The SEM proposes that a health behaviour is regulated by the interaction of multiple levels of influences, including factors at the individual, interpersonal, institutional, and public policy levels (Stokols 1996). According to McLeroy (1988) and Stokols (1996) individual factors refer to characteristics of the individual, such as, knowledge, attitudes, preferences, beliefs, skills, etc.; interpersonal factors are the social networks and social support systems that support or discourage the performance of the behaviour, such as, family, friends, educators, etc.; institutional factors are social organizations with organizational characteristics,

rules and regulations for operation, such as child care centres; and public policies are local, state, and national laws and policies. According to Sallis et al. (2008) this model has four core principles: 1) multiple levels of factors influence health behaviours, including factors at the individual, interpersonal, institution, and public policy levels; 2) influences interact across these distinct levels; 3) interventions that target multiple levels should be most effective in behaviour change; and 4) ecological models are most effective when they target a specific health behaviour.

Studies were categorized according to the level of influence interventions targeted. Interventions targeting children's food preferences, beliefs, attitudes, knowledge, perceptions were classified as individual; interventions targeting child care staff and/or parents support, role modeling and social norms within the child care centre were categorized as interpersonal; interventions targeting child care's access to food, institution structure, norms, practices and policies were categorized as institutional; and interventions targeting public policy and government regulations were categorized as public policy (Figure 4-2) (Stokols 1996).

4.2.4.2 Process evaluation

The process evaluation of studies was included to gain more information on the fidelity and the quality of implementation of interventions. Although, is not common to include process evaluation data in rapid reviews, these data were included to gain a deeper understanding of the interventions' components that lead to an increase in children's consumption of V & F (Tricco et al. 2015; Steckler and Linnan 2002). Process evaluation is the "assessment of factors that affect or reflect how the intervention was conducted and received, and thereby has the potential to help understand the internal and external validity of the evaluation" (Baranowski and Stables 2000, p.157). The process evaluation framework proposed by Linnan and Steckler (2002) was used for this purpose and included context, reach, dose delivered, dose received and fidelity of intervention.





According to Linnan and Steckler (2002), context refers to larger physical, political and social environment that may impact the implementation of interventions; reach is the number or proportion of expected audience that participated in an intervention; dose delivered is the number or amount of intervention's units or components delivered to the participants; dose received refers to the engagement of participants with the intervention and the proportion of materials or components received; and fidelity refers to integrity and quality of the delivery of an intervention (Steckler and Linnan 2002). Some studies had additional articles that described the process evaluation of interventions and those articles were also included in this review. Any qualitative and quantitative data presented in studies regarding these aspects were collected.

4.2.4.3 Quality assessment

To add rigour to this review, the methodology quality of the studies was assessed, although this type of assessment may or may not be included in rapid reviews (Grant and Booth 2009). The Effective Public Health Practice Project (EPHPP) Quality Assessment Tool for Quantitative Studies (Armijo-Olivo et al. 2012) was selected because it is easy to use and is validated to evaluate the quality of a range of intervention study designs and primary studies in public health (Armijo-Olivo et al. 2012; Thomas et al. 2004; Deeks et al. 2003). The EPHPP tool rates the quality of methodology of interventions on six components: 1) selection bias, 2) study design, 3) confounders, 4) blinding, 5) data collection methods, and 6) withdrawals and dropouts. Each component was evaluated as 'strong', 'moderate' or 'weak'. Based on the ratings for each component, the tool provides a global rating for the study assessed. Studies not receiving any 'weak' ratings are categorized as strong quality, studies receiving one 'weak' rating are categorized as moderate, and studies receiving two or more 'weak' ratings are categorized as weak quality (Armijo-Olivo et al. 2012). Two raters assessed the quality of studies (AAL, APF) and agreement was achieved between the two raters. The agreement between the two raters was over 85%.

4.3 Results

The rapid review included twenty-one studies. Table 4-2 is a list of studies that includes a classification of interventions according to the socioecological levels: individual, interpersonal, institutional and public policy. Six studies targeted the individual level (Ahern et al. 2014; de Wild et al. 2013; de Wild et al. 2015; Horne et al. 2011; Correia et al. 2014; O'Connell et al. 2012); three studies targeted the individual and interpersonal levels (De Bock et al. 2012; Fitzgibbon et al. 2011; Bibiloni et al. 2017); five studies targeted the individual, interpersonal and institutional levels (Natale, Messiah, et al.

2014; Vereecken et al. 2009; Zask et al. 2012; Williams et al. 2014; Witt and Dunn 2012); two studies targeted the interpersonal and institutional levels (Hardy et al. 2010; Natale, Lopez-Mitnik, et al. 2014); three studies targeted the institutional level (Bell et al. 2015; Harnack et al. 2012; Schwartz et al. 2015); and two studies targeted the interpersonal, institutional and public policy levels for the promotion of children's consumption of V & F in child care (De Coen et al. 2012; de Silva-Sanigorski et al. 2010).

Study	Individual	Inter	personal	Institution	Public
		Parents	CC staff		Policy
Ahern et al. 2012	*				
Bell et al. 2015			*	*	
Bibiloni et al. 2017	*	*			
Correia et al 2014.	*				
De Bock et al. 2011	*	*			
De Coen et al. 2012		*	*	*	*
De Silva-Sanigorski et al. 2010		*	*	*	*
De Wild et al. 2013	*				
De Wild et al. 2015	*				
Fitzgibbon et al. 2011	*	*	*		
Hardy et al. 2010			*	*	
Harnack et al. 2012				*	
Horne et al. 2011	*				
Natale & L et al. 2014		*	*	*	
Natale & M et al. 2014	*	*	*	*	
O'Connell et al. 2012	*				
Schwartz et al. 2015				*	
Vereecken et al. 2009	*	*	*	*	
Williams et al. 2014	*	*		*	
Witt et al. 2012	*	*		*	
Zask et al. 2012	*	*	*	*	

Table 4-2. Classification of studies according to the socioecological model levels of influence

(Note: CC, child care)

4.3.1 Population studied

Table 4-3 is a summary of the of the studies' characteristics. Of the twenty-one studies, nine studies were conducted in North America (Witt and Dunn 2012; Correia et al. 2014; O'Connell et al.

Table 4-3. Characteristics of studies

Study	Study Design	Aim of the study	Setting (Country)	Age (years)	Selection of participants	Ν	Duration	Theoretical foundation	Main target outcomes
INDIVIDUAL	-								
Ahern et al. 2012	Within- subjects design	To investigate the effectiveness of flavour– flavour learning as a strategy for increasing children's vegetable intake.	Child care (UK)	1.2 to 4.6	Convenience	3 child cares (29 children)	10 days (approx.)	None stated	Vegetable intake
Correia et al. 2014	Within- subjects design	To test the effectiveness of two community-based interventions to increase children's vegetable consumption and willingness to try vegetables.	Child care (USA)	3 to 5	Convenience	1 child care (57 children)	Not stated	None stated	Willingness to taste and consume the test vegetable
De Wild et al. 2013	Cross-over	To investigate the efficacy of Flavor Nutrient Learning model as learning strategy to improve toddlers' intake and preference of novel vegetables.	Day care (Netherlands)	2.8 (mean)	Convenience	2 day cares (28 children)	7 weeks	None stated	Preference and intake of vegetables
De Wild et al. 2015	Within- subject design, semi cross-over	To investigate the effectiveness of repeated exposure and flavour– flavour learning in increasing vegetable acceptance and intake in preschoolers.	Day care (Netherlands)	2.7 (mean)	Convenience	2 day cares (39 children)	7 weeks	None stated	Preference and ad libitum consumption of vegetable crisps
Horne et al. 2011	Repeated measures design	To investigate effectiveness of an intervention based on modelling and rewards in increasing V & F consumption in a group of 20 2–4 year olds in a day care nursery setting.	Day care (UK)	2 to 4	Convenience	1 day care (12 children)	140 days	SLT	Consumption of target V & F
O'Connell et al. 2012	RCT	To test two hypotheses: 1) that children who are served unfamiliar vegetables repeatedly at	Preschool (USA)	3 to 6 (85%= 4 to 5)	Convenience	2 preschools (96 children)	6 weeks	None stated	Vegetable intake

Study	Study design	Aim of the study	Setting (Country)	Age (years)	Selection of participants	N	Duration	Theoretical foundation	Main target outcomes
O'Connell		lunch in preschool will		() = = = 1					
et al.		increase consumption of							
2012		them; and 2) that							
(Cont.)		consumption will be							
		influenced by peer eating							
		behaviours and parental							
		feeding behaviours.							
INDIVIDUAL	/ INTERPERSON	IAL			•				•
Bibiloni et	Longitudinal	To assess the results of a	Preschool and	3 to 5	Preschools were	2 schools	3 years	None	Diet, weight,
al. 2017	-	nutritional education	primary		selected	(319	-	stated	height and body
		programme to improve diet	school (Spain)		randomly.	children)			mass index.
		quality and decrease			Children were				
		overweight and obesity			selected upon				
		prevalence among children.			convenience.				
De Bock	CRT	To assess the short-term	Preschool	3 to 6	Convenience	18	6	SLT and	Healthy eating
et al.		impact of a nutritional	(Germany)			preschools	months	Zajonc's	habits and
2011		intervention aimed to				(348		exposure	anthropometrics
		reduce childhood				children)		effect	
		overweight in German							
		preschool children.							
Fitzgibbon	RCT	To assess the feasibility and	Preschool	3 to 5	Preschools were	8 Preschools	14	SCT and	Height and
et al.		effectiveness of a weight	(USA)		selected	(618	weeks	SDT	weight, physical
2011		control intervention			randomly.	children)			activity, screen
		delivered by teachers for			Children were				time, and diet
		black preschool children.			selected upon				
					convenience.				
INDIVIDUAL	/ INTERPERSON	IAL/ INSTITUTIONAL						-	
Natale &	CRT	To assess the effectiveness	Child care	2 to 5	Convenience	28 child care	1 year	SEM	Consumption of V
Messiah		of a centre-based parent	(USA)			centres,			& F, junk food,
et al. 2014		and teacher healthy lifestyle				(1211			and sedentary
		role-modeling program on				children)			behaviours
		child nutrition and physical							
		activity outcomes.							
Vereecken	CRT	To assess the impact of an	Preschool	2 to 4	Preschools were	16	6	None	Consumption V &
et al. 2009		intervention aimed to assist	(Belgium)		selected	preschools	months	stated	F, water, sugared
		Belgian preschools in the			randomly	(476			milk drinks and
		implementation of a			Children were	children)			fruit juice.
		healthy food policy on			selected upon				
		children's food intake.			convenience.				

Study	Study design	Aim of the study	Setting (Country)	Age (years)	Selection of participants	N	Duration	Theoretical foundation	Main target outcomes
Williams et al. 2014	Pretest/ post-test randomized control group design	To evaluate whether a nutrition educational program in childcare centres improve children's at-home daily consumption of V & F, and other at-home dietary behaviours.	Child care (USA)	4.4 (mean)	Convenience	24 child cares (1143 parents)	6 to 10 weeks	SEM	V & F consumption and other dietary behaviours at home
Witt et al. 2012	RCT	To determine whether an interactive nutrition and physical activity program for preschool, increases children's consumption of V & F.	Child care (USA)	4 to 5	Convenience	17 child cares (263 children)	6 weeks	SCT and SEM	Consumption of V & F snacks
Zask et al. 2012	Longitudinal	To decrease childhood overweight and obesity by improving fundamental movement skills, increasing V & F intake and decreasing unhealthy food consumption.	Preschool (Australia)	3 to 6 (4 mean)	Convenience	31 preschools (560 children)	10 months	HBM and CMT	Diet, movement skills and overweight indicators
INTERPERSC	NAL/ INSTITUT	IONAL							
Hardy et al. 2010	CRT	To evaluate a low-intensity, state-wide, professional development program aimed to support early childhood professionals to promote healthy eating and physical activity among children in their care.	Preschool (Australia)	4.4 (mean)	Convenience	29 preschools (430 children)	5 months	None stated	Children's lunchbox contents, FMS, preschool policies; children's diet and recreational screen time
Natale & Lopez et al. 2014	RCT	To assess the effectiveness of a multicomponent obesity prevention intervention on BMI, diet and physical activity of inner-city multiethnic preschool children.	Child care (USA)	2 to 5	Convenience	8 child cares (307 children)	6 months	SEM	Nutrition practices, physical activity and screen time

Study	Study design	Aim of the study	Setting (Country)	Age (years)	Selection of participants	N	Duration	Theoretical foundation	Main target outcomes
INSTITUTIO	NAL		I	1		1			
Bell et al. 2015	Pre–post cohort study	To determine the impact of nutrition award program on the food and nutrient intakes of children in long day care centres.	Long day care (Australia)	2 to 4	Convenience	20 day cares (232 children)	No stated	None stated	Dietary intake and centre compliance
Harnack et al. 2012	Randomized crossover design	To evaluate the independent effects of two meal service strategies on children' intake of V & F of preschool.	Preschool (USA)	2 to 5	Convenience	1 preschool (53 children)	6 weeks	None stated	V & F and energy intake
Schwartz et al. 2015	Cross-over	To test manipulations of the child care family style feeding environment to promote fresh V & F by making them highly accessible, while also removing the competition from more energy-dense foods.	Preschool (USA)	3 to 5	Convenience	1 preschool (85 children)	3 weeks	No stated	Dietary intake
INTERPERSO	1	IONAL / PUBLIC POLICY	1			-	1	1	1
De Coen et al. 2012	CRT	To evaluate the effects of a 2-year, multi-component intervention based in schools, on BMI, eating and physical activity in Flanders, Belgium, targeting 3–6 year olds in communities of high and low socio-economic status.	Preschool (Belgium)	3 to 6	Convenience	31 preschools (1102 children)	2 year	SEM	BMI, diet, physical activity and screen-time behaviour
De Silva- Sanigorski et al. 2010	Cross- sectional	To evaluate the effectiveness of a intervention aimed to reduce obesity and promote healthy eating and active play in children aged 0–5 y.	Child care (Australia)	0–5 (2.9 mean)	Convenience	Intervention group: 8 long day cares, 76 Family Day Care, 45 preschools, 24 Maternal Child Health Service	4 years	SEM	BMI, healthy eating, physical activity

Study	Study	Aim of the study	Setting	Age	Selection of	N	Duration	Theoretical	Main target
	design		(Country)	(years)	participants			foundation	outcomes
						(1,587			
						children).			
						Comparison			
						group:			
						17,732			
						children.			

Note: BMI, Body Mass Index; CRT, Cluster Randomized Trial; CMT, Competence Motivational Theory; HBM, Health Belief Model; RCT, Randomized Control Trial; SCT, Social Cognitive Theory; SEM, Socio Ecologic Model; SDT, Self-Determination Theory; SLT, Social Learning Theory

2012; Fitzgibbon et al. 2011; Williams et al. 2014; Natale, Lopez-Mitnik, et al. 2014; Natale, Messiah, et al. 2014; Harnack et al. 2012; Schwartz et al. 2015), eight studies in Europe (Ahern et al. 2014; de Wild et al. 2013; de Wild et al. 2015; Horne et al. 2011; De Bocket al. 2012; Vereecken et al. 2009; De Coen et al. 2012; Bibiloni et al. 2017), and four studies were carried out in Australia (Hardy et al. 2010; Bell et al. 2015; Zask et al. 2012; de Silva-Sanigorski et al. 2010).

Ten studies took place in preschool⁵ (O'Connell et al. 2012; De Bock et al. 2012; Fitzgibbon et al. 2011; Hardy et al. 2010; Harnack et al. 2012; Schwartz et al. 2015; Vereecken et al. 2009; Zask et al. 2012; De Coen et al. 2012; Bibiloni et al. 2017), seven occurred in child care⁶ (Ahern et al. 2014; Correia et al. 2014; Natale, Lopez-Mitnik, et al. 2014; Williams et al. 2014; Natale, Messiah, et al. 2014; de Silva-Sanigorski et al. 2010; Witt and Dunn 2012), and four were held in day care settings⁷ (de Wild et al. 2013; de Wild et al. 2015; Horne et al. 2011; Bell et al. 2015).

All the studies included children between the ages of 2 and 5, or the mean age of children was between 2 and 5 years of age. Seven studies targeted children, parents and child care staff (Fitzgibbon et al. 2011; Natale, Lopez-Mitnik, et al. 2014; Natale, Messiah, et al. 2014; Vereecken et al. 2009; Zask et al. 2012; de Silva-Sanigorski et al. 2010; De Coen et al. 2012), four studies targeted children and parents (Bibiloni et al. 2017; De Bock et al. 2012; Williams et al. 2014; Witt and Dunn 2012), and two studies targeted children and child care staff (Hardy et al. 2010; Bell et al. 2015). (Table 4-2).

⁵ "Preschool program" refers childcare program provided to preschool children and kindergarten children for less than four hours per day. (Government of Alberta 2011).

⁶ "Child care" refers to care of children as a service while parents are working provided by an organization, usually from 0 to 5 years to age. (Government of Alberta 2011).

⁷ "Day care" refers childcare program provided to infants, pre-school children and kindergarten children for four or more consecutive hours per day. (Government of Alberta 2011).

4.3.2 Strategies used by interventions

Studies used different kinds of intervention strategies and these strategies were classified into three categories: behavioural, educational and food environment (Table 4-4). Behavioural strategies included all behaviour change strategies used in the interventions; educational strategies were informative and didactical strategies that were directed to children, parents or child care staff; and food environment strategies were characterized by strategies that aimed to change the child care's food environment, which included strategies ranging from simple food modifications to increasing the availability of foods.

Study	Bhv	Edu	FE	Description of intervention strategies
INDIVIDUAL		1	1	
Ahern et al. 2012			*	Each child received 6-8 exposures to a root vegetable puree with added apple puree (flavour–flavour learning) alternating with 6-8 exposures to another with nothing added (repeated exposure).
Correia et al 2014.			*	Intervention presented meal and snacks in two manners: 1) pairing vegetables with a familiar, well-liked food and, 2) enhancing the visual appeal of vegetables.
De Wild et al. 2013			*	Repeated exposure to vegetable soups in two flavours and applying energy manipulation; during the intervention period, half of the participants received vegetable soup flavour A low in energy content (LE) consistently paired with vegetable soup flavour B high in energy content (HE), whereas the other half of the participants received the reverse (i.e. flavour A HE + flavour B LE).
De Wild et al. 2015			*	Repeated exposure and flavour–flavour learning; half of the group received red beet crisps with a dip of tomato ketchup (Conditioned [C]) and parsnip with a neutral white sauce (Unconditioned, [UC]), whereas for the other half the order was reversed (red beet [UC], parsnip [C]).
Horne et al. 2011	*		*	Role-modelling (though cartoon videos), repeated exposure and rewards as strategies to target children's consumption of 8 fruit and 8 vegetables (presented as 4 different food sets, each comprising 2 fruit and 2 vegetables).
O'Connell et al. 2012			*	Repeated exposure of foods, during the intervention, Preschool A served three vegetables at lunch on 10 separate occasions for 30 days, while Preschool B continued normal practice; in the 7th week, schools reversed conditions and Preschool B served the vegetables for the next 6 weeks.
INDIVIDUAL/ INT	ERPERS	SONAL		
Bibiloni et al. 2017		*		Nutrition curriculum delivered through a series of cartoon movies for children. Digital presentations about children nutrition for parents.
De Bock et al. 2011	*	*		Curriculum for children, workshops for parents and joined activities for children, parents and teachers as: tasting, food preparation and growing crops.

Table 4-4. Description of intervention strategies, types of intervention strategies and level of influence

Study	Bhv	Edu	FE	Description of intervention strategies
Fitzgibbon et al. 2011		*		Training for teachers. Healthy eating curriculum and physical activity sessions for children and newsletters for parents that complemented the children's curriculum.
INDIVIDUAL/ INT	ERPERS	ONAL/	INSTIT	
Natale & M et	*	*	*	Role modeling curriculum for parents and teachers; healthy eating and
al. 2014				physical activity curriculum for children and environmental/center
				modifications (i.e., menu changes, including more V & F).
Vereecken et	*	*	*	Child: Activities based on experiential education (e.g. tasting) and
al. 2009				developmental education (e. g. explanation of concepts of food triangle);
				educational role-model story and characters; and role model, feedback and
				reinforcement by teachers for children.
				Parents: Newsletters, suggestions for the back and forth diary, work sheets and creations by children, parent evenings and other school activities with
				parents.
				Teacher: Training sessions, manual including didactic and policy aspects,
				digital learning environment, newsletters, group discussions with teachers
				and examples of good practices. Increased availability of healthy foods and
				of cooking equipment.
				Training sessions for principals and cafeteria staff.
Williams et al.		*	*	Nutrition education for children, in combination with parent classes and
2014				weekly parent newsletters. Dietitians worked with each center director to
				identify areas of policy improvement that can enhance nutrition at the
				center and taught at least two classes to the center's staff to help them
	*	*	*	integrate the program's messages into their classroom activities.
Witt et al. 2012	*	*	*	It encouraged CCE to be positive role models of healthy eating to children.
				Nutrition and physical curriculum composed of circle-time lessons and imaginary trips. It provided newsletters and at home activities for parents.
				Training for child care educators about healthy eating and how to deliver the
				program. Support to implement nutrition policies at the centre.
Zask et al. 2012	*	*	*	The intervention strategies included skills development and awareness-
(Adams, 2009)				raising for parents, staff and children, and social support for parents to foster
				behaviour changes in their children through feedback and reinforcement.
				Children grew V & F in gardens, had taste tests and had healthy cooking
				classes run by parents or staff but assisted by health professionals. Health
				professionals gave interactive workshops on positive parenting and healthy
				eating. Each term children had a visit from a health professional who
				conducted interactive activities. Preschool teachers were given a manual of
				other ideas for including positive food messages in art, drama, role-play, music and stories.
INTERPERSONAL/	INSTIT		4I	
		*	*	Professional development workshop for preschool staff in healthy eating and
Hardy et al. 2010				physical activity. Resources for preschools which included a manual and a
2010				small grant to support staff to attend training or purchase physical activity
				equipment for the preschool. Contact with health promotion professionals,
				to provide advice to preschools to support the delivery of the program.
Natale & Lopez-		*	*	Training for centre staff about implementation of the program in the centre.
Mitnik et al.				Parents had monthly educational dinners, monthly newsletters, and at-home
2014				activities. Child care center environmental modifications, such as
				development of policies to increase healthy eating and menu modifications
INSTITUTIONAL				
Bell et al. 2015		*	*	The program involved nutrition training for directors and cooks delivered by
				dietitians. Support for staff to improve the centre menus, policies and eating
				environment in line with the nutrition award criteria. Dietitians supported

Study	Bhv	Edu	FE	Description of intervention strategies
Bell et al. 2015 Cont.				each centre in changing the menu of the centre.
Harnack et al. 2012			*	It served fruits and vegetables first than other menu items as part of traditional family style meal service; and served meals portioned and plated by providers.
Schwartz et al. 2015			*	Two feeding strategies were compared to usual practice (baseline): 1) V & F served before the main meal (first course); 2) V & F served before the main meal and only V & F and milk were kept on the table after initial serving (combination).
INTERPERSONAL/	/ INSTIT	UTION	AL/ PU	BLIC POLICY
De Coen et al. 2012		*	*	The parents received a poster visualizing the target messages and containing short tips regarding parenting practices and styles to encourage children to stick to the healthy eating targets. Parents also received five letters, containing detailed information on the intervention topics and a website link with practical information such as tips and recipes. All intervention schools were requested to (i) implement five Healthy Weeks per intervention year with a minimum 1 h of classroom time dedicated to the topic together with extracurricular activities (ii) evaluate and improve their playground and snack and beverage policy, and (iii) communicate with the parents on the programme and distribute materials to the parents. At the start, two meetings were held in each intervention community with the researchers, community organizations and stakeholders regarding local social and health problems using concept mapping.
De Silva- Sanigorski et al. 2010		*	*	Distribution of newsletters, information cards, and promotional materials to early childhood workers, parents, and children. Professional development for early-childhood workers and service staff. Nutrition and physical activity resources for parents and early-childhood service staff. Early-childhood settings staffs were trained to reinforce nutrition messages and healthy eating choices for children aged 5 y. Centres were given support to engage with parents on the topic of healthy eating and to provide support for staff to adopt and implement health and well-being/nutrition policies. Production of three separate optional governmental healthy eating policies for centres.

Note: FP, food presentation; Bhv, Behavioral; Edu, educational; FE, food environment.

Six interventions included behaviour change strategies, such as role modeling, feedback and positive reinforcement (Horne et al. 2011; De Bock et al. 2012; Natale, Messiah, et al. 2014; Witt and Dunn 2012; Zask et al. 2012; Vereecken et al. 2009). Role modeling was the most used strategy, where parents and child care educators acted as healthy lifestyle role models to influence children's eating behaviours.

Thirteen of the twenty-one interventions used educational strategies. The educational strategies with children were characterized by nutrition curriculums in the form of lessons, modules and classes delivered by an educator, dietitian or a trained research member (Witt and Dunn 2012; De Bock et al.

2012; Fitzgibbon et al. 2011; Williams et al. 2014; Zask et al. 2012; Natale, Messiah, et al. 2014; Vereecken et al. 2009; Bibiloni et al. 2017). The educational strategies used with parents were in the form of workshops, resources, newsletters and at-home activities to raise awareness and knowledge about healthy lifestyle behaviours (Natale, Lopez-Mitnik, et al. 2014; Natale, Messiah, et al. 2014; Vereecken et al. 2009; Zask et al. 2012; de Silva-Sanigorski et al. 2010; De Coen et al. 2012; Fitzgibbon et al. 2011; Bibiloni et al. 2017; Hardy et al. 2010). For child care staff, the most commonly used educational activities were workshops, curriculums and resources to raise awareness and knowledge, and training on the interventions (Fitzgibbon et al. 2011; De Coen et al. 2012; Hardy et al. 2010; Natale, Lopez-Mitnik, et al. 2014; Bell et al. 2015; Natale, Messiah, et al. 2014; Vereecken et al. 2009b; Zask et al. 2012; de Silva-Sanigorski et al. 2010). The topics of the educational activities for parents and child care staff included: healthy eating, introduction of new foods, role modeling, and picky eating.

Eighteen interventions used strategies to modify the child care's food environment. Five interventions used repeated exposure (RE) of novel or non-preferred foods (Ahern et al. 2014; O'Connell et al. 2012; de Wild et al. 2013; de Wild et al. 2015; Horne et al. 2011). Repeated exposure of foods comprised of presenting food to children on repeated occasions to familiarize children with it, thus increasing children's consumption (Cooke 2007). One intervention modified food's presentation to make it more appealing to influence children consumption (Correia et al. 2014). Six interventions changed the centre's nutrition practices and policies to improve the menu, change the centre serving style, and to increase the availability of V & F (Natale, Lopez-Mitnik, et al. 2014; Zask et al. 2012; Natale, Messiah, et al. 2014; Harnack et al. 2012; Schwartz et al. 2015; De Coen et al. 2012). Six interventions provided support and resources for centres to implement and modify nutrition policies and practices (Vereecken et al. 2009; Williams et al. 2014; Hardy et al. 2010; Bell et al. 2015; de Silva-Sanigorski et al. 2010; Witt and Dunn 2012).

4.3.3 Study design of studies included

Four of the studies were randomized controlled trials (Witt and Dunn 2012; O'Connell et al. 2012; Fitzgibbon et al. 2011; Natale, Lopez-Mitnik, et al. 2014). Five of the studies were cluster randomized trials (De Bock et al. 2012; Hardy et al. 2010; Vereecken et al. 2009; De Coen et al. 2012; Natale, Messiah, et al. 2014). One study used a pretest/post-test randomized controlled group design (Williams et al. 2014), while another one used a cross-sectional design (de Silva-Sanigorski et al. 2010). Ten studies used a longitudinal design (de Wild et al. 2015; de Wild et al. 2013; Harnack et al. 2012; Schwartz et al. 2015; Bibiloni et al. 2017; Bell et al. 2015; Harnack et al. 2012; Zask et al. 2012; Ahern et al. 2014; Horne et al. 2011).

4.3.4 Total number of participants

The total number of participants in each study varied greatly. In interventions targeting only one socioecological level, participation ranged from 12 to 96 children, with the exemption of Bell et al. (2015) which had a total participation of 232 children. The interventions targeting more than one socioecological level had more participants, ranging from 211 to 1587 children. The total number of children participating in all interventions was 7,995. The number of participants in each is study is detailed in Table 4-3.

4.3.5 Participants selection

Three studies used randomization to select preschools to participate in interventions. (Vereecken et al. 2009; Bibiloni et al. 2017: Fitzgibbon et al. 2011). The rest of the studies selected child cares/preschools/day cares to participate upon convenience. (de Wild et al. 2013; de Wild et al. 2015; O'Connell et al. 2012; Witt and Dunn 2012; De Bock et al. 2012; Williams et al. 2014; De Coen et al. 2012; Hardy et al. 2010; Natale, Lopez-Mitnik, et al. 2014; Natale, Messiah, et al. 2014; Ahern et al.

2014; Bell et al. 2015; de Silva-Sanigorski et al. 2010; Horne et al. 2011; Schwartz et al. 2015; Zask et al. 2012; Correia et al. 2014; Harnack et al. 2012).

4.3.6 Main target behaviors

Four studies targeted children's consumption of V & F as a main behaviour (Ahern et al. 2014; Horne et al. 2011; O'Connell et al. 2012; Witt and Dunn 2012). Three studies focused on children's preference and consumption of V & F (de Wild et al. 2013; de Wild et al. 2015; Correia et al. 2014). Seven studies evaluated children's dietary intake in general (Williams et al. 2014; Bell et al. 2015; Harnack et al. 2012; Schwartz et al. 2015; Vereecken et al. 2009; De Bock et al. 2012; Bibiloni et al. 2017), and seven studies focused on children's diet and on active and sedentary behaviours (Fitzgibbon et al. 2011; De Coen et al. 2012; Hardy et al. 2010; Natale, Lopez-Mitnik, et al. 2014; Natale, Messiah, et al. 2014; Zask et al. 2012; de Silva-Sanigorski et al. 2010).

4.3.7 Theoretical foundation

Studies may use a behaviour change theory to guide the development and implementation of interventions. Ten of the twenty-one studies were theoretically informed. Five studies used the SEM to guide their intervention (De Coen et al. 2012; Natale, Lopez-Mitnik, et al. 2014; Natale, Messiah, et al. 2014; de Silva-Sanigorski et al. 2010; Witt and Dunn 2012). De Bock et al. (2012) and Horne et al. (2011) used the Social Learning Theory to guide their interventions, which focuses on children's learning from observing significant others (Glanz et al. 2008). Fitzgibbon et al. (2011) used the Social Cognitive Theory and the Self-determination Theory to frame the intervention; more specifically, the first one focuses on the individual, interpersonal and environmental influences, and the second focuses on the individual's motivation to perform a behaviour (Bandura 2004; Lange et al. 2011). Zask et al. (2012) used the Health Belief Model (HBM) and the Competence Motivational Theory (CMT) to guide the intervention, while HBM focuses on individual beliefs towards a health behaviour, the CMT targets an individual's

motivation to perform a behaviour (Glanz et al. 2008; Klint and Weiss 1987). The remaining studies did not specify any theoretical foundation used to support interventions.

4.3.8 Outcomes of interventions

Fifteen interventions aimed at increasing children's consumption of V & F and reported positive results, while six studies did not find any significant differences in children's consumption of V & F with the intervention. The results of interventions are presented in Table 4-5.

4.3.8.1 Individual

Four of the six interventions aimed at the individual level were successful in increasing children's consumption of V & F (Ahern et al. 2014; de Wild et al. 2015; de Wild et al. 2013; Horne et al. 2011), and these used repeated exposure (RE) of foods as a strategy. The most successful of these interventions was in the study by De Wild et al. (2015) which increased children's consumption of vegetable crisps by 58 g (P< 0.0001). Three studies (Ahern et al. 2014; De Wild et al. 2013; De Wild et al. 2015) had similar interventions and used a RE of vegetables alongside other food manipulation strategies (e.g., adding familiar flavours to vegetables, increasing the energy content of vegetables); however, these studies found that RE of foods was enough to increase children consumption of vegetables and there was no difference in consumption between simple RE and RE along with the food manipulation strategies. A study by O'Connell et al. (2012) also used a RE of vegetables, but they did not find any significant results in children's intake. One main difference between this study and the rest is that O'Connell et al. (2012) used fresh vegetables with children, while the others used processed/cooked vegetables. In a similar study, Correia et al. (2014) changed the presentation of vegetables by pairing them with highly liked foods and making the vegetables more appealing, the pairing of foods showed an improvement in

Table 4-5. Outcomes and process evaluation of interventions

Study	Outcome evaluation	Outcomes for diet	Process evaluation
INDIVIDUAL	•	•	
Ahern et al. 2012	Intake increased significantly from pre- to post- intervention for all purees (~36 g), with no effect of condition. Intake remained higher than baseline 1 month (P<0.001) and 6 months (P<0.001) post-intervention for all conditions.	Positive	 Context: The strategy of pairing vegetables with liked food to increase liking and intake of vegetables is already a common practice among UK mothers, where the intervention took place. Reach: 15 nurseries were approach, 4 agreed to participate in the study and 3 successfully completed the intervention. Dose delivered: 8/8 vegetable exposures were delivered. Dose received: Children included in the analysis received at least 6 of the 8 vegetable exposures.
Correia et al. 2014	Vegetable consumption did not change, neither with visual appeal improvement or pairing with a liked food. Pairing increased willingness to try the vegetable from 79% to 95% of children (P=0.07).	Negative	 Context: The center participated in the USDA's Child and Adult Care Food Program. Reach: Parental consent was provided for 57 of 72 children (79% participation rate). Dose delivered: The proposed exposures, both meals and conditions (n=4) were delivered. Dose received: All the children received both meals and conditions (n=4).
De Wild et al. 2013	Ad libitum intake increase significantly for both vegetable soups (~58 g) and it was stable over 6 months (P<0.0001).	Positive	Dose delivered: 14/14 food exposures were delivered. Dose received: All children included received at least 10 of the 14 food exposures.
De Wild et al. 2015	Intake increased significantly post-intervention for both vegetables (on average with 8 g) (P<0.0001), and this effect was persistent even 6 months post-intervention.	Positive	Dose delivered: 7/7 proposed food exposures were delivered Dose received: All children included in the analysis received the 7 food exposures.
Horne et al. 2011	Consumption of target fruit and vegetable increased significantly by 52% and 50%, respectively (P<0.001). All increases generalised strongly to the no-rewards lunchtime context. The increases in preschoolers' V & F consumption were maintained at 6 months post-intervention.	Positive	Dose delivered: 16/16 proposed food V & F exposures were delivered.
O'Connell et al. 2012	Vegetable's consumption did not increase with intervention. Greater consumption by tablemates was a significant predictor of greater vegetable consumption (P<0.05).	Negative	Context: The centres participated in the USDA's Child and Adult Care Food Program. Reach: Parental written consent was obtained for 95% of the children enrolled in the centres. Dose delivered: 30/30 exposures of foods were delivered.
INDIVIDUAL/ IN	TERPERSONAL		
Bibiloni et al. 2017	From baseline to post intervention, intervention parents reported increases in their child's consumption of two servings of fresh fruit or fruit juices daily by 32% to 72% (P<0.001) and in	Positive	 Reach: Parental consent was obtained for 53.8% of the children enrolled in the schools. Dose delivered: Per academic years, 6 modules (45 min) were delivered to the children and 3 modules for parents (30 min), as proposed. Dose received: Only 20% of parents attended the first module session, while in the rest

Study	Outcome evaluation	Outcomes for diet	Process evaluation
Bibiloni et al. 2017 Cont.	consumption of more than serving of vegetables daily by 22% to 50% (P <0.001).		of the sessions did not reach 10% of attendees.
De Bock et al. 2011	Children in intervention increased fruit consumption by 0.22 points (~22 g) on the 6- point ordinal scale compared with consumption before intervention and compared with control children (P=0.027); also increased vegetable consumption by 0.15 points (~15 g) on the ordinal scale (P=0.027). A change of 1 on the 6- point ordinal scale approximates one portion difference (portion = size of a child's hand representing about 100 g).	Positive	Context: All preschools participated in a state-sponsored health promotion program which encouraged healthy eating and physical activity among pre-school children, with the long-term goal of reducing childhood overweight. Reach: 99% and 69% of the recruited children and parents participated, representing 47% and 68% reach into the target population for children and parents, respectively. Dose delivered: 10 modules for children and 5 for parents and children delivered as proposed; no session was cancelled. Dose received: Parental and teacher commitment was rated high. Some experts also related that parents sought more counselling after the sessions ended. Fidelity: Intervention fidelity was high with the majority of interventions delivered as planned (ratings 4.4 (SD 0.5) and 4.2 (SD 0.3) on 5-point ordinal scale for parent and children's modules, respectively). Those responsible for administering the intervention reported expected seasonal adaptations of the activities like a delay in seed sowing related to the weather.
Fitzgibbon et al. 2011	There were no significant differences in children's dietary intake.	Negative	 Context: It included children enrolled in Head Start programs. The centres participated in the USDA's Child and Adult Care Food Program. Reach: A total of 618 children (84.8%) and 590 parents and guardians participated in the study. Dose delivered: The TD-WCI curriculum consisted of 28 nutrition lessons and 28 exercise sessions (40 min) (2 per week for 14 weeks). Teachers reported completing or partially completing a mean of 26.6 (SD= 1.9) of the 28 nutrition lessons and 27.1 (SD=1.7) of the 28 exercise sessions. All teachers completed at least 21 of the nutrition and exercise lessons. Dose received: On average, the 307 parents in the intervention group completed 5.0 (SD = 4.5) of the 13 homework assignments. Twenty parents (7%) completed all 13 assignments. One hundred fifteen parents (37%) completed more than half of the homework assignments, and 238 (78%) completed at least one assignment.
INDIVIDUAL/ IN	TERPERSONAL/ INSTITUTIONAL	•	
Natale & Messiah et al. 2014	Children's consumption of V & F increased significantly from T1 to T2 (P<0.0001). At a 2-year follow-up obese children in the intervention had a significantly higher increase in V & F consumption versus control obese children (β =5.52, P<.0001).	Positive	Context: The centres were part of the USDA food program and SNAP-eligible. Dose delivered: The teacher-parent curriculum consisted of 29 weekly technical sessions. Parents participated in monthly events, they also received monthly newsletters. The children curriculum consisted in 20 weekly lessons.
Vereecken et al. 2009	Intervention children increased consumption of fruits 9.2 g/day (95 % CI: 0.4–18.0) (P=0.039) in comparison with control children. Results	Positive	 Reach: 61.7% of the prospect participants accepted to participate. Dose delivered: A two-days training was given to the school staff. Food messages and newsletters directed at the school staff and parents were made available.

Study	Outcome evaluation	Outcomes for diet	Process evaluation
Vereecken et al. 2009 Cont.	suggest that the change is due to increased availability at school (P<0.044).		
Williams et al. 2014	Children in the intervention group increased the mean number of cups vegetables consumed at home by 0.12 cups (~27 g) (95% Cl 0.0 to 0.2 cups; P<0.05), and had an increase in the rate of child-initiated vegetable snacking, than children in the control group (P<0.05).	Positive	 Context: All the centres participated in the USDA's Child and Adult Care Food Program; and half of the centres were enrolled in the Head Start program. The State of New York's Eat Well Play Hard in Child Care Settings program is a SNAP Education program. Reach: Participation rate was 76%, were parents filled the baseline survey. Dose delivered: The curriculum contained 6 healthy eating modules for children (30 min) and parents (30-60 min) separately, every week. Dose received: Children participants attended 5.04 classes on average. Each lesson lasted approximately 30 min, therefore, children participating at the intervention sites received a total of approximately 150 min of nutrition education. Only 12% of the eligible parents attended the parent classes, among those who did attend, 51% attended at least three or more of the six classes. 52% of parents reported reading all or most of the series of six newsletters and an additional 34% reported reading some of them.
Witt et al. 2012	Intervention significantly increased children's consumption of fruits by approximately 20.8% (P<0.001) and vegetables by approximately 33.1% (P<0.001) from baseline to post- intervention.	Positive	 Context: All classrooms participated in the USDA's Child and Adult Care Food Program. Reach: 263 parents were invited to participate in the evaluation and 38% (n=100) completed the initial surveys. Dose delivered: 12/12 circle-time lessons (10-15 min), 6/6 imaginary trips and 6/6 interactive take home activities were delivered. Dose received: Child attendance at the circle-time lessons and imaginary trips ranged from 63%-85%. Children attended an average of 9.5 (SD=2.7) circle-time lessons and 4.7 imaginary trips (SD =1.5). On average, 3.4 weekly take-home activities (SD=2.4) were completed. Moreover, 22% (n=22) of the children completed all 6 take-home activities with a parent or guardian. 24% (n=25) of the children did not complete any of the take-home activities. The 2 initial take-home activities.
Zask et al. 2012	Intervention children increased vegetable (47 g) and fruits (94 g) serves by 0.63 serves (P=0.001) post-intervention.	Positive	Reach: 93.1% and 94.3% of parents' consent their children to participate pre- and post- intervention, respectively.
INTERPERSONA	L/ INSTITUTIONAL	-	•
Hardy et al. 2010	There were no significant changes in serves of V & F.	Negative	 Context: Munch and Move was funded by the New South Wales (NSW) Australia Department of Health and designed for large-scale implementation across NSW. It was a key initiative of the NSW Government's Plan Preventing Overweight and Obesity in Children, Young People and their Families 2009-2011. Reach: Consent was obtained from the parents of 430 children for participation in the intervention (54% response rate) Dose delivered: A one day professional development workshop for preschool staff was delivered.

Study	Outcome evaluation	Outcomes for diet	Process evaluation
Hardy et al. 2010 Cont.			Dose received: One to two teachers from each preschool in the intervention group attended a Munch and Move workshop and completed an evaluation of the workshop.
Natale & Lopez et al. 2014	In the intervention children's mean fresh V & F consumption increased 60% (No statistics available)	Positive	Reach: 98% of children/parent response rate among centers.
INSTITUTIONAL			
Bell et al. 2015	Intake increased for all core food groups, including fruits, (range: 0·2–0·4 servings/d, (30- 60 g/day) P<0·001). Except for vegetable intake.	Positive	 Context: In South Australia, Start Right – Eat Right (SRER) is a nutrition award scheme that has been rolled out by government state-wide since 2004. Dose delivered: 9 h of nutrition training was delivered as proposed. Dose received: Centre directors and cooks received 9 h of nutrition training from SRER dietitians. Fidelity: The average compliance (fidelity) with the SRER criteria checklist was 62·4 (SD 4·2) out of 64 (P <0·001).
Harnack et al. 2012	Fruit intake increased 0.40 servings/meal (50 g) (P<0.01) in the intervention group when V & F were served in advance of other meal items.	Positive	 Context: The intervention was conducted in a Head Start centre. The center participated in the USDA's Child and Adult Care Food Program. Reach: Informed consent was obtained from the parents of 97% of the children (N= 85). Dose delivered: Children were exposed to the feeding practices 3 days per week, over a 3-week period.
Schwartz et al. 2015	There was no difference in children's consumption of V & F in any of the two feeding practices modifications.	Negative	 Context: The centre was a preschool Head Start. The center participated in the USDA's Child and Adult Care Food Program. Reach: Informed consent was obtained from the parents of 97% of the children (N= 85). Dose delivered: Children were exposed to the feeding practices 3 days per week, over a 3-week period.
INTERPERSONAL	/ INSTITUTIONAL/ PUBLIC POLICY	1	
De Coen et al. 2012	The intervention did not produce any change in the consumption of V & F.	Negative	 Context: The POP (Prevention of Overweight among Pre-school and school children) project was conducted in six communities, including the local authority (town or municipality). The regional health boards supported the schools and community for the implementation of the project. Reach: Thirty-one of the forty-nine invited pre-primary and primary schools participated (response rate 63 %). Dose delivered: During each intervention year there were three meetings with the teachers to follow up the implementation of the intervention and discuss the possible problems. Parents received five letters, containing detailed information on the intervention topics and a website link with practical information such as tips and recipes. Regional health boards contacted each school at least twice per year assisting them in selecting relevant intervention materials and supervising the implementation progress.

Study	Outcome evaluation	Outcomes for diet	Process evaluation
De Silva- Sanigorski et al. 2010	From baseline to follow-up intervention children increased their intake of vegetables (P<0.001) and fruits (P<0.001).	Positive	Context: The project, that targeted all children aged 0–5 y (n ' 12,000) and their families in City of Greater Geelong and the Borough of Queenscliffe in Victoria, Australia. Several key organizations in the region designed, planned, and implemented the intervention. Reach: 31 of the 49 invited pre-primary and primary schools participated (response rate 63 %). Of the 3242 eligible children, 1589 participated at baseline. Dose delivered: At the start, two meetings were held in each intervention community with the researchers, community organizations and stakeholders. Each intervention year, information brochures and posters regarding the five topics of the project were distributed in the community. The intervention consisted of seven modules. The parents received a poster visualizing the target messages and containing short tips regarding parenting practices and styles to encourage children to stick to the healthy eating and PA targets. Parents also received five letters, containing detailed information on the intervention topics and a website link with practical information such as tips and recipes.

(Notes: PA, physical activity; SNAP, Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program; USDA, United States Department of Agriculture)
children's willingness to try vegetables but did not affect children's consumption. The results of this study coincide with the findings of Ahern et al. (2014) and De Wild et al. (2015) where pairing vegetables with familiar flavours was not enough to increase children's consumption of vegetables.

4.3.8.2 Individual/ Interpersonal

Two of the three studies that had interventions targeting both the individual and the interpersonal level reported positive changes in children's consumption of V & F. These studies were characterized by providing some form of nutrition educational curriculum to children, parents and/or child care staff (De Bock et al. 2012; Fitzgibbon et al. 2011; Bibiloni et al. 2017). The two studies with positive results provided an educational curriculum and activities for children and parents aimed at improving children's diet (De Bock et al. 2012; Bibiloni et al. 2017).

4.3.8.3 Individual/ Interpersonal/ Institutional

The five interventions targeting the individual, interpersonal and institutional levels had positive results (Natale, Messiah, et al. 2014; Vereecken et al. 2009; Williams et al. 2014; Zask et al. 2012; Witt and Dunn 2012). These interventions were characterized by providing strategies for children, parents/child care staff and improving the food environment of the centre. Two studies (Natale & Messiah et al. 2014; Zask et al. 2012) focused on parental influence and reported that parents were mainly responsible for the improvements in children's consumption of V & F. Similarly, Vereecken et al. (2009) focused on improving the child care's food environment and found that by changing the food environment and the availability of foods increased children's fruit consumption.

4.3.8.4 Interpersonal/Institutional

The studies by Natale et al (2014) and Hardy et al (2010) targeted the interpersonal and institutional levels by focusing on care staff/parents, and the centre's nutrition policies and practices. Both interventions focused on providing training to child care staff, Hardy et al. (2010) provided one

training session and Natale & Lopez et al. (2014) provided two sessions to child care staff; however, only Natale & Lopez et al. (2014) found positive results. A possible explanation for this difference is that Natale & Lopez et al. (2014) included parents in the intervention and the research staff was involved in improving the centre's food environment, on the other hand, Hardy et al. (2010) only included one to two child care staff per centre and provided resources for improving the child care's food environment but there was not a follow-up with them to see whether the resources were properly used.

4.3.8.5 Institutional

Three studies had interventions that targeted the institutional level and consisted of changes in the child care's nutrition policies and practices to improve the food environment. Two of the three interventions had positive results (Bell et al. 2015; Harnack et al. 2012; Schwartz et al. 2015). Bell et al. (2015) aimed to implement a healthy eating scheme in the child care centres, provided training for child care staff, and found that centres had high compliance to the healthy eating scheme which produced increases in children's consumption of fruits. The studies by Harnack et al. (2012) and Schwartz et al. (2015) focused on changing the centre's serving practices. Harnack et al. (2012) compared family serving style⁸ to serving pre-portioned and plated food, and found increases in children's consumption of fruits with a family serving style compared to the other formats. Schwartz et al. (2015) tested two manipulations of the family serving style at the child care centre and it did not find any significant results. A possible explanation for these results is that Schwartz et al. (2015) compared different manipulations of family serving style to usual family serving style, whereas Harnack et al. (2012) compared family serving style to a completely different serving style.

⁸ Family Serving Style, refers to the food service "where children select their own portions and serve themselves". (Benjamin-Neelon and Briley 2011, p.609).

4.3.8.6 Intrapersonal/Institutional/Public Policy

Two similar studies had interventions that targeted interpersonal, institutional and public policy levels. These included parents and child care staff, provided training to child care staff to implement the programs, and had the support from the community and governmental stakeholders to implement the interventions. One of the studies by De Silva-Sanigorski et al. (2010) aimed to increase the capability of public organizations to promote healthy eating through establishment of government structures to support the intervention. The main focus of the intervention was on child care staff and provided comprehensive training to implement the program in child care centres, which had positive results in increasing children's consumption of V & F. While the second study by De Coen et al. (2012) worked with government health boards and community stakeholders to facilitate the implementation of the intervention in the communities, the focus of the program was on parents and their influences on children's eating behaviours, but no intervention effects were found in children's diet.

4.3.9 Quality of the studies

The EPHPP quality assessment tool was used to measure the methodological quality of studies included (Armijo-Olivo et al. 2012). Two of the twenty-one studies had strong methodological quality, while nine studies had moderate quality (De Bock et al. 2012; Fitzgibbon et al. 2011; Williams et al. 2014; Hardy et al. 2010; Natale, Lopez-Mitnik, et al. 2014; Bell et al. 2015; Harnack et al. 2012; Zask et al. 2012; Bibiloni et al. 2017). Ten studies had weak methodological quality (Ahern et al. 2014; Correia et al. 2014; de Wild et al. 2013; de Wild et al. 2015; Horne et al. 2011; Witt and Dunn 2012; De Coen et al. 2012; Schwartz et al. 2015; Natale, Messiah, et al. 2014; Vereecken et al. 2009). Studies with weak quality rankings had low scores on the following criteria: selection bias (where the selection of participants was not likely to be representative of the target population or/and the level of participation was lower than 60%); confounders (where studies did not control for confounders in the analysis or the control of confounders was not described); and data collection methods (where the validity and

reliability of data collection tools were not described) according to the EPHPP quality assessment tool (Armijo-Olivo et al. 2012). The studies that had strong ratings provided more detail on the methods than the studies with weak and moderate ratings, and there were no associations between the methodological quality of interventions and the findings on studies. The quality rating of each study is detailed in Table 4-6, studies are listed according to their quality rating.

Study	Section Bias	Study Design	Confoun- ders	Blinding	Data Collection Method	Withdra- wals and Dropouts	Overall
O'Connell et al. 2012	1	1	1	2	1	2	Strong
De Silva-Sanigorski et al. 2010	2	2	2	2	2	N/A	Strong
Fitzgibbon et al. 2011	1	1	1	3	2	1	Moderate
Hardy et al. 2010	3	1	1	1	2	1	Moderate
Natale & L et al. 2014	1	1	1	2	1	3	Moderate
Bibiloni et al. 2017	3	2	1	2	1	1	Moderate
De Bock et al. 2011	2	1	1	2	3	1	Moderate
Williams et al. 2014	2	1	1	2	3	2	Moderate
Zask et al. 2012	3	1	1	2	2	2	Moderate
Bell et al. 2015	2	2	3	2	3	1	Moderate
Harnack et al. 2012	2	2	3	2	2	1	Moderate
Vereecken et al. 2009	3	1	1	2	3	1	Weak
De Coen et al. 2012	2	1	1	3	2	3	Weak
Witt et al. 2012	3	1	1	2	3	3	Weak
Correia et al 2014.	2	2	3	3	1	2	Weak
De Wild et al. 2015	3	2	3	2	3	1	Weak
Natale & M et al. 2014	2	1	2	2	3	3	Weak
Schwartz et al. 2015	2	2	3	3	3	1	Weak
Ahern et al. 2012	3	2	3	2	3	2	Weak
Horne et al. 2011	3	2	3	2	3	2	Weak
De Wild et al. 2013	3	2	3	2	3	2	Weak

Table 4-6. Quality assessment of studies.

(Note: 1=Strong, 2=Moderate, 3=Weak)

4.3.10 Process evaluation

Overall, the availability of process evaluation data reported in the studies was limited. The most reported component of the process evaluation framework was 'dose delivered' (n=19) and the least reported was 'fidelity' of implementation (n=2). Only six of the twenty-one studies reported detailed information on the process evaluation of the interventions (De Bock et al. 2012; Fitzgibbon et al. 2011; Williams et al. 2014; Witt and Dunn 2012; Hardy et al. 2010; Bell et al. 2015). Several studies reported that process evaluations of the interventions were conducted but no data were reported in the results and no references to other articles were given.

Regarding the context, nine studies reported that the child care centres in which interventions were taking place received governmental support to promote healthy eating. Eight of these interventions were conducted in the United States and participated in the United States Department of Agriculture's Child and Adult Care Food Program, which provides aid for the provision of nutritious foods to child care institutions (USDA 2017; Correia et al. 2014; O'Connell et al. 2012; Fitzgibbon et al. 2011; Natale, Messiah, et al. 2014; Williams et al. 2014; Witt and Dunn 2012; Harnack et al. 2012; Schwartz et al. 2015). Five of the nine interventions that received governmental support had positive results in children's consumption of V & F (Bibiloni et al. 2017; Natale, Messiah, et al. 2014; Williams et al. 2014; Witt and Dunn 2012; Harnack et al. 2012). Four studies reported that their interventions were designed and implemented by their local government (Williams et al. 2014; Hardy et al. 2010; Bell et al. 2015; de Silva-Sanigorski et al. 2010), and three of these interventions had positive results in children's consumption of V & F (Williams et al. 2014; Bell et al. 2015; de Silva-Sanigorski et al. 2010).

Regarding dose delivered, nineteen interventions reported the number of intervention components delivered to participants, however, no association was found between dose delivered and effectiveness of interventions.

4.4 Discussion and conclusion

4.4.1 Discussion

The aim of this study was to conduct a rapid review of the literature on interventions aimed at promoting children's consumption of V & F in the child care setting and identifying the strategies used in interventions. We used the Socioecological Model (SEM) to categorize interventions, in this particular study, interventions targeting the individual, intrapersonal and institutional levels appeared to be more successful in increasing children's consumption of V & F. This finding complies with the SEM, which proposes that interventions targeting several levels of influence are likely to produce the desired behaviour change (Stokols 1996). Of the interventions that used behavioural, educational and food environment strategies to modify children's consumption of V & F.

- Population included

In this review, including parents and child care staff in interventions seemed to be an element for success in studies, and involving parents and child care staff played a key role in intervention performance. Child care staff acted as agents of change in child cares and there is evidence that including child care staff in healthy eating programs improved the centre's food environment and the quality of the food served to children (Markides et al. 2017; Gosliner et al. 2010). Also, parental involvement in child care was associated as positive influence in the centre's eating practices and children's eating habits (Hingle et al. 2010). Although parents are not directly involved in the nutrition practices of the child cares, parents' eating habits have a great influence on children's eating behaviours; and therefore, studies that included parents in the interventions addressed an important influential factor in children's eating behaviours. Including parents and child care staff in interventions are determinants for influencing young children's consumption of V & F in the child cares.

- Behaviours targeted

This review included interventions that were focused on children's eating behaviours and those focused on children's eating and sedentary/active behaviours. However, we found that interventions that only targeted children's eating behaviours were the most successful in increasing children's consumption of V & F compared to interventions that targeted diet and other behaviours. These findings comply with the SEM framework, which proposes that interventions targeting a specific behaviour are the most effective in producing behaviour change (Stokols 1996). Although, many interventions in educational settings target diet and physical activity, focusing only on diet should be taken into consideration when aiming to produce major changes in children's food consumption.

- Theoretical foundation

In this review, we found that theoretically informed interventions were more likely to have positive results. Most interventions that had a theoretical foundation had positive outcomes, and all of the interventions that included behaviour change strategies had positive results by increasing children's consumption of V & F. Evidence suggest that interventions that have a behavioural and educational theoretical foundation are more likely to produce the desired change in interventions (Glanz, Rimer, and Viswanath 2008; Bartholomew et al. 2011).

- Types of strategies

For the different strategies used in interventions in this review, repeated exposure (RE) of foods was an effective intervention strategy for increasing children's consumption of V & F. Most interventions that used RE of foods increased children's V & F intake and maintained that increase for over 6 months. Although, the improvements were small in most studies, there was evidence that RE of foods in the early years is a predictor for increased acceptance and consumption of V & F in the future in children (Cooke 2007).

The majority of the interventions that aimed at changing the centre's food environment had positive results, and most of them were accompanied by educational strategies aimed at children, child care staff and/or parents. Similar results were found in interventions in older children were changes in school's food environment resulted in improved children's eating behaviours, including consumption of V & F (Bevans et al. 2011; Williamson et al. 2013). These results highlight the importance of the centre's food environment which sets the medium for children's performance of healthy eating behaviours (Benjamin Neelon, Briley, and American Dietetic Association 2011).

- Reporting of outcomes

Only nine of the fifteen interventions that reported positive results translated their findings on V & F intake into practical means, as number of servings or grams consumed. Of the interventions that reported the results in practical means, the interventions reported by Harnack et al. and Zask et al. (2012) were the most successful at increasing fruit intake by 150 g/day (50 g/meal) and 94 g/day, respectively. De Wild et al. (2013) was the most successful at increasing vegetable intake by 58 g/day. The interventions included showed that children had higher increases in fruits' intake than vegetables. Several studies have similar findings where fruit was more accepted by children than vegetables (Shim et al. 2016; Cooke and Wardle 2005). Young children have an innate preference for sweet and salty tastes, and for disliking sour and bitter tastes (Birch and Fisher 1998). Also, previous studies found that children tend to relate fruits as 'treat' foods, and that vegetables intake tend to be affected by restrictive feeding behaviours in children (Shim et al. 2016; Cooke and Wardle 2005; Cooke et al. 2004). This evidence can explain the difference between fruits and vegetables intake in interventions. A greater focus should be placed on increasing children's consumption of vegetables and in developing children's preference for this food group.

- Methodological quality

There were no associations between study methodological quality and the results of interventions, although most of the studies included had either 'weak' or 'moderate' ratings. A high number of studies classified as 'weak' did not report information that was assessed by the quality assessment tool, and if the information was not reported, the assessment tool rated them as 'weak'. There is a need for providing more detail on the methodology of interventions; however, it is understandable that some authors reduce the detail provided in studies to fulfill publication word-limit restrictions imposed by peer-reviewed journals.

- Process evaluation

Process evaluation data were limited in most of studies and a low regard was given to reporting the process evaluation results in studies that collected these data. Process evaluation is an in-depth assessment of the implementation process of interventions and requires effort for conducting such evaluations (Steckler and Linnan 2002). Other authors have pointed out the lack of process evaluation of interventions, and the lack of reporting on the design, methods and tools used in process evaluations (Androutsos et al. 2014; Mikkelsen et al. 2014). Interventions should put more effort in conducting and reporting on process evaluation of interventions to provide a deeper understanding of the program components that produced the outcomes of the interventions.

- Rapid versus. Scoping review

In this rapid review, additional steps were taken that were not characteristic of rapid reviews, which included the collection of process evaluation data and the use of a thematic framework to analyse the data. Collecting this information provided more information on the context of the interventions. Since there is a lack of standardized methodology for conducting rapid reviews, there is some flexibility in the steps to conduct this type of review.

Although some of the steps conducted in this review seem to be similar to those required for a scoping review, the methods required for conducting a scoping review are more comprehensive and extensive than the ones used in this review. Table 4-7 explains the differences between a rapid and a scoping review. Although there is overlap between the two types of reviews, the methodology used in this review more closely aligns with a rapid review.

4.4.2 Conclusions

Overall, within the studies included in this review we found that comprehensive interventions targeting children, parents/child care staff and the centre's food environment were successful in increasing children's consumption of V & F; and that behaviour change strategies and strategies aimed at improving the food environment of the child care centre had positive effects in increasing children consumption of V & F.

4.4.3 Strengths and Limitations

This study has several strengths: it included a variety of interventions designed to improve children's diet at child care; robust reviews methods were used; multiple databases were used to identify articles; and included information on the process evaluation of interventions and the quality assessment of studies.

Due to the nature of the rapid review methodology, this study had some limitations: the search for studies was limited, we did not look for gray literature or unpublished literature; and the selection and analysis of the studies were conducted by one primary reviewer. Also, the low quality of the studies included was a limitation of this study, as the low quality rankings put into question the validity and reliability of the findings, especially when almost half of the studies included had 'weak' methodology quality.

Table 4-7. Differences between rapid and scoping reviews

	Rapid review	Scoping review	
Purpose	Type of knowledge synthesis in which systematic review processes are accelerated and methods streamlined to complete the review more quickly than is the case for typical systematic review	Form of knowledge synthesis which incorporates a range of study designs to comprehensively summarize and synthesize evidence with the aim of informing practice, programs, and policy and providing direction to future research priorities	X
Research question or objectives	Defined objectives	Defined research question	\checkmark
Literature search	Search conducted in two or more databases with specific search limits	Extensive search (e.g. electronic databases, reference lists, hand searching of key journals, conferences)	X
Screening and study selection	Predefined of inclusion and exclusion criteria by a single reviewer, with or without the verification of a second reviewer	Iterative study selection, that evolves with the search of literature, with two reviewers working independently	×
Data collection	Uses PRISMA for screening of studies Limited extraction to main study characteristics and	Data is extracted using data charts, and frameworks are used to collect	
	outcomes Data collection by a single	 contextual and process information from studies Data collected collectively by a 	
	reviewer, with or without verification	research team	X
Quality appraisal	Quality appraisal is conducted by a single reviewer, with or without verification	Quality appraisal is not conducted	X
Knowledge synthesis	Narrative summaries are common Discussion of implications, recommendations for policy and research limitations are	Overview of the literature is summarized using frameworks; charts and tables are used to present data and a thematic analysis of the studies is included	
	included	Discussion of implications and recommendations for policy and practice are included	

Adapted from Tricco, Langlois, and Straus (2017); Colquhoun et al. (2014); Levac, Colquhoun, and O'Brien (2010).

4.4.4 Implications for research, theory and practice

This review supports the need for a greater focus on increasing children's consumption of vegetables. As well, there is a need for more theoretically informed interventions in child cares, and for more consistency in reporting outcomes in children's diet in studies. Moreover, there is a need for improving the methodological quality of interventions, as there were only two studies in this review that had strong methodological quality. And finally, few studies reported on the process evaluation of interventions which is important for providing contextual information on the effect of interventions.

We confirmed that the SEM was a suitable framework for analysing health promotion interventions. The SEM assumptions about effectiveness of interventions were confirmed in this review, since we found that interventions targeting several levels of influence were effective in increasing children's consumption of V & F, and that interventions that focused on changing only one health behaviour were more effective than interventions targeting several behaviours at a time, as the SEM framework proposed.

The majority of interventions made significant improvements in children's consumption of V & F in the child care setting which confirmed that child care centres are ideal venues for the promotion of healthy eating in children, and that interventions aimed at promoting healthy lifestyles in children should not only be targeting older children in schools. Child care centres provide an ideal setting for the promotion of healthy lifestyle habits and for the prevention of childhood overweight and obesity in young children.

The findings from this review will help to guide future research on the development of interventions to increase children's consumption of V & F in child cares; however, these findings are limited and conducting a realist review will provide a deeper understanding in how interventions work to produce the desired changes in children's diets in child care centres, as a realist review seeks to

understand the mechanism that influence the performance of an intervention in certain context and place (Pawson et al. 2005).

4.4.5 Reflections on research: lessons learned

Through this review, I learned that there is no a perfect recipe for conducting an effective intervention to promote children's healthy eating. However, there are a set of components that were repeatedly present in the interventions that were effective, and these were high fidelity of delivery of interventions, high involvement of research staff in the delivery of interventions, as well as, high involvement of child care staff and parents in interventions.

Chapter 5 Discussion

5.1 Summary

The two main aims of this research was to conduct a needs assessment through a consultation with key informants to explore and identify the educational needs of child care educators in the promotion of healthy eating; and a rapid review of interventions designed to promote children's consumption of vegetables and fruits in child cares. Through Study 1, we found that there is an immediate need to provide training to child care educators (CCE) in the promotion of healthy eating. As well, that there are other influential factors that need to be addressed in order to enhance the promotion of healthy eating in child care centres. In Study 2, we found that comprehensive healthy eating interventions targeting children, parents/child care staff and the centre food environment were successful in promoting healthy eating in child care centres. The findings of these two studies brought insight into what is needed for the promotion of healthy eating in child cares, and what are the most effective approaches for promoting healthy eating in this setting.

5.2 Main findings of the thesis

Role of child care staff in the promotion of healthy eating

We found that child care staff played a key role in the promotion of healthy eating in the centre. In Study 2, we found that including child care staff in interventions had a positive effect on promoting healthy eating. In Study 1, we found that directors were the gatekeepers of the nutrition policies and practices of the child care centre, and that CCE were the agents of change for the promotion of healthy eating habits in children. However, we found that there is need for increased awareness among directors about the importance of promoting healthy eating in child care, and there is an immediate need for CCE training on healthy eating, picky eating and role modeling. Evidence suggest that including child care staff in healthy eating programs improves the centre's food environment and the quality of the food served to children (Markides et al. 2017; Gosliner et al. 2010). Future programs should target directors and CCE as part of a comprehensive approach for promoting healthy eating in child cares.

Involvement of parents

Parental involvement in child care centres is crucial for the promotion of healthy eating and it is associated with positively influencing the centre's eating practices and children's eating habits (Hingle et al. 2010). In Study 2, we found that parental involvement in healthy eating interventions was a determinant for the promotion of healthy eating and children's healthy eating habits in the child care setting. Through Study 1, we found that there was need for parental involvement in child care centres. Parents were concerned about the food provided at the centre, but they were not involved in, nor were they informed of the healthy eating practices of the centre. Although, parents are not directly involved in the nutrition practices of the centre, parents can act as advocates for the promotion of healthy eating in child cares (Benjamin et al. 2008). Therefore, involving parents in the centre's nutrition practices should be one of the priorities in future healthy eating programs in child care.

- Role of the centre's food environment.

A supportive food environment in the child care is indispensable for promoting healthy eating behaviours in children (Benjamin-Neelon and Briley 2011; Bevans et al. 2011; Freedman and Alvarez 2010). In Study 2, we found that interventions that targeted the child care's food environment were effective in promoting healthy eating among children. In Study 1, we found that the centre's food environment played a key role in the performance of healthy eating habits in child cares, but there was room for improvement in some areas, such as in the food provided to children, the food CCE bring to the centre and eat in front of children, and in the opportunities CCE have to interact with children at mealtimes. Best practices recommends that healthy and balanced meals are provided to children, and at mealtimes CCE act as role models of healthy eating behaviours by siting with children and eating the

same kind of food children eat (Benjamin-Neelon and Briley 2011; Government of Alberta 2012). However, these recommendations are not followed in many child care centres. Improving the food environment of child care centres is a necessity for the promotion of healthy eating and there is a need to address the factors that influence the centre's food environment, such as availability of foods, financial resources, staff training and the centre's infrastructure.

Role modeling

Role modeling by child care educators was a recurring theme in both studies. Child care educators have a great influence on children's eating behaviours through the eating habits they model to children in child cares (Erinosho et al. 2012; Birch and Ventura 2009). Role modeling was a strategy commonly used in interventions in Study 2, and all the interventions that used role modeling had positive results by improving children's healthy eating habits. In Study 1, we found that there was a need for training and increased awareness of role modeling among CCE. There is strong evidence that role modeling has positive effect in children's eating behaviours in child care (Shewring 2016; Erinosho et al. 2012a; Larson et al. 2011; Benjamin-Neelon and Briley 2011; Birch and Ventura 2009). Therefore, we need to raise awareness of CCE's role modeling behaviours and work with them to improve their role modeling in child care centres.

Picky eating and introduction of new foods

In Study 1, we found that children's picky eating was a barrier in the promotion of healthy eating and that CCE needed training in the proper introduction of new foods to children. Picky eaters tend to resist trying new foods, hence, proper introduction of foods is crucial for dealing with children's picky eating in child cares (Carruth et al. 2004). In Study 2, we found that repeated exposure of foods was an effective strategy for introducing new foods to children (vegetables) and for developing children's preferences for them. This finding complies with the evidence that children need 10 to 15 exposures of a

new foods to start consuming and liking them (Birch and Fisher 1998). Therefore, repeated exposure of foods should be used as a strategy for introducing new food to children in child care and for handling children's picky eating behaviours. Future programs aimed at promoting healthy eating in child cares should provide training to CCE on handling children's picky eating and introduction of new foods, so an evidence-based approach can be used for dealing with this behaviour in child cares.

- The Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth

Although data on the Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth (ANGCY) were only presented in Study 1, the ANGCY were a large theme this study. We found there was likely limited adoption and implementation of the ANGCY resulting in their minimal use in child care centres. Some of the reasons for the limited adoption included there is insufficient dissemination of the ANGCY and the lack of guidance on practical ways to implement the guidelines in child cares. The guidelines are not mandatory to implement in any educational setting in Alberta, and therefore, creating governmental policies that support the adoption and implementation of the ANGCY is one of the most important actions to take to promote healthy food environments in educational settings. There is evidence that mandatory provincial healthy eating policies are effective to improve children's eating habits in educational settings (Fung et al. 2013; Larson et al. 2011).

Additionally, the guidelines were not considered the most appropriate tool to educate CCE, as the ANGCY were considered unclear, unpractical and challenging to follow. Also, key informants reported some barriers child care centres have for adopting the ANGCY (resources, personnel and infrastructure). There is a need to update the ANGCY, making it a more practical resource that child care centres can implement, and there is also need to work with child care centres to overcome the barriers they have for adopting and implementing the ANGCY.

5.3 Strengths and Limitations

Using the Intervention Mapping approach for conducting a needs assessment allowed us to collect data from key informants as well as, empirical data from the literature review. The data gathered from the two studies complemented each other and brought insights into what is needed for the promotion of healthy eating in child cares. The consultation with key informants collected recommendations and perspectives from multiple groups involved in child cares (i.e., CCE, directors, parents, dietitians and experts), which allowed to have a better picture of the promotion of healthy eating in child cares. Also, the consultation gathered quantitative and qualitative data that were triangulated to bring validity and credibility to the findings. The literature review used robust methods to review a variety of interventions aimed at promoting healthy eating in child cares, which provided evidence on the efforts made for the promotion of healthy eating in child care centres to inform the findings from the consultation.

The findings of this thesis are limited. First, we did not conduct other components of the need assessment proposed by the Intervention Mapping framework, such as establishment of a planning group, feasibility exploration, assessment of local capacity and complete background evaluation (Bartholomew et al. 2011). Second, in the consultation, we had a small number of participants who were not representative of the entire population, and there is suspicion that some responses were affected by desirability bias, which affected the credibility of the findings; this became more apparent after noticing the difference between the responses of child care staff and the responses of the rest of key informants regarding promotion of healthy eating in the child care settings. Third, in the literature review, the search of studies was limited, and many had low quality ratings which put into questions the validity and reliability of the findings.

5.4 Implications for research, practice and policy

The findings of this thesis will serve as a foundation for the development of healthy eating programs in child care centres in Alberta, and will also guide future efforts in the promotion of healthy eating in the child care setting,

We confirmed that child care centres are ideal venues for promoting healthy eating in young children, and we found the need for more nutrition programs aimed at the child care setting. Through this research, we confirmed the need for CCE's training in their promotion of healthy eating and the need to raise awareness with directors and owners about promoting healthy eating in child cares. Additionally, there is a need to work with child care centres to overcome the barriers they face in promoting healthy eating, such as creating nutrition policies within the centre, providing healthy food to children, providing opportunities for CCE to interact with children in the food context. Future efforts in the promotion of healthy eating in child cares should provide training to child care staff and work to overcome the barriers they face in promotion of healthy eating in child cares should provide training to child care staff and work to

We confirmed that the Socioecological Model (SEM) was a suitable framework for categorizing the factors that influence the promotion of healthy eating in child care and for analysing health promotion interventions in this setting. The SEM should be used in future research for the development of comprehensive healthy eating programs in the child care setting.

In this study, we found that the current provincial nutrition guidelines are not being well received by child care centres, and there is an immediate need to update the ANGCY in order to have a better uptake of the guidelines. Also, we found the need of governmental policies and regulations that support the implementation of the guidelines, such as making them mandatory to follow by all child care centres. Additionally, regarding implementation of nutrition policy, there is a need to add nutrition training into the educational curriculum for child care educators across Alberta. The findings of this

thesis could be used as a reference for future healthy eating policies and regulations in child cares in

Alberta.

References

- Addessi, Elsa, Amy T. Galloway, Elisabetta Visalberghi, and Leann L. Birch. 2005. "Specific Social Influences on the Acceptance of Novel Foods in 2-5-Year-Old Children." *Appetite* 45 (3): 264–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2005.07.007.
- Ahern, Sara M., Samantha J. Caton, Pam Blundell, and Marion M. Hetherington. 2014. "The Root of the Problem: Increasing Root Vegetable Intake in Preschool Children by Repeated Exposure and Flavour Flavour Learning." *Appetite* 80 (September): 154–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2014.04.016.
- Alberdi, Goiuri, Aoife E. McNamara, Karen L. Lindsay, Helena A. Scully, Mary H. Horan, Eileen R. Gibney, and Fionnuala M. McAuliffe. 2016. "The Association between Childcare and Risk of Childhood Overweight and Obesity in Children Aged 5 Years and under: A Systematic Review." *European Journal of Pediatrics* 175 (10): 1277–94. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00431-016-2768-9.
- Alberta Health Services, Population and Public Health. 2010. "Childhood Overweight and Obesity: Summary of Evidence from the Cost of Obesity in Alberta for 2005 Report." http://www.albertahealthservices.ca/poph/hi-poph-surv-phids-childhood-overweight-obesity-2010.pdf.
- Androutsos, O., E. Apostolidou, V. Iotova, P. Socha, J. Birnbaum, L. Moreno, I. De Bourdeaudhuij, B. Koletzko, Y. Manios, and ToyBox-study group. 2014. "Process Evaluation Design and Tools Used in a Kindergarten-Based, Family-Involved Intervention to Prevent Obesity in Early Childhood. The ToyBox-Study." Obesity Reviews 15 (August): 74–80. https://doi.org/10.1111/obr.12185.
- Armijo-Olivo, Susan, Carla R. Stiles, Neil A. Hagen, Patricia D. Biondo, and Greta G. Cummings. 2012.
 "Assessment of Study Quality for Systematic Reviews: A Comparison of the Cochrane Collaboration Risk of Bias Tool and the Effective Public Health Practice Project Quality Assessment Tool: Methodological Research." *Journal of Evaluation in Clinical Practice* 18 (1): 12– 18. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2753.2010.01516.x.
- Australian Government. 2013. "Australian Dietary Guidelines." https://www.eatforhealth.gov.au/guidelines.
- Bandura, Albert. 2004. "Health Promotion by Social Cognitive Means." *Health Education & Behavior: The Official Publication of the Society for Public Health Education* 31 (2): 143–64. https://doi.org/10.1177/1090198104263660.
- Baranowski, T., and G. Stables. 2000. "Process Evaluations of the 5-a-Day Projects." *Health Education & Behavior: The Official Publication of the Society for Public Health Education* 27 (2): 157–66. https://doi.org/10.1177/109019810002700202.
- Bartholomew, L. Kay, Guy S. Parcel, Gerjo Kok, Nell H. Gottlieb, and Maria E. Fernández. 2011. *Planning Health Promotion Programs: An Intervention Mapping Approach*. John Wiley & Sons.
- Bartholomew, LK. 2016. *Planning Health Promotion Programs : An Intervention Mapping Approach*. 4th ed. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass. http://web.a.ebscohost.com/ehost/detail/detail?sid=289d8aa1-d550-4657-9390-

4bc1fd8dd07c%40sessionmgr4003&vid=0&hid=4207&bdata=JnNpdGU9ZWhvc3QtbGl2ZSZzY29 wZT1zaXRI#AN=1139685&db=nlebk.

- Bell, A. Colin, Lynda Davies, Meghan Finch, Luke Wolfenden, J. Lynn Francis, Rachel Sutherland, and John Wiggers. 2015. "An Implementation Intervention to Encourage Healthy Eating in Centre-Based Child-Care Services: Impact of the Good for Kids Good for Life Programme." *Public Health Nutrition* 18 (9): 1610–19. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1368980013003364.
- Benjamin, Sara E., Jess Haines, Sarah C. Ball, and Dianne S. Ward. 2008. "Improving Nutrition and Physical Activity in Child Care: What Parents Recommend." *Journal of the American Dietetic Association* 108 (11): 1907–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jada.2008.08.018.

- Benjamin-Neelon, Sara E., and Margaret E. Briley. 2011. "Position of the American Dietetic Association: Benchmarks for Nutrition in Child Care." *Journal of the American Dietetic Association* 111 (4): 607–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jada.2011.02.016.
- Bevans, Katherine B., Betty Sanchez, Rachel Teneralli, and Christopher B. Forrest. 2011a. "Children's Eating Behavior: The Importance of Nutrition Standards for Foods in Schools." *The Journal of School Health* 81 (7): 424–29. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1746-1561.2011.00611.x.
- Bibiloni, Maria del Mar, Jordi Fernández-Blanco, Noemí Pujol-Plana, Núria Martín-Galindo, Maria Mercè Fernández-Vallejo, Mariona Roca-Domingo, Juan Chamorro-Medina, and Josep A. Tur. 2017. "Mejora de La Calidad de La Dieta Y Del Estado Nutricional En Población Infantil Mediante Un Programa Innovador de Educación Nutricional: INFADIMED." *Gaceta Sanitaria*, April. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gaceta.2016.10.013.
- Birch, L.L., and Jennifer O. Fisher. 1998. "Development of Eating Behaviors Among Children and Adolescents." *Pediatrics* 101 (Supplement 2): 539–49.
- Birch, L.L., and D.W. Marlin. 1982. "I Don't like It; I Never Tried It: Effects of Exposure on Two-Year-Old Children's Food Preferences." *Appetite* 3 (4): 353–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0195-6663(82)80053-6.
- Birch, L.L., Jennifer S. Savage, and Alison Ventura. 2007. "Influences on the Development of Children's Eating Behaviours: From Infancy to Adolescence." *Canadian Journal of Dietetic Practice and Research : A Publication of Dietitians of Canada = Revue Canadienne de La Pratique et de La Recherche En Dietetique : Une Publication Des Dietetistes Du Canada* 68 (1): s1–56.
- Birch, L.L., and A. K. Ventura. 2009. "Preventing Childhood Obesity: What Works?" *International Journal* of Obesity (2005) 33 Suppl 1 (April): S74-81. https://doi.org/10.1038/ijo.2009.22.
- Black, L., K. Matvienko-Sikar, and P. M. Kearney. 2017. "The Association between Childcare Arrangements and Risk of Overweight and Obesity in Childhood: A Systematic Review." Obesity Reviews: An Official Journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity 18 (10): 1170–90. https://doi.org/10.1111/obr.12575.
- Boeing, Heiner, Angela Bechthold, Achim Bub, Sabine Ellinger, Dirk Haller, Anja Kroke, Eva Leschik-Bonnet, et al. 2012. "Critical Review: Vegetables and Fruit in the Prevention of Chronic Diseases." *European Journal of Nutrition* 51 (6): 637–63. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00394-012-0380-y.
- Braun, Virginia, and Victoria Clarke. 2013. *Successful Qualitative Research: A Practical Guide for Beginners*. SAGE Publications.
- Bryman, Alan. 2006. "Integrating Quantitative and Qualitative Research: How Is It Done?" *Qualitative Research* 6 (1): 97–113. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794106058877.
- Bushnik T. 2006. "Child Care in Canada." *Children and Youth Research Paper Series*. http://publications.gc.ca/Collection/Statcan/89-599-MIE/89-599-MIE2006003.pdf.
- Carruth, Betty Ruth, Paula J. Ziegler, Anne Gordon, and Susan I. Barr. 2004. "Prevalence of Picky Eaters among Infants and Toddlers and Their Caregivers' Decisions about Offering a New Food." *Journal of the American Dietetic Association* 104 (1 Suppl 1): s57-64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jada.2003.10.024.
- Carruth, B.R., F. Coletta, D. Ott, J. Iii. Moran, J. Skinner, and K. Houck. 1998. "The Phenomenon Of 'picky Eater': A Behavioral Marker in Eating Patterns of Toddlers." *Journal of the American College of Nutrition* 17 (2): 180–86.
- Centre for Disease Control and Prevention -Children Eating More Fruit, but Fruit and Vegetable Intake Still Too Low." 2014. CDC. January 1, 2016. http://www.cdc.gov/media/releases/2014/p0805fruits-vegetables.html.
- Chambers, L. 2017. "Childcare and Childhood Obesity What's the Risk?" *Nutrition Bulletin* 42 (1): 49–54. https://doi.org/10.1111/nbu.12248.

- Colquhoun, Heather L., Danielle Levac, Kelly K. O'Brien, Sharon Straus, Andrea C. Tricco, Laure Perrier, Monika Kastner, and David Moher. 2014. "Scoping Reviews: Time for Clarity in Definition, Methods, and Reporting." *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology* 67 (12):1291–94. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclinepi.2014.03.013.
- Cooke, L. 2007. "The Importance of Exposure for Healthy Eating in Childhood: A Review." *Journal of Human Nutrition and Dietetics: The Official Journal of the British Dietetic Association* 20 (4): 294–301. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-277X.2007.00804.x.
- Cooke, L. J., J. Wardle, E. L. Gibson, M. Sapochnik, A. Sheiham, and M. Lawson. 2004. "Demographic, Familial and Trait Predictors of Fruit and Vegetable Consumption by Pre-School Children." *Public Health Nutrition* 7 (2): 295–302. https://doi.org/10.1079/PHN2003527.
- Cooke, Lucy, Susan Carnell, and Jane Wardle. 2006. "Food Neophobia and Mealtime Food Consumption in 4–5 Year Old Children." *The International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity* 3 (July): 14. https://doi.org/10.1186/1479-5868-3-14.
- Cooke, Lucy J., and Jane Wardle. 2005. "Age and Gender Differences in Children's Food Preferences." British Journal of Nutrition 93 (5): 741–46. https://doi.org/10.1079/BJN20051389.
- Correia, Danielle C. S., Meghan O'Connell, Melinda L. Irwin, and Kathryn E. Henderson. 2014. "Pairing Vegetables with a Liked Food and Visually Appealing Presentation: Promising Strategies for Increasing Vegetable Consumption among Preschoolers." *Childhood Obesity* 10 (1): 72–76. https://doi.org/10.1089/chi.2013.0115.
- Cruess, Sylvia R., Richard L. Cruess, and Yvonne Steinert. 2008. "Role Modelling—making the Most of a Powerful Teaching Strategy." *BMJ* 336 (7646): 718–21. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.39503.757847.BE.
- Thomas, David R. 2006. "A General Inductive Approach for Analyzing Qualitative Evaluation Data." *American Journal of Evaluation* 27 (2): 237–46. https://doi.org/10.1177/1098214005283748.
- De Bock, Freia, Luise Breitenstein, and Joachim E. Fischer. 2012. "Positive Impact of a Pre-School-Based Nutritional Intervention on Children's Fruit and Vegetable Intake: Results of a Cluster-Randomized Trial." *Public Health Nutrition* 15 (3): 466–75. https://doi.org/10.1017/S136898001100200X.
- De Bock, Freia, Joachim E. Fischer, Kristina Hoffmann, and Herbert Renz-Polster. 2010. "A Participatory Parent-Focused Intervention Promoting Physical Activity in Preschools: Design of a Cluster-Randomized Trial." *BMC Public Health* 10 (January): 49. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-10-49.
- De Coen, Valerie, Ilse De Bourdeaudhuij, Carine Vereecken, Vera Verbestel, Leen Haerens, Inge Huybrechts, Wendy Van Lippevelde, and Lea Maes. 2012. "Effects of a 2-Year Healthy Eating and Physical Activity Intervention for 3-6-Year-Olds in Communities of High and Low Socio-Economic Status: The POP (Prevention of Overweight among Pre-School and School Children) Project." *Public Health Nutrition* 15 (9): 1737–45. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1368980012000687.
- Deeks, J. J., J. Dinnes, R. D'Amico, A. J. Sowden, C. Sakarovitch, F. Song, M. Petticrew, D. G. Altman, International Stroke Trial Collaborative Group, and European Carotid Surgery Trial Collaborative Group. 2003. "Evaluating Non-Randomised Intervention Studies." *Health Technology Assessment (Winchester, England)* 7 (27): iii–x, 1-173.
- Dillman, Don A., Jolene D. Smyth, and Leah Melani Christian. 2014. *Internet, Phone, Mail, and Mixed-Mode Surveys: The Tailored Design Method*. Wiley.
- Dovey, Terence M., Paul A. Staples, E. Leigh Gibson, and Jason C. G. Halford. 2008. "Food Neophobia and 'Picky/Fussy' Eating in Children: A Review." *Appetite* 50 (2–3): 181–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2007.09.009.
- Downs, Shauna M., Anna Farmer, Maira Quintanilha, Tanya R. Berry, Diana R. Mager, Noreen D. Willows, and Linda J. McCargar. 2011. "Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth: Awareness

and Use in Schools." *Canadian Journal of Dietetic Practice and Research* 72 (3): 137–40. https://doi.org/10.3148/72.3.2011.137.

- Dubois, Lise, Anna Farmer, Manon Girard, Daniel Burnier, and Marion Porcherie. 2011. "Demographic and Socio-Economic Factors Related to Food Intake and Adherence to Nutritional Recommendations in a Cohort of Pre-School Children." *Public Health Nutrition* 14 (6): 1096– 1104. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1368980010003769.
- Dubois, Lise, Anna Farmer, Manon Girard, Kelly Peterson, and Fabiola Tatone-Tokuda. 2007. "Problem Eating Behaviors Related to Social Factors and Body Weight in Preschool Children: A Longitudinal Study." *The International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity* 4 (April): 9. https://doi.org/10.1186/1479-5868-4-9.
- Dunn, Carolyn, Cathy Thomas, Dianne Ward, Kelly Webber, Courtney Cullitan, Leslie Pegram, and Kelly Webber. 2006. "Design and Implementation of a Nutrition and Physical Activity Curriculum for Child Care Settings." *Preventing Chronic Disease* 3 (2). http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1563947/.
- Erinosho, Temitope, L. Beth Dixon, Candace Young, Laurie Miller Brotman, and Laura L. Hayman. 2011.
- "Nutrition Practices and Children's Dietary Intakes at 40 Child-Care Centers in New York City." Journal of the American Dietetic Association 111 (9): 1391–97. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jada.2011.06.001.
- Erinosho, Temitope O., Derek P. Hales, Christina P. McWilliams, Josie Emunah, and Dianne Stanton Ward. 2012. "Nutrition Policies at Child-Care Centers and Impact on Role Modeling of Healthy Eating Behaviors of Caregivers." *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics* 112 (1): 119– 24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jada.2011.08.048.
- Farmer, A, MR Lima do Vale, S Tyminski, C Basualdo-Hammond, B Goodine, S Lopresti, A Arguelles, L Lafave, Health Eating Environments in Childcares (HEECC), and Provincial Advisory Committee.
 2016. "Food Literacy in Childcares: Summary Report." Red Deer, Alberta. https://obrieniph.ucalgary.ca/system/files/basualdo-food-literacy-report_final-may-25-2016.pdf.
- Farmer, Anna, J. Desautels, and L. Wickens-Westcott. 2014. "Assessment of Child Care Providers' Needs to Support Healthy Eating Environments in Child Care."
- Federal Interagency Forum on Child and, and Family Statistics. 2016. "America's Children in Brief: Key National Indicators of Well-Being, 2016." Washington, DC: US: Government Printing Office. https://www.childstats.gov/pdf/ac2016/ac_16.pdf.
- Fetters, Michael D, Leslie A Curry, and John W Creswell. 2013. "Achieving Integration in Mixed Methods Designs—Principles and Practices." *Health Services Research* 48 (6 Pt 2): 2134–56. https://doi.org/10.1111/1475-6773.12117.
- Fildes, Alison, Cornelia HM van Jaarsveld, Lucy Cooke, Jane Wardle, and Clare H Llewellyn. 2016. "Common Genetic Architecture Underlying Young Children's Food Fussiness and Liking for Vegetables and fruit." *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 103 (4): 1099–1104. https://doi.org/10.3945/ajcn.115.122945.
- Fitzgerald, Nurgul, and Kim Spaccarotella. 2009. "Barriers to a Healthy Lifestyle: From Individuals to Public Policy—An Ecological Perspective." *Journal of Extension* 47 (1). https://www.joe.org/joe/2009february/a3.php.
- Fitzgibbon, Marian L., Melinda R. Stolley, Linda A. Schiffer, Carol L. Braunschweig, Sandra L. Gomez, Linda Van Horn, and Alan R. Dyer. 2011. "Hip-Hop to Health Jr. Obesity Prevention Effectiveness Trial: Postintervention Results." *Obesity (Silver Spring, Md.)* 19 (5): 994–1003. https://doi.org/10.1038/oby.2010.314.

- Freedman, David S., Laura Kettel Khan, Mary K. Serdula, William H. Dietz, Sathanur R. Srinivasan, and Gerald S. Berenson. 2005. "The Relation of Childhood BMI to Adult Adiposity: The Bogalusa Heart Study." *Pediatrics* 115 (1): 22–27. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2004-0220.
- Freedman, Marjorie R., and Karina P. Alvarez. 2010. "Early Childhood Feeding: Assessing Knowledge, Attitude, and Practices of Multi-Ethnic Child-Care Providers." *Journal of the American Dietetic Association* 110 (3): 447–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jada.2009.11.018.
- Fuller, Carrie, Loree Keller, Jennie Olson, and Alicia Plymale. 2005. "Helping Preschoolers Become Healthy Eaters." Journal of Pediatric Health Care: Official Publication of National Association of Pediatric Nurse Associates & Practitioners 19 (3): 178–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pedhc.2005.03.007.
- Fung, Christina, Jessie-Lee D. McIsaac, Stefan Kuhle, Sara F. L. Kirk, and Paul J. Veugelers. 2013. "The Impact of a Population-Level School Food and Nutrition Policy on Dietary Intake and Body Weights of Canadian Children." *Preventive Medicine* 57 (6): 934–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2013.07.016.
- Ganann, Rebecca, Donna Ciliska, and Helen Thomas. 2010. "Expediting Systematic Reviews: Methods and Implications of Rapid Reviews." *Implementation Science : IS* 5 (July): 56. https://doi.org/10.1186/1748-5908-5-56.
- Garriguet D. 2004. "Overview of Canadians' Eating Habits." Statistics Canada Health Statistics Division.
- Gilmore, Gary D., and M. Donald Campbell. 2005. *Needs and Capacity Assessment Strategies for Health Education and Health Promotion*. Jones & Bartlett Learning.
- Glanz, Karen, Barbara K. Rimer, and K. Viswanath. 2008. *Health Behavior and Health Education: Theory, Research, and Practice*. John Wiley & Sons.
- Gosliner WA, James P, Yancey AK, Ritchie L, Studer N, and Crawford PB. 2010. "Impact of a Worksite Wellness Program on the Nutrition and Physical Activity Environment of Child Care Centers." *American Journal of Health Promotion* 24 (3): 186–189 4p. https://doi.org/10.4278/ajhp.08022719.
- Government of Alberta. 2011. "Child Care Licensing Act."

http://www.qp.alberta.ca/1266.cfm?page=2008_143.cfm&leg_type=Regs&isbncln=9780779738 724&display=html.

- ———. 2012. "Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth." http://www.health.alberta.ca/documents/Nutrition-Guidelines-AB-Children-Youth.pdf.
- ———. 2016. "CHILD CARE LICENSING REGULATION." Alberta Queen's Printer. http://www.qp.alberta.ca/1266.cfm?page=2008_143.cfm&leg_type=Regs&isbncln=9780779735 570.
- Government of Canada, Health Canada. 2007. "Eating Well with Canada's Food Guide [Health Canada, 2007]." Publication. February 5, 2007. http://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/fn-an/food-guide-aliment/order-commander/eating_well_bien_manger-eng.php.
- Government of Canada, Statistics Canada. 2002. "Statistics: Power from Data! Frequency Distribution Tables." July 31, 2002. http://www.statcan.gc.ca/edu/power-pouvoir/ch8/5214814-eng.htm.
- Grant, Maria J., and Andrew Booth. 2009. "A Typology of Reviews: An Analysis of 14 Review Types and Associated Methodologies." *Health Information and Libraries Journal* 26 (2): 91–108. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-1842.2009.00848.x.
- Grimm, Pamela. 2010. "Social Desirability Bias." In *Wiley International Encyclopedia of Marketing*. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781444316568.wiem02057.

- Gurnani, Muskaan, Catherine Birken, and Jill Hamilton. 2015. "Childhood Obesity: Causes, Consequences, and Management." *Pediatric Clinics of North America* 62 (4): 821–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pcl.2015.04.001.
- Hardy, Louise L., Lesley King, Bridget Kelly, Louise Farrell, and Sarah Howlett. 2010. "Munch and Move: Evaluation of a Preschool Healthy Eating and Movement Skill Program." *The International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity* 7: 80. https://doi.org/10.1186/1479-5868-7-80.
- Harnack, Lisa J., J. Michael Oakes, Simone A. French, Sarah A. Rydell, Farhiyah M. Farah, and Gretchen L. Taylor. 2012. "Results from an Experimental Trial at a Head Start Center to Evaluate Two Meal Service Approaches to Increase Fruit and Vegetable Intake of Preschool Aged Children." *The International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity* 9: 51. https://doi.org/10.1186/1479-5868-9-51.
- Harris, Paul A., Robert Taylor, Robert Thielke, Jonathon Payne, Nathaniel Gonzalez, and Jose G. Conde.
 2009. "Research Electronic Data Capture (REDCap)--a Metadata-Driven Methodology and
 Workflow Process for Providing Translational Research Informatics Support." Journal of
 Biomedical Informatics 42 (2): 377–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbi.2008.08.010.
- Hendy, H. M., and B. Raudenbush. 2000. "Effectiveness of Teacher Modeling to Encourage Food Acceptance in Preschool Children." *Appetite* 34 (1): 61–76. https://doi.org/10.1006/appe.1999.0286.
- Hennessy, Erin, Sheryl O. Hughes, Jeanne P. Goldberg, Raymond R. Hyatt, and Christina D. Economos.
 2012. "Permissive Parental Feeding Behavior Is Associated with an Increase in Intake of Low-Nutrient-Dense Foods among American Children Living in Rural Communities." *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics* 112 (1): 142–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jada.2011.08.030.
- Hill, James O., Holly R. Wyatt, and John C. Peters. 2012. "Energy Balance and Obesity." *Circulation* 126 (1): 126–32. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.111.087213.
- Hingle, Melanie D., Teresia M. O'Connor, Jayna M. Dave, and Tom Baranowski. 2010. "Parental Involvement in Interventions to Improve Child Dietary Intake: A Systematic Review." *Preventive Medicine* 51 (2): 103–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2010.04.014.
- Horne, Pauline J., Janette Greenhalgh, Mihela Erjavec, C. Fergus Lowe, Simon Viktor, and Chris J.
 Whitaker. 2011. "Increasing Pre-School Children's Consumption of Fruit and Vegetables. A Modelling and Rewards Intervention." *Appetite* 56 (2): 375–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2010.11.146.
- Hsieh, Hsiu-Fang, and Sarah E. Shannon. 2005. "Three Approaches to Qualitative Content Analysis." *Qualitative Health Research* 15 (9): 1277–88. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732305276687.
- Hughes, Sheryl O., Heather Patrick, Thomas G. Power, Jennifer O. Fisher, Cheryl B. Anderson, and Theresa A. Nicklas. 2007. "The Impact of Child Care Providers' Feeding on Children's Food Consumption." *Journal of Developmental and Behavioral Pediatrics: JDBP* 28 (2): 100–107. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.DBP.0000267561.34199.a9.
- Hughes, Sheryl O., Thomas G. Power, Jennifer Orlet Fisher, Stephen Mueller, and Theresa A. Nicklas.
 2005. "Revisiting a Neglected Construct: Parenting Styles in a Child-Feeding Context." *Appetite* 44 (1): 83–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2004.08.007.
- Khangura, Sara, Kristin Konnyu, Rob Cushman, Jeremy Grimshaw, and David Moher. 2012. "Evidence Summaries: The Evolution of a Rapid Review Approach." *Systematic Reviews* 1: 10. https://doi.org/10.1186/2046-4053-1-10.
- Klint, Kimberley A., and Maureen R. Weiss. 1987. "Perceived Competence and Motives for Participating in Youth Sports: A Test of Harter's Competence Motivation Theory." *Journal of Sport Psychology* 9 (1): 55–65. https://doi.org/10.1123/jsp.9.1.55.

- Kondracki, Nancy L., Nancy S. Wellman, and Daniel R. Amundson. 2002. "Content Analysis: Review of Methods and Their Applications in Nutrition Education." *Journal of Nutrition Education and Behavior* 34 (4): 224–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1499-4046(06)60097-3.
- Kong, Angela, Joanna Buscemi, Melinda R. Stolley, Linda A. Schiffer, Yoonsang Kim, Carol L.
 Braunschweig, Sandra L. Gomez-Perez, et al. 2016. "Hip-Hop to Health Jr. Randomized
 Effectiveness Trial 1-Year Follow-up Results." *American Journal of Preventive Medicine* 50 (2): 136–44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2015.07.008.
- Kremers, Stef P. J., Johannes Brug, Hein de Vries, and Rutger C. M. E. Engels. 2003. "Parenting Style and Adolescent Fruit Consumption." *Appetite* 41 (1): 43–50.
- Kwon, Kyung Min, Jae Eun Shim, Minji Kang, and Hee-Young Paik. 2017. "Association between Picky Eating Behaviors and Nutritional Status in Early Childhood: Performance of a Picky Eating Behavior Questionnaire." *Nutrients* 9 (5). https://doi.org/10.3390/nu9050463.
- Lange, Paul A. M. Van, Arie W. Kruglanski, and E. Tory Higgins. 2011. *Handbook of Theories of Social Psychology: Collection: Volumes 1 & 2.* SAGE.
- Lanigan, Jane D. 2012. "The Relationship between Practices and Child Care Providers' Beliefs Related to Child Feeding and Obesity Prevention." *Journal of Nutrition Education and Behavior* 44 (6): 521– 29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneb.2011.07.008.
- Larson, Nicole, Dianne S. Ward, Sara Benjamin Neelon, and Mary Story. 2011. "What Role Can Child-Care Settings Play in Obesity Prevention? A Review of the Evidence and Call for Research Efforts." *Journal of the American Dietetic Association* 111 (9): 1343–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jada.2011.06.007.
- Levac, Danielle, Heather Colquhoun, and Kelly K O'Brien. 2010. "Scoping Studies: Advancing the Methodology." *Implementation Science : IS* 5 (September):69. https://doi.org/10.1186/1748-5908-5-69.
- Liberati, Alessandro, Douglas G. Altman, Jennifer Tetzlaff, Cynthia Mulrow, Peter C. Gøtzsche, John P. A. Ioannidis, Mike Clarke, P. J. Devereaux, Jos Kleijnen, and David Moher. 2009. "The PRISMA Statement for Reporting Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses of Studies That Evaluate Healthcare Interventions: Explanation and Elaboration." *BMJ* 339 (July): b2700. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.b2700.
- Lock, Karen, Joceline Pomerleau, Louise Causer, Dan R. Altmann, and Martin McKee. 2005. "The Global Burden of Disease Attributable to Low Consumption of Fruit and Vegetables: Implications for the Global Strategy on Diet." *Bulletin of the World Health Organization* 83 (2): 100–108. https://doi.org//S0042-96862005000200010.
- Lumeng, Julie C., Margot Kaplan-Sanoff, Steve Shuman, and Srimathi Kannan. 2008. "Head Start Teachers' Perceptions of Children's Eating Behavior and Weight Status in the Context of Food Scarcity." *Journal of Nutrition Education and Behavior* 40 (4): 237–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneb.2007.07.001.
- Markides, Brittany Reese, Sylvia Hurd Crixell, Courtney Thompson, and Lesli Biediger-Friedman. 2017. "Staff Workshop Improves Child Care Center Menus in South Central Texas: A Best Food for Families, Infants, and Toddlers (Best Food FITS) Intervention." *Journal of Nutrition Education and Behavior* 49 (5): 435–440.e1. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneb.2017.02.002.
- McLeroy, K. R., D. Bibeau, A. Steckler, and K. Glanz. 1988. "An Ecological Perspective on Health Promotion Programs." *Health Education Quarterly* 15 (4): 351–77.
- Mikkelsen, Mette V, Sofie Husby, Laurits R Skov, and Federico JA Perez-Cueto. 2014. "A Systematic Review of Types of Healthy Eating Interventions in Preschools." *Nutrition Journal* 13 (1): 56. https://doi.org/10.1186/1475-2891-13-56.
- Mikkilä, V., L. Räsänen, O. T. Raitakari, P. Pietinen, and J. Viikari. 2004. "Longitudinal Changes in Diet from Childhood into Adulthood with Respect to Risk of Cardiovascular Diseases: The

Cardiovascular Risk in Young Finns Study." *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 58 (7): 1038–45. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.ejcn.1601929.

- Mytton, Oliver T., Kelechi Nnoaham, Helen Eyles, Peter Scarborough, and Cliona Ni Mhurchu. 2014. "Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of the Effect of Increased Vegetable and Fruit Consumption on Body Weight and Energy Intake." *BMC Public Health* 14 (August): 886. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-14-886.
- Natale, Ruby, Stephanie Hapeman Scott, Sarah E. Messiah, Maria Mesa Schrack, Susan B. Uhlhorn, and Alan Delamater. 2013. "Design and Methods for Evaluating an Early Childhood Obesity Prevention Program in the Childcare Center Setting." *BMC Public Health* 13: 78. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-13-78.
- Natale, Ruby A., Gabriela Lopez-Mitnik, Susan B. Uhlhorn, Lila Asfour, and Sarah E. Messiah. 2014. "Effect of a Child Care Center-Based Obesity Prevention Program on Body Mass Index and Nutrition Practices among Preschool-Aged Children." *Health Promotion Practice* 15 (5): 695–705. https://doi.org/10.1177/1524839914523429.
- Natale, Ruby A., Sarah E. Messiah, Lila Asfour, Susan B. Uhlhorn, Alan Delamater, and Kris L. Arheart.
 2014. "Role Modeling as an Early Childhood Obesity Prevention Strategy: Effect of Parents and Teachers on Preschool Children's Healthy Lifestyle Habits." *Journal of Developmental and Behavioral Pediatrics : JDBP* 35 (6): 378–87. https://doi.org/10.1097/DBP.000000000000074.
- Natale, Ruby A., Sarah E. Messiah, Lila S. Asfour, Susan B. Uhlhorn, Nicole E. Englebert, and Kristopher L. Arheart. 2016. "Obesity Prevention Program in Childcare Centers: Two-Year Follow-Up." *American Journal of Health Promotion: AJHP*, September. https://doi.org/10.1177/0890117116661156.
- Needham, Lisa, John J. M. Dwyer, Janis Randall-Simpson, and Elizabeth Shaver Heeney. 2007.
 "Supporting Healthy Eating among Preschoolers: Challenges for Child Care Staff." Canadian Journal of Dietetic Practice and Research: A Publication of Dietitians of Canada = Revue Canadienne De La Pratique Et De La Recherche En Diététique: Une Publication Des Diététistes Du Canada 68 (2): 107–10. https://doi.org/10.3148/68.2.2007.107.
- Nicklas, Ta, T Baranowski, Jc Baranowski, K Cullen, L Rittenberry, and N Olvera. 2001. "Family and Child-Care Provider Influences on Preschool Children's Fruit, Juice, and Vegetable Consumption." *NUTRITION REVIEWS* 59 (7): 224–35.
- Nikolopoulos, Hara. 2012. "Adoption of the Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth: Assessing Organizational Behaviour Change in Childcare Organizations." Edmonton, Canada: University of Alberta. https://era.library.ualberta.ca/files/k06987717#.WZXJOVWGMdU.
- Nikolopoulos, Hara, Anna Farmer, Tanya R. Berry, Linda J. McCargar, and Diana R. Mager. 2012. "Perceptions of the Characteristics of the Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth by Child Care Providers May Influence Early Adoption of Nutrition Guidelines in Child Care Centres." *Maternal & Child Nutrition* 11 (2): 271–82. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1740-8709.2012.00460.x.
- Nyaradi, Anett, Jianghong Li, Jonathan K. Foster, Siobhan Hickling, Angela Jacques, Therese A. O'Sullivan, and Wendy H. Oddy. 2016. "Good-Quality Diet in the Early Years May Have a Positive Effect on Academic Achievement." *Acta Paediatrica (Oslo, Norway: 1992)* 105 (5): e209-218. https://doi.org/10.1111/apa.13324.
- Nyaradi, Anett, Jianghong Li, Siobhan Hickling, Andrew J. O. Whitehouse, Jonathan K. Foster, and Wendy H. Oddy. 2013. "Diet in the Early Years of Life Influences Cognitive Outcomes at 10 Years: A Prospective Cohort Study." *Acta Paediatrica (Oslo, Norway: 1992)* 102 (12): 1165–73. https://doi.org/10.1111/apa.12363.
- O'Connell, Meghan L., Kathryn E. Henderson, Joerg Luedicke, and Marlene B. Schwartz. 2012. "Repeated Exposure in a Natural Setting: A Preschool Intervention to Increase Vegetable Consumption."

Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics 112 (2): 230–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jada.2011.10.003.

- Onis, Mercedes de, Monika Blössner, and Elaine Borghi. 2010. "Global Prevalence and Trends of Overweight and Obesity among Preschool Children." *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 92 (5): 1257–64. https://doi.org/10.3945/ajcn.2010.29786.
- Patton, M Q. 1999. "Enhancing the Quality and Credibility of Qualitative Analysis." *Health Services Research* 34 (5 Pt 2): 1189–1208.
- Pawson, Ray, Trisha Greenhalgh, Gill Harvey, and Kieran Walshe. 2005. "Realist Review--a New Method of Systematic Review Designed for Complex Policy Interventions." *Journal of Health Services Research & Policy* 10 Suppl 1 (July): 21–34. https://doi.org/10.1258/1355819054308530.
- Quintanilha, Maira, Shauna Downs, Jessica Lieffers, Tanya Berry, Anna Farmer, and Linda J. McCargar.
 2013. "Factors and Barriers Associated with Early Adoption of Nutrition Guidelines in Alberta, Canada." *Journal of Nutrition Education and Behavior* 45 (6): 510–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneb.2013.04.002.
- Sahoo, Krushnapriya, Bishnupriya Sahoo, Ashok Kumar Choudhury, Nighat Yasin Sofi, Raman Kumar, and Ajeet Singh Bhadoria. 2015. "Childhood Obesity: Causes and Consequences." *Journal of Family Medicine and Primary Care* 4 (2): 187–92. https://doi.org/10.4103/2249-4863.154628.
- Sallis, James F., Neville Owen, and Edwin B Fisher. 2008. "Ecological Models of Health Behavior." In Health Behavior and Health Education: Theory, Research, and Practice, 4th ed., 468–82. San Francisco, USA: Jossey-Bass.
- Schwartz, Marlene B., Meghan O'Connell, Kathryn E. Henderson, Ann E. Middleton, and Stephanie Scarmo. 2015. "Testing Variations on Family-Style Feeding To Increase Whole Fruit and Vegetable Consumption among Preschoolers in Child Care." *Childhood Obesity (Print)* 11 (5): 499–505. https://doi.org/10.1089/chi.2015.0038.
- Sharma, Shreela, Katherine Skala Dortch, Courtney Byrd-Williams, Jeanette B. Truxillio, Gulshan A. Rahman, Pamela Bonsu, and Deanna Hoelscher. 2013. "Nutrition-Related Knowledge, Attitudes, and Dietary Behaviors among Head Start Teachers in Texas: A Cross-Sectional Study." Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics 113 (4): 558–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jand.2013.01.003.
- Shewring, Tania. 2016. "How Do Educators and Policies Perceptions of and Influence on Healthy Eating-Active Living Environments for Preschool Children in Child Care." Edmonton, Canada: University of Alberta.
- Shim, Jae Eun, Juhee Kim, Yoonna Lee, and STRONG Kids Team. 2016. "Fruit and Vegetable Intakes of Preschool Children Are Associated With Feeding Practices Facilitating Internalization of Extrinsic Motivation." *Journal of Nutrition Education and Behavior* 48 (5): 311–317.e1. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneb.2016.01.003.
- Silva-Sanigorski, Andrea M de, A Colin Bell, Peter Kremer, Melanie Nichols, Maree Crellin, Michael Smith, Sharon Sharp, et al. 2010. "Reducing Obesity in Early Childhood: Results from Romp & Chomp, an Australian Community-Wide Intervention Program." *The American Journal Of Clinical Nutrition* 91 (4): 831–40. https://doi.org/10.3945/ajcn.2009.28826.
- Silva-Sanigorski, Andrea M. de, Andrew C. Bell, Peter Kremer, Janet Park, Lisa Demajo, Michael Smith, Sharon Sharp, et al. 2012. "Process and Impact Evaluation of the Romp & Chomp Obesity Prevention Intervention in Early Childhood Settings: Lessons Learned from Implementation in Preschools and Long Day Care Settings." *Childhood Obesity* 8 (3): 205–15. https://doi.org/10.1089/chi.2011.0118.
- Sinha, Marie. 2014. "Spotlight on Canadians: Results from the General Social Survey: Child Care in Canada," 1–11.

- Steckler, Allan, and Laura Linnan, eds. 2002a. *Process Evaluation for Public Health Interventions and Research*. 1 edition. Jossey-Bass.
- Steinmetz, K. A., and J. D. Potter. 1996. "Vegetables, Fruit, and Cancer Prevention: A Review." Journal of the American Dietetic Association 96 (10): 1027–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0002-8223(96)00273-8.
- Stokols, Daniel. 1996. "Translating Social Ecological Theory into Guidelines for Community Health Promotion." *American Journal of Health Promotion* 10 (4): 282–98. https://doi.org/10.4278/0890-1171-10.4.282.
- Story, Mary, Karen M. Kaphingst, and Simone French. 2006. "The Role of Child Care Settings in Obesity Prevention." *The Future of Children* 16 (1): 143–68.
- Sweitzer, Sara J., Margaret E. Briley, Cindy Roberts-Gray, Deanna M. Hoelscher, Ronald B. Harrist, Deanna M. Staskel, and Fawaz D. Almansour. 2010. "Lunch Is in the Bag: Increasing Fruits, Vegetables, and Whole Grains in Sack Lunches of Preschool-Aged Children." Journal of the American Dietetic Association 110 (7): 1058–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jada.2010.04.010.
- Taveras, Elsie M., Nancy LaPelle, Ruchi S. Gupta, and Jonathan A. Finkelstein. 2006. "Planning for Health Promotion in Low-Income Preschool Child Care Settings: Focus Groups of Parents and Child Care Providers." Ambulatory Pediatrics: The Official Journal of the Ambulatory Pediatric Association 6 (6): 342–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ambp.2006.07.004.
- Thomas, B. H., D. Ciliska, M. Dobbins, and S. Micucci. 2004. "A Process for Systematically Reviewing the Literature: Providing the Research Evidence for Public Health Nursing Interventions." Worldviews on Evidence-Based Nursing 1 (3): 176–84. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1524-475X.2004.04006.x.
- Tricco AC., EV. Langlois, SE. Straus, editors. "Rapid reviews to strengthen health policy and systems: a practical guide". Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.
- Tricco, Andrea C., Jesmin Antony, Wasifa Zarin, Lisa Strifler, Marco Ghassemi, John Ivory, Laure Perrier, Brian Hutton, David Moher, and Sharon E. Straus. 2015. "A Scoping Review of Rapid Review Methods." *BMC Medicine* 13 (September): 224. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12916-015-0465-6.
- USDA. 2010. "Dietary Guidelines for Americans 2010." https://www.cnpp.usda.gov/dietary-guidelines-2010.
- ———. 2017. "Child and Adult Care Food Program (CACFP)." March 29, 2017. https://www.fns.usda.gov/cacfp/child-and-adult-care-food-program.
- Vereecken, Carine, Inge Huybrechts, Hilde van Houte, Veerle Martens, Isabelle Wittebroodt, and Lea Maes. 2009. "Results from a Dietary Intervention Study in preschools 'Beastly Healthy at School.'" *International Journal of Public Health* 54 (3): 142–49. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00038-009-8028-2.
- Wild, V. de, C. de Graaf, and G. Jager. 2015. "Efficacy of Repeated Exposure and Flavour-Flavour Learning as Mechanisms to Increase Preschooler's Vegetable Intake and Acceptance." *Pediatric Obesity* 10 (3): 205–12. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijpo.244.
- Wild, Victoire W. T. de, Cees de Graaf, and Gerry Jager. 2013. "Effectiveness of Flavour Nutrient Learning and Mere Exposure as Mechanisms to Increase Toddler's Intake and Preference for Green Vegetables." *Appetite* 64 (May): 89–96. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2013.01.006.
- Williams, Christine L., Marguerite C. Bollella, Barbara A. Strobino, Arlene Spark, Theresa A. Nicklas, Laura B. Tolosi, and Brian P. Pittman. 2002. "'Healthy-Start': Outcome of an Intervention to Promote a Heart Healthy Diet in Preschool Children." *Journal of the American College of Nutrition* 21 (1): 62–71.
- Williams, Pamela A., Sheryl C. Cates, Jonathan L. Blitstein, James Hersey, Vivian Gabor, Melanie Ball, Katherine Kosa, Hoke Wilson, Sara Olson, and Anita Singh. 2014. "Nutrition-Education Program

Improves Preschoolers' at-Home Diet: A Group Randomized Trial." *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics* 114 (7): 1001–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jand.2014.01.015.

- Williamson, Donald A., Hongmei Han, William D. Johnson, Corby K. Martin, and Robert L. Newton. 2013.
 "Modification of the School Cafeteria Environment Can Impact Childhood Nutrition. Results from the Wise Mind and LA Health Studies." *Appetite* 61 (1): 77–84. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2012.11.002.
- Witt, Kendra E., and Carolyn Dunn. 2012. "Increasing Fruit and Vegetable Consumption among Preschoolers: Evaluation of Color Me Healthy." *Journal of Nutrition Education and Behavior* 44 (2): 107–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneb.2011.01.002.
- Wolfenden, Luke, Rebecca Wyse, Elizabeth Campbell, Leah Brennan, Karen J. Campbell, Amanda Fletcher, John Wiggers, Jenny Bowman, and Todd R. Heard. 2014. "Randomized Controlled Trial of a Telephone-Based Intervention for Child Fruit and Vegetable Intake: Long-Term Follow-Up." *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 99 (3): 543–50. https://doi.org/10.3945/ajcn.113.071738.
- Zajonc, Robert B. 1968. "Attitudinal Effects of Mere Exposure." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 9 (2p2): 1. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0025848.
- Zask, Avigdor, Jillian Kaye Adams, Lyndon Owen Brooks, and Denise Frances Hughes. 2012. "Tooty Fruity Vegie: An Obesity Prevention Intervention Evaluation in Australian Preschools." *Health Promotion Journal of Australia: Official Journal of Australian Association of Health Promotion Professionals* 23 (1): 10–15.

Appendices

Appendix A – Study invitations

a. Invitation for Child Care Educators, Directors and Parents



Parents Child Care Educators Directors

we want to hear from you!

About the promotion of healthy eating in child care

We are creating a program for the promotion of healthy eating in child care and we would like to hear about your recommendations and how child care can become a better place for the promotion of healthy eating habits to children.

Participation consist in answering a 20-minutes online survey You will receive \$10 gift card for your participation

Directors and Educators if you have more than 3 months working in child care you are eligible to participate

We would love to hear what you are thinking!

For more information access: https://is.gd/healthyeating Contact: Alejandra Arguelles aarguell@ualberta.ca **b.** Invitation for Dietitians



Dietitians working in child care

we want to hear from you!

About the promotion of healthy eating in child care

We are creating a program for the promotion of healthy eating in child care and we would like to hear about your recommendations and how child care can become a better place for the promotion of healthy eating habits to children.

Participation consist in answering a 20-minutes online survey You will receive \$10 gift card for your participation

If you have more than 3 months working in child care you are eligible to participate

We would love to hear what you are thinking!

For more details, please read the Information Letter or contact: Alejandra Arguelles <u>aarguell@ualberta.ca</u> c. Invitations for experts



We want to hear from you!

About the promotion of healthy eating in child care

Experts in the child care setting working in academia or government

We are creating a program for the promotion of healthy eating in child care and we would like to hear about your recommendations and how child care can become a better place for the promotion of healthy eating habits to children.

Participation consist in answering a 20-minutes online survey You will receive \$10 gift card for your participation

We would love to hear what you are thinking!

For more details, please read the Information Letter or contact: Alejandra Arguelles <u>aarguell@ualberta.ca</u>

Appendix B – Information Letters

a. Information Letter for Child Care Centres

An educational program to increase child care educators' knowledge, skills and self-efficacy in the promotion of healthy eating in child cares

Dear director,

Thank you in advance for taking the time to read this letter. This will inform you of an opportunity as a child care centre to take part in a research study to develop a nutrition program for child care educators.

Why is the study being done? The purpose of the study is to develop an educational program to increase child care educators' knowledge, skills and self-efficacy in the promotion of healthy eating among children in child care. Results of this study will be of benefit to educators in their promotion of healthy eating.

What do we want to know? We want to know child care educators, directors and parents' recommendations for child care educators' educational needs in the promotion of healthy eating.

What do I have to do? We would like to ask for your help to invite child care educators, directors and parents at your centre to participate in our study. If you agree, we would like to ask you to send an email with an invitation and a survey link to directors, educators and parents. Participation in this study will involve contributing to a 20-minute online survey.

What are the benefits? By participating in this study you will help to the research conducted in healthy eating in child care, and you will contribute to the improvement of the food environment in this setting. After the completion of the survey participants will be offered a \$10 dollar gift card for participating in the study. Other than the gift card there is no other benefit from participating in the study. There is no cost associated with being part of this study.

Are there any risks? There are no risks associated with taking part in this study. Your child care is under no obligation to participate in this study.

Is it Confidential? All the survey responses will be anonymized and no link between the responses and the child care centre will be made. You and your child care centre's name will NOT be personally identified in any publications or presentations from this study. Data will be kept confidential by the researchers and will be stored on a password protected computer in a locked office at the University of Alberta. The researcher and the Research Ethics Committee of the University of Alberta will be the only ones with access to the data. After the completion of

the study the data will be kept in a data repository in a lock office of the University of Alberta. The data gathered in this study may be used in future research but if so, it will have to be approved by a Research Ethics Board; only the anonymized data will be used and none of the identifiable information will kept for this purpose.

Can I withdraw from the study? The participation is completely voluntary. You can opt out without penalty. Even if you agree that your centre participate in the study you can change your mind and withdraw at any time. If you wish to withdraw from the study, please tell one of the researchers.

Results of this study will be included in a Master of Science thesis prepared by Alejandra Arguelles, one of the students researchers. The findings may be submitted for publishing. If you are interested in receiving a finalized version of the report you may indicate so at the beginning of the study by informing the researchers.

The plan for this study has been reviewed for its adherence to ethical guidelines by a Research Ethics Board at the University of Alberta. For questions regarding participant rights and ethical conduct of research, contact the Research Ethics Office at (780) 492-2615. If you have concerns about this study, you may contact the Research Ethics Office. This office has no direct involvement with this project.

If you have any further questions regarding this study, please do not hesitate to contact Alejandra Arguelles.

Your contribution to this study will be much appreciated.

Researcher:

Alejandra Arguelles, MSc Candidate 4-398 Edmonton Clinic Health Academy University of Alberta Edmonton, AB <u>aarguell@ualberta.ca</u>

W: 587-937-5054

Supervisor:

Anna Farmer, PhD, MPH, RD 4-370 Edmonton Clinic Health Academy University of Alberta Edmonton, AB <u>anna.farmer@ualberta.ca</u>

W: 780-492-2693
Consent Statement

I have read this form and the research study has been explained to me. I have been given the opportunity to ask questions and my questions have been answered. If I have additional questions, I have been told whom to contact. I agree to participate in the research study described above and will receive a copy of this consent form. I will receive a copy of this consent form after I sign it.

Child Care Director Name (printed) and Signature	Date

Name (printed) and Signature of Researcher

Date

b. Information Letter for Parents, Child Care Educators and Directors

An educational program to increase child care educators' knowledge, skills and self-efficacy in the promotion of healthy eating in child cares

Dear _____,

Thank you in advance for taking the time to read this letter. This letter will inform you of an opportunity as a (child care educator/child care director/parent) to take part in a research study to develop a nutrition educational program for child care educators.

Why is the study being done? The purpose of the study is to develop an educational program to increase child care educators' knowledge, skills and self-efficacy in the promotion of healthy eating among children in the child care setting. Results of this study will be of benefit to child care educators in their promotion of healthy eating in child care

What do we want to know? We want to know your recommendations for child care educators' educational needs in the promotion of healthy eating in child care.

What do I have to do? Participation in this study will involve contributing to a 20-minute online survey. You will answer a survey to tell us about your nutrition-related recommendations and priorities for child care educator's educational needs, your answers about this topic will help us to develop an educational program for child care educators in healthy eating promotion. We will ask you to provide your email address in the survey (optional) with the purpose to identify your survey in case you desire to withdraw from the study, and to provide you with an incentive.

What are the benefits? After the completion of the survey you will be offered a \$10 dollar coffee shop electronic gift card for participating in the study, by accepting the gift card you will be giving permission to transfer your email address to the vendor in order to receive the electronic gift card. If you do not accept the gift card, your email address will not be sent to the vendor. Other than the gift card there is no other benefit from participating in the study. There is no cost associated with being part of this study.

Are there any risks? There are no risks associated with taking part in this study. If you feel uncomfortable in answering a question you may not answer. You do not need to answer all the survey's questions in order to receive the gift card.

Is it confidential? Your responses will be confidential; all survey data will be anonymized. You and your responses will NOT be personally identified in any publications or presentations from this study. Data will be kept confidential by the researchers and will be stored on a password protected computer in a locked office at the University of Alberta. The researcher and the Research Ethics Committee of the University of Alberta will be the only ones with access to the data. After the completion of the study the data will be kept in a data repository in a lock office of the University of Alberta. The research but if so, it will have to be approved by a Research Ethics Board; only the anonymized data will be used and none of the identifiable information will kept for this purpose.

Can I withdraw from the study? The participation is completely voluntary. You can opt out without penalty. Even if you agree to be in the study you can change your mind and withdraw at any time. However, you can only withdraw from the study if you provide your email address (optional) in the

survey. Information can be withdrawn before the data is analysed, the last day to withdraw from the study will be May 15, 2017. If you desire to withdraw from the study you will still receive the electronic gift card.

Results of this study will be included in a Master of Science thesis prepared by Alejandra Arguelles, one of the student researchers. The findings may be submitted for publishing. If you are interested in receiving a finalized version of the report you may indicate so at the beginning of the study by informing the study personnel by email.

The plan for this study has been reviewed for its adherence to ethical guidelines by a Research Ethics Board at the University of Alberta. For questions regarding participant rights and ethical conduct of research, contact the Research Ethics Office at (780) 492-2615. If you have concerns about this study, you may contact the Research Ethics Office. This office has no direct involvement with this project.

If you have any further questions regarding this study, please do not hesitate to contact Alejandra Arguelles.

Your contribution to this study will be much appreciated.

Researcher:

Supervisor:

Alejandra Arguelles, MSc Candidate 4-398 Edmonton Clinic Health Academy University of Alberta Edmonton, AB <u>aarguell@ualberta.ca</u> <u>W: 587-937-5054</u> Anna Farmer, PhD, MPH, RD wing 4-370 Edmonton Clinic Health Academy University of Alberta Edmonton, AB <u>anna.farmer@ualberta.ca</u> W: 780-492-2693

If you agree to participate in the study, please access to the survey by clicking following URL link:

https://is.gd/healthyeating

If clicking the URL link does not work, please 'Copy' the URL link and 'Paste' it into the address bar in your web browser.

c. Information Letter for Dietitians

An educational program to increase child care educators' knowledge, skills and self-efficacy in the promotion of healthy eating in child cares

Dear dietitian,

Thank you in advance for taking the time to read this letter. This letter will inform you of an opportunity as a dietitian to take part in a research study to develop a nutrition educational program for child care educators.

Why is the study being done? The purpose of the study is to develop an educational program to increase child care educators' knowledge, skills and self-efficacy in the promotion of healthy eating among children in the child care setting. Results of this study will be of benefit to child care educators in their promotion of healthy eating in child care

What do we want to know? We want to know your recommendations for child care educators' educational needs in the promotion of healthy eating in child care.

What do I have to do? Participation in this study will involve contributing to a 20-minute online survey. You will answer a survey to tell us about your nutrition-related recommendations and priorities for child care educator's educational needs, your answers about this topic will help us to develop an educational program for child care educators in healthy eating promotion. We will ask you to provide your email address in the survey (optional) with the purpose to identify your survey in case you desire to withdraw from the study, and to provide you with an incentive.

What are the benefits? After the completion of the survey you will be offered a \$10 dollar coffee shop electronic gift card for participating in the study, by accepting the gift card you will be giving permission to transfer your email address to the vendor in order to receive the electronic gift card. If you do not accept the gift card, your email address will not be sent to the vendor. Other than the gift card there is no other benefit from participating in the study. There is no cost associated with being part of this study.

Are there any risks? There are no risks associated with taking part in this study. If you feel uncomfortable in answering a question you may not answer. You do not need to answer all the survey's questions in order to receive the gift card.

Is it confidential? Your responses will be confidential; all survey data will be anonymized. You and your responses will NOT be personally identified in any publications or presentations from this study. Data will be kept confidential by the researchers and will be stored on a password protected computer in a locked office at the University of Alberta. The researcher and the Research Ethics Committee of the University of Alberta will be the only ones with access to the data. After the completion of the study the data will be kept in a data repository in a lock office of the University of Alberta. The research but if so, it will have to be approved by a Research Ethics Board; only the anonymized data will be used and none of the identifiable information will kept for this purpose.

Can I withdraw from the study? The participation is completely voluntary. You can opt out without penalty. Even if you agree to be in the study you can change your mind and withdraw at any time.

However, you can only withdraw from the study if you provide your email address (optional) in the survey. Information can be withdrawn before the data is analysed, the last day to withdraw from the study will be May 15, 2017. If you desire to withdraw from the study you will still receive the electronic gift card.

Results of this study will be included in a Master of Science thesis prepared by Alejandra Arguelles, one of the student researchers. The findings may be submitted for publishing. If you are interested in receiving a finalized version of the report you may indicate so at the beginning of the study by informing the study personnel by email.

The plan for this study has been reviewed for its adherence to ethical guidelines by a Research Ethics Board at the University of Alberta. For questions regarding participant rights and ethical conduct of research, contact the Research Ethics Office at (780) 492-2615. If you have concerns about this study, you may contact the Research Ethics Office. This office has no direct involvement with this project.

If you have any further questions regarding this study, please do not hesitate to contact Alejandra Arguelles.

Your contribution to this study will be much appreciated.

Researcher:

Alejandra Arguelles, MSc Candidate 4-398 Edmonton Clinic Health Academy University of Alberta Edmonton, AB <u>aarguell@ualberta.ca</u> <u>W: 587-937-5054</u>

Supervisor:

Anna Farmer, PhD, MPH, RD 4-370 Edmonton Clinic Health Academy University of Alberta Edmonton, AB <u>anna.farmer@ualberta.ca</u> W: 780-492-2693

If you agree to participate in the study, please access to the survey by clicking following URL link:

https://is.gd/program4educators2

If clicking the URL link does not work, please 'Copy' the URL link and 'Paste' it into the address bar in your web browser.

d. Information Letter for Experts

An educational program to increase child care educators' knowledge, skills and self-efficacy in the promotion of healthy eating in child cares

Dear expert,

Thank you in advance for taking the time to read this letter. This letter will inform you of an opportunity as an expert in the child care food environment to take part in a research study to develop a nutrition educational program for child care educators.

Why is the study being done? The purpose of the study is to develop an educational program to increase child care educators' knowledge, skills and self-efficacy in the promotion of healthy eating among children in the child care setting. Results of this study will be of benefit to child care educators in their promotion of healthy eating in child care

What do we want to know? We want to know your recommendations for child care educators' educational needs in the promotion of healthy eating in child care.

What do I have to do? Participation in this study will involve contributing to a 20-minute online survey. You will answer a survey to tell us about your nutrition-related recommendations and priorities for child care educator's educational needs, your answers about this topic will help us to develop an educational program for child care educators in healthy eating promotion. We will ask you to provide your email address in the survey (optional) with the purpose to identify your survey in case you desire to withdraw from the study, and to provide you with an incentive.

What are the benefits? After the completion of the survey you will be offered a \$10 dollar coffee shop electronic gift card for participating in the study, by accepting the gift card you will be giving permission to transfer your email address to the vendor in order to receive the electronic gift card. If you do not accept the gift card, your email address will not be sent to the vendor. Other than the gift card there is no other benefit from participating in the study. There is no cost associated with being part of this study.

Are there any risks? There are no risks associated with taking part in this study. If you feel uncomfortable in answering a question you may not answer. You do not need to answer all the survey's questions in order to receive the gift card.

Is it confidential? Your responses will be confidential; all survey data will be anonymized. You and your responses will NOT be personally identified in any publications or presentations from this study. Data will be kept confidential by the researchers and will be stored on a password protected computer in a locked office at the University of Alberta. The researcher and the Research Ethics Committee of the University of Alberta will be the only ones with access to the data. After the completion of the study the data will be kept in a data repository in a lock office of the University of Alberta. The research but if so, it will have to be approved by a Research Ethics Board; only the anonymized data will be used and none of the identifiable information will kept for this purpose.

Can I withdraw from the study? The participation is completely voluntary. You can opt out without penalty. Even if you agree to be in the study you can change your mind and withdraw at any time.

However, you can only withdraw from the study if you provide your email address (optional) in the survey. Information can be withdrawn before the data is analysed, the last day to withdraw from the study will be May 15, 2017. If you desire to withdraw from the study you will still receive the electronic gift card.

Results of this study will be included in a Master of Science thesis prepared by Alejandra Arguelles, one of the student researchers. The findings may be submitted for publishing. If you are interested in receiving a finalized version of the report you may indicate so at the beginning of the study by informing the study personnel by email.

The plan for this study has been reviewed for its adherence to ethical guidelines by a Research Ethics Board at the University of Alberta. For questions regarding participant rights and ethical conduct of research, contact the Research Ethics Office at (780) 492-2615. If you have concerns about this study, you may contact the Research Ethics Office. This office has no direct involvement with this project.

If you have any further questions regarding this study, please do not hesitate to contact Alejandra Arguelles.

Your contribution to this study will be much appreciated.

Researcher:

Alejandra Arguelles, MSc Candidate 4-398 Edmonton Clinic Health Academy University of Alberta Edmonton, AB <u>aarguell@ualberta.ca</u> <u>W: 587-937-5054</u>

Supervisor:

Anna Farmer, PhD, MPH, RD 4-370 Edmonton Clinic Health Academy University of Alberta Edmonton, AB <u>anna.farmer@ualberta.ca</u> W: 780-492-2693

If you agree to participate in the study, please access to the survey by clicking following URL link:

https://is.gd/program4educators1

If clicking the URL link does not work, please 'Copy' the URL link and 'Paste' it into the address bar in your web browser.

Appendix C – Informed Consent Clause

INFORMED CONSENT CLAUSE

By answering this survey:

- I agree that I have read and understood the information in the information letter.
- I understand the benefits and risks involved in taking part in this study.
- I agree that I am free to refuse to participate or to withdraw from the study at any time, without consequence, and that my information will be withdrawn at my request.
- I agree that I understand that the answers of this survey will be anonymized.
- I agree to take part in this study.

As an appreciation for taking the time to answer the survey, we are offering you an electronic coffee shop gift card. However, by accepting the gift card you are giving consent that your email address is transferred to the vendor in order to receive the gift card. No connections will be made between the answers gathered in the survey and the vendor. If you accept the gift card, it will be delivered to your email account.

If at some point you do not feel comfortable answering any question, do not feel pressure to do so. You can still submit your survey to receive the gift card even if you do not complete the survey or you decide to withdraw.

Appendix D - Surveys

a. Survey for Child Care Educators

INSTRUCTIONS

Please read carefully and answer the following questions according to your own opinions and experiences.

Email address: _____

(If you choose not to provide an email address your data cannot be removed upon request).

I accept that my email address is transferred to the vendor

- Yes
- No

QUESTIONS

1.	Are you aware of the recommendations of <i>Eating Well with Canada's Food Guide</i> ?	
	 Yes No 	
	If not, skip to question 3.	
	1.1 If yes, how would you rate your awareness of the <i>Eating Well with Canada's Food Guide</i> recommendations?	
	Select one: · Very aware · Aware · Somewhat aware · Not aware	
2.	2. Do you agree with the recommendations of <i>Eating Well with Canada's Food Guide</i> ?	
	Select one: Strongly agree Agree Neither agree or disagree Disagree Strongly disagree	
Alk	berta Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth	
3.	Are you aware of the <i>Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth</i> recommendations for child cares?	
	 Yes No 	
	If not, skip to question 7.	
	3.1 If yes, how would you rate your awareness of the <i>Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth</i> recommendations?	

(1	
	Select one:
	 Very aware
	o Aware
	 Somewhat aware
	 Not aware
4.	Are the recommendations of the <i>Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth</i> put into practice at your child care?
	 Yes No
	If not, skip to question 7.
5.	Is the Food Ranking System of the <i>Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth</i> being used at your child care?
	YesNo
	5.1 If yes, how confident your feel using the Food Ranking System?
	Select one:
	 Very confident
	o Confident
	 Somewhat confident
	 Unconfident
6.	If there is room for improvement, how do you think the child care educators' knowledge of the recommendations of the <i>Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth</i> could be improved? Explain.
Ro	ie Modeling
7.	How often do you practice the following activities at your child care?
	7.1. When possible, sit with children at meal times.
	Select one:
	o Always
	 Very often
	 Sometimes
	 Almost never
	o Never
	7.2. When possible, eat the same food children eat at meal times.
	Select one:
	 Always
	• Very often
	• Sometimes
	• Almost never
1	o Never
	7.3. Encourage children to try new foods at meal times.
1	Select one:
1	 Always

- o Very often
- o Sometimes
- o Almost never
- o Never

7.4 Use food as a reward or punishment for children.

Select one:

- o Always
- o Very often
- o Sometimes
- o Almost never
- o Never

8. If there is room for improvement, how do you think child care educators could be better role models of healthy eating behaviors to children? Explain.

Picky Eating

9. How often is children's picky eating a barrier for the promotion of healthy eating at your child care?

Select one:

- o Very often
- o Fairly often
- o Sometimes
- Almost never
- o Never

10. How confident you feel handling children's picky eating at child care?

Select one:

- Very confident
- o Confident
- Somewhat confident
- o Unconfident
- 11. If there is room for improvement, how do you think child care educators' handling of children's picky eating could be improved? Explain.

Communication with Parents

12. How comfortable are you to talk to parents about their child's eating behaviours?

Select one:

- Very comfortable
- Comfortable
- Somewhat comfortable
- o Uncomfortable
- 13. When talking to parents about their children's eating behaviours, how confident do you feel about your healthy eating knowledge?

Select one:

- Very confident
- o Confident
- Somewhat confident

Unconfident 0 14. If there is room for improvement, how do you think communication between child care educators and parents could be improved? Explain. Training 15. Do you agree that is important for child care educators to receive training in the Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth? Select one: Strongly agree • Agree • Neither agree or disagree • Disagree • Strongly disagree 15.1. If you agree, what areas of the Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth do you think are relevant for training for child care educators? Check all that apply: • Food portion sizes • Food Ranking System • Menu planning 16. Do you agree that is important for child care educators to receive training in role modeling of healthy eating behaviours? Select one: • Strongly agree Agree • Neither agree or disagree Disagree • Strongly disagree 17. Do you agree that is important for child care educators to receive training in proper handling of children's picky eating? Select one: • Strongly agree Agree • Neither agree or disagree • Disagree • Strongly disagree 18. Do you agree that is important for child care educators to receive training in taking to parents about their children's eating behaviors? Select one: • Strongly agree o Agree • Neither agree or disagree • Disagree • Strongly disagree

Training Delivery Method

19. Please select the method that you consider more efficient for the delivery of food and nutrition training for child care educators?

Check all that apply:

- o Website
- o Email
- o Videos
- o Handouts
- o Newsletters
- o Posters
- o Workshops
- During meetings
- Other. If other specify: ______

b. Survey for Directors

INSTRUCTIONS

Please read carefully and answer the following questions according to your own opinions and experiences.

Email address: ____

(If you choose not to provide an email address your data cannot be removed upon request).

I accept that my email address is transferred to the vendor

- Yes
- No

QUESTIONS 1. What is your role as a director to promote healthy eating in your child care centre? Explain. Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth 2. Are you aware of the Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth recommendations for child cares? o Yes o No If not, skip to question 6. 2.1 If yes, how would you rate your awareness of the Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth recommendations? Select one: • Very aware Aware 0 Somewhat aware 0 Not aware 0 3. Are the recommendations of the Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth put into practice at your child care? o Yes 0 **No** If not, skip to question 6. 4. Is the Food Ranking System of the Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth being used at your child care? o Yes 0 **No** 4.1 If yes, how would you rate the child care educators' knowledge of Food Ranking System? Select one: • Excellent o Good Fair 0

- o Poor
- o Very poor
- 5. If there is room for improvement, how do you think the child care educator's knowledge of the *Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth* could be improved? Explain.

Role Modeling

- 6. How often are the following activities being practiced by child care educators at your child care?
 - 6.1 When possible, child care educators sit with children at meal times.

Select one:

- o Always
- Very often
- o Sometimes
- Almost never
- o Never

6.2 When possible, child care educators eat the same food children eat at meal times.

Select one:

- o Always
- Very often
- Sometimes
- o Almost never
- o Never

6.3 Child care educators encourage children to try new foods at meal times.

Select one:

- o Always
- Very often
- Sometimes
- o Almost never
- o Never

6.4 Child care educators use food as a reward or punishment for children.

Select one:

- o Always
- Very often
- o Sometimes
- Almost never
- o Never
- 7. If there is room for improvement, how do you think child care educators could be better role models of healthy eating behaviors to children at your child care? Explain.

Picky Eating

8. How often is children's picky eating a barrier for the promotion of healthy eating at your child care?

Select one:

- o Very often
- o Fairly often

	 Sometimes
	 Almost never
	o Never
9.	
	your child care?
	Select one:
	o Excellent
	o Good
	o Fair
	o Poor
	 Very poor
10.	. If there is room for improvement, how do you think child care educators' handling of children's picky eating could be improved at your child care? Explain.
omm	unication with Parents
11.	. How would you rate the child care educator's confidence to talk to parents about their child's
	eating behaviours?
	Select one:
	o Excellent
	o Good
	• Fair
	• Poor
	o Very poor
12.	. How would you rate the child care educator's ability to talk to parents about their child's eating behaviours?
	Select one:
	 Excellent
	 Good
	o Fair
	o Poor
	o Very poor
13.	If there is room for improvement, how do you think communication between child care educators and parents could be improved at your child care? Explain.
rainin	ng
14.	. Do you agree that is important for child care educators to receive training in the Alberta
	Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth?
	Select one:
	 Strongly agree
	o Agree
	 Neither agree or disagree
	• Disagree
	 Strongly disagree
	14.1 If you agree, what areas of the <i>Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth</i> do you think are relevant for training for child care educators?

you think are relevant for training for child care educators?

Ch	eck all that apply:
	 Food portion sizes
	 Food Ranking System
	 Menu planning
	you agree that is important for child care educators to receive training in role modeling of althy eating behaviours?
Sel	ect one:
	 Strongly agree
	o Agree
	 Neither agree or disagree
	o Disagree
	 Strongly disagree
	you agree that is important for child care educators to receive training in proper handling of ldren's picky eating?
Se	ect one:
	 Strongly agree
	o Agree
	 Neither agree or disagree
	o Disagree
	 Strongly disagree
	you agree that is important for child care educators to receive training in taking to parents out their children's eating behaviors?
ab	
ab	out their children's eating behaviors? ect one:
ab	out their children's eating behaviors? ect one:
ab	out their children's eating behaviors? ect one: • Strongly agree
ab	out their children's eating behaviors? ect one: • Strongly agree • Agree
ab	 but their children's eating behaviors? ect one: Strongly agree Agree Neither agree or disagree
ab Sel	 but their children's eating behaviors? ect one: Strongly agree Agree Neither agree or disagree Disagree Strongly disagree elivery Method
ab Sel Training De 18. Ple	 but their children's eating behaviors? ect one: Strongly agree Agree Neither agree or disagree Disagree Strongly disagree
ab Sel Training Do 18. Ple tra	 but their children's eating behaviors? ect one: Strongly agree Agree Neither agree or disagree Disagree Strongly disagree elivery Method ase select the method that you consider more efficient for the delivery of food and nutrition
ab Sel Training Do 18. Ple tra	 but their children's eating behaviors? ect one: Strongly agree Agree Neither agree or disagree Disagree Strongly disagree elivery Method ase select the method that you consider more efficient for the delivery of food and nutrition ining for child care educators?
ab Sel Training Do 18. Ple tra	 but their children's eating behaviors? ect one: Strongly agree Agree Neither agree or disagree Disagree Strongly disagree elivery Method ase select the method that you consider more efficient for the delivery of food and nutrition ining for child care educators? eck all that apply: Website Email
ab Sel Training Do 18. Ple tra	 but their children's eating behaviors? ect one: Strongly agree Agree Neither agree or disagree Disagree Strongly disagree elivery Method ase select the method that you consider more efficient for the delivery of food and nutrition ining for child care educators? eck all that apply: Website Email Videos
ab Sel Training Do 18. Ple tra	but their children's eating behaviors? ect one: Strongly agree Agree Neither agree or disagree Disagree Strongly disagree elivery Method ase select the method that you consider more efficient for the delivery of food and nutrition ining for child care educators? eck all that apply: Website Email Videos Handouts
ab Sel Training Do 18. Ple tra	but their children's eating behaviors? ect one: Strongly agree Agree Neither agree or disagree Disagree Strongly disagree
ab Sel Training Do 18. Ple tra	but their children's eating behaviors? ect one: Strongly agree Agree Neither agree or disagree Disagree Strongly disagree
ab Sel Training Do 18. Ple tra	but their children's eating behaviors? ect one: Strongly agree Agree Neither agree or disagree Disagree Strongly disagree
ab Sel Training Do 18. Ple tra	but their children's eating behaviors? ect one: Strongly agree Agree Neither agree or disagree Disagree Strongly disagree

c. Survey for Parents

INSTRUCTIONS

Please read carefully and answer the following questions according to your own opinions and experiences.

Email address: _____

(If you choose not to provide an email address your data cannot be removed upon request).

I accept that my email address is transferred to the vendor

- Yes
- No

QI	UESTIONS
1.	Do you agree that healthy eating is promoted at your child's child care?
	Select one:
	 Strongly agree
	o Agree
	 Neither agree or disagree
	o Disagree
	 Strongly disagree
2.	Are you aware of the recommendations of <i>Eating Well with Canada's Food Guide</i> ?
	o Yes
	• No
	If not, skip to question 5.
	2.1 If yes, how would you rate your awareness of the <i>Eating Well with Canada's Food Guide</i> recommendations?
	Select one:
	 Very aware
	o Aware
	 Somewhat aware
	 Not aware
3.	Do you agree with the recommendations of <i>Eating Well with Canada's Food Guide</i> ?
	Select one:
	 Strongly agree
	o Agree
	 Neither agree or disagree
	• Disagree
	 Strongly disagree
4.	Do you follow the recommendations of <i>Eating Well with Canada's Food Guide</i> at home?
	Select one:
	o Always

	• Very often	
	• Sometimes	
	Almost never	
	o Never	
	perta Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth	
5.	Are you aware of the Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth recommendations f	or child
	cares?	
	o Yes	
	• No	
	If not, skip to question 9.	
	5.1 If yes, how would you rate your awareness of the <i>Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Chiand Youth</i> recommendations?	ildren
	Select one:	
	 Very aware 	
	• Fairly aware	
	 Somewhat aware 	
	 Not aware 	
6.	Are the recommendations of the <i>Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth</i> put into practice at your child's child care?)
	• Yes	
	• No	
	 Not sure 	
	If not, skip to question 8.	
7.	Is the Food Ranking System of the <i>Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth</i> being u your child's child care?	used at
	o Yes	
	• No	
	 Not sure 	
	7.1 If yes, how would you rate the child care educators' knowledge of Food Ranking Sys	stem?
	Select one: • Excellent	
	o Good	
	o Fair	
	o Poor	
	o Very poor	
8.	If there is room for improvement, how do you think the child care educator's knowledge of t	ho
0.	Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth could be improved? Explain.	ne
Ro	le Modeling	
9.	How often are the following activities being practiced by child care educators at your child's care?	child
	9.1 When possible, child care educators sit with children at meal times.	
	Select one:	

- Always
- Very often
- Sometimes
- Almost never
- \circ Never

9.2 When possible, child care educators eat the same food children eat at meal times.

Select one:

- o Always
- Very often
- o Sometimes
- Almost never
- o Never

9.3 Child care educators encourage children to try new foods at meal times.

Select one:

- o Always
- Very often
- o Sometimes
- Almost never
- o Never

9.4 Child care educators use food as a reward or punishment for children.

Select one:

- o Always
- Very often
- Sometimes
- o Almost never
- o Never

10 If there is room for improvement, how do you think child care educators could be better role models of healthy eating behaviors to children at your child's child care? Explain.

Picky Eating

11 How often is children's picky eating a barrier for the promotion of healthy eating at your child's child care?

Select one:

- Very often
- Fairly often
- Sometimes
- o Almost never
- o Never
- 12 How would you rate the child care educators' knowledge in handling children's picky eating at your child's child care?

Select one:

- \circ Excellent
- o Good
- o Fair

	0 0	Poor Very poor
13		re is room for improvement, how do you think child care educators' handling of children's eating could be improved at your child's child care? Explain.
Comm	unicati	on with Parents
14	How	comfortable you feel talking to child care educators about your child's eating behaviours?
	Select 0 0 0	one: Very comfortable Comfortable Somewhat comfortable Uncomfortable
15		n talking to child care educators about your child's eating behaviours, how confident do eel about the child care educators' healthy eating knowledge?
	Select 0 0 0 0 0	one: Very confident Confident Somewhat confident Unconfident
16		re is room for improvement, how do you think communication between child care ators and parents could be improved at your child's child care? Explain.
Trainin	ng	
17	-	ou agree that is important for child care educators to receive training in the Alberta tion Guidelines for Children and Youth?
	Selec c c c c c	Agree Neither agree or disagree Disagree
	17.1	If you agree, what areas of the <i>Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth</i> do you think are relevant for training for child care educators?
	Checl o o	all that apply: Food portion sizes Food Ranking System

• Menu planning

18 Do you agree that is important for child care educators to receive training in role modeling of healthy eating behaviours?	
Select one: Strongly agree Agree Neither agree or disagree Disagree Strongly disagree 	
Do you agree that is important for child care educators to receive training in proper handling of children's picky eating?	
Select one: Strongly agree Agree Neither agree or disagree Disagree Strongly disagree	
Do you agree that is important for child care educators to receive training in taking to parents about their children's eating behaviors?	
Select one: • Strongly agree • Agree • Neither agree or disagree • Disagree • Strongly disagree	
g Delivery Method	
Please select the method that you consider more efficient for the delivery of food and nutrition training for child care educators?	
Check all that apply: • Website • Email • Videos • Handouts • Newsletters • Posters • Workshops • During meetings • Other. If other specify:	

d. Survey for Dietitians

INSTRUCTIONS

Please read carefully and answer the following questions according to your own opinions and experiences.

Email address: _____

(If you choose not to provide an email address your data cannot be removed upon request).

I accept that my email address is transferred to the vendor

- Yes
- No

QUEST	IONS
Alberta	a Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth
1.	Are you aware of the <i>Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth</i> recommendations for child cares?
0	Yes
0	No
	If not, skip to question 7.
2.	How often do you use the <i>Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth</i> on your professional practice?
	Select one:
	 Always
	 Very often
	 Sometimes
	 Almost never
	o Never
3.	In general, how would you rate the adoption of the <i>Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth</i> in the child care setting?
	Select one:
	o Excellent
	o Good
	o Fair
	o Poor
	 Very poor
4.	In general, how would you rate the child care educators' knowledge of the <i>Alberta Nutrition</i> <i>Guidelines for Children and Youth</i> recommendations?
	Select one:
	o Excellent
	o Good
	o Fair

o Poor

$\circ \quad \text{Very poor} \quad$

If there is room for improvement, how do you think the child care educators' knowledge of the recommendations of the *Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth* could be improved? Explain.

Role Modeling

5. In your experience, how often are the following activities being practiced by child care educators in the child care setting?

7.1 When possible, child care educators sit with children at meal times.

Select one:

- o Always
- Very often
- Sometimes
- o Almost never
- o Never

7.2 When possible, child care educators eat the same food children eat at meal times.

Select one:

- o Always
- Very often
- o Sometimes
- Almost never
- \circ Never

7.3 Child care educators encourage children to try new foods at meal times.

Select one:

- o Always
- o Very often
- o Sometimes
- o Almost never
- o Never

7.4 Child care educators use food as a reward or punishment for children.

Select one:

- o Always
- Very often
- o Sometimes
- Almost never
- o Never
- 6. If there is room for improvement, how do you think child care educators could be better role models of healthy eating behaviors to children at child care? Explain.

Picky Eating

7. In your experience, how often is children's picky eating a barrier for the promotion of healthy eating in child care?

Select one:

• Very often

 Fairly often
 Sometimes
 Almost never
o Never
8. How would you rate child care educators' knowledge in handling children's picky eating in child care?
Select one:
○ Excellent
o Good
o Fair
o Poor
 Very poor
 If there is room for improvement, how do you think child care educators' handling of children's picky eating could be improved in child care? Explain.
Communication with Parents
10. In general, how would you rate child care educator's confidence in talking to parents about their child's eating behaviours?
Select one:
o Excellent
○ Good
o Fair
o Poor
 Very poor
11. How would you rate the child care educator's ability to talk to parents about their child's eating behaviors?
Select one:
 Excellent
o Good
o Fair
o Poor
 Very poor
12. If there is room for improvement, how do you think communication between child care educators and parents could be improved at child care? Explain.
Training
13. Do you agree that is important for child care educators to receive training on the <i>Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth</i> ?
Select one:
 Strongly agree
o Agree
• Neither agree or disagree
 Disagree
 Strongly disagree
15.1 If you agree, what areas of the Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth do

you think are relevant for training for child care educators?
Check all that apply:
• Food portion sizes
 Food Ranking System
• Menu planning
14. Do you agree that is important for child care educators to receive training in role modeling of
healthy eating behaviours?
Select one:
 Strongly agree
o Agree
 Neither agree or disagree
 Disagree
 Strongly disagree
15. Do you agree that is important for child care educators to receive training in proper handling of
children's picky eating?
Select one:
 Strongly agree
 Strongly disagree 16. Do you agree that is important for child care educators to receive training in taking to parents
about their children's eating behaviours?
Select one:
 Strongly agree Agree
 Agree Neither agree or disagree
 Neither agree or disagree Disagree
 Disagree Strongly disagree
Training Delivery Method
17. Please select the method that you consider more efficient for the delivery of food and nutrition training for child care educators?
Check all that apply:
• Website
o Email
○ Videos
 Handouts
 Newsletters
 Posters
• Workshops
 During meetings
 Other. If other specify:

e. Survey for experts

INSTRUCTIONS

Please read carefully and answer the following questions according to your own opinions and experiences.

Email address: _____

(If you choose not to provide an email address your data cannot be removed upon request).

I accept that my email address is transferred to the vendor

- Yes
- No

QUESTIONS					
Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth					
1. Are you aware of the Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth recommendations for					
child cares?					
o Yes					
o No					
If not, skip to question 4.					
2. In your experience, how would you rate the adoption of the <i>Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth</i> in the child care setting?					
Select one:					
o Excellent					
○ Good					
o Fair					
 Poor Vanuapor 					
 Very poor 					
3. If there is room for improvement, how do you think the adoption of the <i>Alberta Nutrition</i> <i>Guidelines for Children and Youth</i> could be improved in the child care setting? Explain.					
Role Modeling					
4. In your experience, how important do you consider the following activities to be practiced by child care educators in child care?					
4.1 Child care educators sit with children at meal times.					
Select one:					
 Very important 					
o Important					
 Neither important or unimportant 					
 Unimportant Voncurimportant 					
• Very unimportant					
4.2 Child care educators eat the same food children eat at meal times.					
Select one:					
 Very important 					

- o Important
- Neither important or unimportant
- Unimportant
- Very unimportant
- 4.3 Child care educators encourage children to try new foods at meal times.

Select one:

- Very important
- o Important
- Neither important or unimportant
- Unimportant
- Very unimportant
- 4.4 Child care educators avoid using food as a reward or punishment for children.

Select one:

- Very important
- o Important
- Neither important or unimportant
- o Unimportant
- Very unimportant
- 5. If there is room for improvement, how do you think child care educators could be better role models of healthy eating behaviors to children at child care? Explain.

Picky Eating

6. In your experience, do you consider children's picky eating a barrier for the promotion of healthy eating in child care?

Select one:

- Very likely
- Somewhat likely
- o Unlikely
- 7. In your experience, how would you rate child care educators' knowledge in handling children's picky eating in child care?

Select one:

- Excellent
- o Good
- o Fair
- o Poor
- o Very poor
- 8. If there is room for improvement, how do you think child care educators' handling of children's picky eating could be improved at child care? Explain.

Communication with Parents

9. In your experience, how important do you consider communication between child care educators and parents for the promotion of healthy eating in child care?

Select one:

- Very important
- o Important

- Neither important or unimportant
- Unimportant
- Very unimportant

10. If there is room for improvement, how do you think communication between child care educators and parents could be improved at child care? Explain.

Training

11. Do you agree that is important for child care educators to receive training in the *Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth*?

Select one:

- Strongly agree
- Agree
- Neither agree or disagree
- o Disagree
- Strongly disagree

11.1 If you agree, what areas of the *Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth* do you think are relevant for training for child care educators?

Check all that apply:

- Food portion sizes
- Food Ranking System
- Menu planning

12. Do you agree that is important for child care educators to receive training in role modeling of healthy eating behaviours?

Select one:

- o Strongly agree
- o Agree
- Neither agree or disagree
- o Disagree
- Strongly disagree
- 13. Do you agree that is important for child care educators to receive training in proper handling of children's picky eating?

Select one:

- o Strongly agree
- o Agree
- Neither agree or disagree
- o Disagree
- Strongly disagree
- 14. Do you agree that is important for child care educators to receive training in taking to parents about their children's eating behaviours?

Select one:

- Strongly agree
- o Agree
- Neither agree or disagree

- Disagree
- Strongly disagree

Training Delivery Method

15. Please select the method that you consider more efficient for the delivery of food and nutrition training for child care educators?

Check all that apply:

- o Website
- o Email
- \circ Videos
- \circ Handouts
- \circ Newsletters
- o Posters
- \circ Workshops
- During meetings
- Other. If other specify: _____

Appendix E – Figures of quantitative analysis



Figure 6-1. Child care educators (n=8) and parents (n=29) awareness of *Eating Well with Canada's Food Guide*



Figure 6-2. Child care educators (n=8) and parents (n=29) agreement with *Eating Well with Canada's Food Guide recommendations*



Figure 6-3. Parents' self-reports on the frequency of use of *Eating Well with Canada's Food Guide's* recommendations at home (n=29).



Figure 6-4. Key informant's responses to whether they were aware of *Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth's* recommendations for child care (n=53)



Figure 6-5. Child care educators (n=6), directors (n=3) and parents (n=8) level of awareness of the *Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth's* recommendations.



Figure 6-6. Child care educators (n=6), directors (n=3) and parents (n=8) responses to whether the *Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth's* recommendations where practiced in child care.



Figure 6-7. Dietitians (n=6) perceptions of child care educators' knowledge of the *Alberta Nutrition Guidelines for Children and Youth's* recommendations.







Figure 6-9. Dietitians (n=6) perspectives on child care educators' performance of role modeling behaviours in child care.



Figure 6-10. Experts' perspectives on how important were role modeling activities to be practiced by child care educators in child care (n=7).



Figure 6-11. Child care educators' level of confidence in handling children's picky eating (n=8).







Figure 6-13. Child care educators' level of confidence on their own healthy eating knowledge when talking to parents about children's eating behaviours (n=8)



Figure 6-14. Parents' level of comfort when talking to child care educators about children's eating behaviours (n=29)



Figure 6-15. Directors (n=3) and dietitians (n=6) perspectives of child care educators' confidence in talking to parents.



Figure 6-16. Directors (n=3) and dietitians (n=6) perspectives of child care educators' ability in talking to parents.

Appendix F – Detailed search strategies for rapid review

Date	Data base	Search String	Limits	Search details	Data bases	Records retrieved
May	Pubmed	interventio	Filters: Full	("Intervention (Amstelveen)"[Journal] OR "intervention"[All	N/A	173
19, 16		n AND	text;	Fields] OR "Interv Sch Clin"[Journal] OR "intervention"[All Fields])		
		(healthy	published in	AND ((healthy[All Fields] AND ("eating"[MeSH Terms] OR		
		eating OR	the last 10	"eating"[All Fields])) OR ("food habits"[MeSH Terms] OR		
		food	years;	("food"[All Fields] AND "habits"[All Fields]) OR "food habits"[All		
		habits OR	Humans;	Fields]) OR ("diet"[MeSH Terms] OR "diet"[All Fields])) AND		
		diet) AND	English;	(("child care"[MeSH Terms] OR ("child"[All Fields] AND "care"[All		
		(child care	French;	Fields]) OR "child care"[All Fields]) OR preschool[All Fields] OR		
		OR	Spanish;	("day care, medical"[MeSH Terms] OR ("day"[All Fields] AND		
		preschool	Preschool	"care"[All Fields] AND "medical"[All Fields]) OR "medical day		
		OR day	Child: 2-5	care"[All Fields] OR ("day"[All Fields] AND "care"[All Fields]) OR		
		care OR	years	"day care"[All Fields]) OR daycare[All Fields] OR kindergarten[All		
		daycare		Fields]) AND (("vegetables"[MeSH Terms] OR "vegetables"[All		
		OR		Fields] OR "vegetable"[All Fields]) OR ("fruit"[MeSH Terms] OR		
		kindergart		"fruit"[All Fields])) AND ("loattrfull text"[sb] AND		
		en) AND		"2006/05/23"[PDat] : "2016/05/19"[PDat] AND "humans"[MeSH		
		(vegetable		Terms] AND (English[lang] OR French[lang] OR Spanish[lang])		
		OR fruit)		AND "child, preschool"[MeSH Terms])		
May	Cinahl	interventio	Limiters -	Association (ATLA) Historical Monographs Collection: Series	All databases (93
19, 16		n AND	Publication	1;American Theological Library Association (ATLA) Historical	Search 19.05.16	
		(healthy	Date:	Monographs Collection: Series 2;Anthropology Plus;Arctic &	Cinahl data bases	
		eating OR	20060501-	Antarctic Regions;Art Full Text (H.W. Wilson);Art Index	used.dox)	
		food	20161231; Full	Retrospective (H.W. Wilson);ATLA Catholic Periodical and		
		habits OR	Text; Hidden	Literature Index;ATLA Religion Database with		
		diet) AND	NetLibrary	ATLASerials;Audiobook Collection (EBSCOhost);Baptists,		
		(child care	Holdings; Full	Quakers, and Independent Church Periodicals, 1797-		
		OR	Text from ROA	1881;Bibliography of Native North Americans;Biography Index		
		preschool	Narrow by	Past and Present (H.W. Wilson);Biomedical Reference Collection:		
		OR day	SubjectAge: -	Comprehensive;BIR Entertainment;Bloomberg Businessweek		
		care OR	child,	Archive;Book Index with Reviews;Book Review Digest Plus (H.W.		
		daycare	preschool: 2-5	Wilson);British Education Index;Business and General Education		

OR kindergart en) AND OR fruit)years Search modes - Find all my search termsPeriodicals, 1800-1885;Business Source Alumni Edition;Business Source Complete;Business, Industrial and Professional Periodicals, 1774-1858;Business, Industrial and Professional Periodicals, 1871-1901;Canadian Literary Centre;Catholic, Lutheran, Methodist, and Episcopal Periodicals, 1797-1904;Chicano Datbase;Child Development & Adolescent Studies;Children's Core Collection (H.W. Wilson);College and Student Periodicals, 1803-1877;Commercial Periodicals, 1700-1877; Commercial Periodicals, 1803-1877;Commercial Periodicals, 1797-1904;Chicano Datbase;Child Development & Adolescent Studies;Children's Core Collection (H.W. Wilson);College and Student Periodicals, 1803-1877;Commercial Periodicals, from the Southern U.S., 1811-1877;Commercial Periodicals, 1704- 1803-1902;Criminal Justice Abstracts;Cultural Periodicals, 1691-1912;Drama, Humor, and Fine Arts Periodicals, 1764- 1877;eBook Academic Collection (EBSCOhost);EBook Collection (EBSCOhost);Econli with Full Text;Education Index Retrospective: 1929-1983 (H.W. Wilson);Education Research Complete;ERIC;Essay and Geenal Literature Index (H.W. Wilson);European Views of the Americas: 1493 to 1750;Family Studies Abstracts;Ficition Core Collection (H.W. Wilson);Film &	
en) AND (vegetable OR fruit)all my search termsProfessional Periodicals, 1774-1858;Business, Industrial and Professional Periodicals, 1859-1870;Business, Industrial and Professional Periodicals, 1859-1870;Business, Industrial and Professional Periodicals, 1871-1901;Canadian Literary Centre;Candian Periodicals, 1871-1901;Canadian Literary Centre;Catholic, Lutheran, Methodist, and Episcopal Periodicals, 1797-1904;Chicano Database;Child Development & Adolescent Studes;Children's Core Collection (H.W. Wilson);College and Student Periodicals, 1806-1877;Commercial Periodicals, from the Southern U.S., 1811-1877;Communication & Mass Media Complete;Congregational, Presbyterian, and Reformed Church Periodicals, 1803-1902;Criminal Justice Abstracts;Cultural Periodicals, 1691-1912;Drama, Humor, and Fine Arts Periodicals, 1764- 1877;Book Academic Collection (EBSCOhost);EBook Collection (EBSCOhost);EconLit with Full Text;Education Index Retrospective: 1929-1983 (H.W. Wilson);Education Research Complete;ERIC;Essay and General Literature Index (H.W. Wilson);European Views of the Americas: 1493 to 1750;Family	
(vegetable OR fruit)termsProfessional Periodicals, 1859-1870;Business, Industrial and Professional Periodicals, 1871-1901;Canadian Literary Centre;Canadian Periodicals, 1790-1877;Canadian Reference Centre;Catholic, Lutheran, Methodist, and Episcopal Periodicals, 1797-1904;Chicano Database;Child Development & Adolescent Studies;Children's Core Collection (H.W. Wilson);College and Student Periodicals, 1806-1877;Commercial Periodicals from the Southern U.S., 1811-1877;Communication & Mass Media Complete;Congregational, Presbyterian, and Reformed Church Periodicals, 1803-1902;Criminal Justice Abstracts;Cultural Periodicals, 1803-1902;Criminal Justice Abstracts;Cultural Periodicals, 1691-1912;Drama, Humor, and Fine Arts Periodicals, 1764- 1877;eBook Academic Collection (EBSCOhost);eBook Collection (EBSCOhost);EconLit with Full Text;Education Index Retrospective: 1929-1938 (H.W. Wilson);Education Research Complete;ERIC;Essay and General Literature Index (H.W. Wilson);European Views of the Americas: 1493 to 1750;Family	
OR fruit)Professional Periodicals, 1871-1901;Canadian Literary Centre;Canadian Periodicals, 1790-1877;Canadian Reference Centre;Catholic, Lutheran, Methodist, and Episcopal Periodicals, 1797-1904;Chicano Database;Child Development & Adolescent Studies;Children's Core Collection (H.W. Wilson);College and Student Periodicals, 1806-1877;Commercial Periodicals from the Southern U.S., 1811-1877;Communication & Mass Media Complete;Congregational, Presbyterian, and Reformed Church Periodicals, 1803-1902;Criminal Justice Abstracts;Cultural Periodicals, 1803-1902;Criminal Justice Abstracts;Cultural Periodicals, 1691-1912;Drama, Humor, and Fine Arts Periodicals, 1764- 1877;eBook Academic Collection (EBSCOhost);eBook Collection (EBSCOhost);EConLit with Full Text;Education Index Retrospective: 1929-1983 (H.W. Wilson);fducation Research Complete;ERIC;Essay and General Literature Index (H.W. Wilson);European Views of the Americas: 1493 to 1750;Family	
Centre;Canadian Periodicals, 1790-1877;Canadian Reference Centre;Catholic, Lutheran, Methodist, and Episcopal Periodicals, 1797-1904;Chicano Database;Child Development & Adolescent Studies;Children's Core Collection (H.W. Wilson);College and Student Periodicals, 1806-1877;Commercial Periodicals from the Southern U.S., 1811-1877;Communication & Mass Media Complete;Congregational, Presbyterian, and Reformed Church Periodicals, 1803-1902;Criminal Justice Abstracts;Cultural Periodicals from the Southern U.S., 1797-1877;Current Biography Illustrated (H.W. Wilson);Current Events and History Periodicals, 1691-1912;Drama, Humor, and Fine Arts Periodicals, 1764- 1877;eBook Academic Collection (EBSCOhost);eBook Collection (EBSCOhost);cEonLit with Full Text;Education Index Retrospective: 1929-1983 (H.W. Wilson);Education Research Complete;ERIc;Essay and General Literature Index (H.W. Wilson);European Views of the Americas: 1493 to 1750;Family	
Centre;Catholic, Lutheran, Methodist, and Episcopal Periodicals, 1797-1904;Chicano Database;Child Development & Adolescent Studies;Children's Core Collection (H.W. Wilson);College and Student Periodicals, 1806-1877;Commercial Periodicals from the Southern U.S., 1811-1877;Communication & Mass Media Complete;Congregational, Presbyterian, and Reformed Church Periodicals, 1803-1902;Criminal Justice Abstracts;Cultural Periodicals from the Southern U.S., 1797-1877;Current Biography Illustrated (H.W. Wilson);Current Events and History Periodicals, 1691-1912;Drama, Humor, and Fine Arts Periodicals, 1764- 1877;Book Academic Collection (EBSCOhost);eBook Collection (EBSCOhost);EConLit with Full Text;Education Index Retrospective: 1929-1983 (H.W. Wilson);Education Research Complete;Educational Administration Abstracts;Emerging American Religions, 1821-1895;Environment Complete;ERIC;Essay and General Literature Index (H.W. Wilson);European Views of the Americas: 1493 to 1750;Family	
1797-1904;Chicano Database;Child Development & Adolescent Studies;Children's Core Collection (H.W. Wilson);College and Student Periodicals, 1806-1877;Commercial Periodicals from the Southern U.S., 1811-1877;Communication & Mass Media Complete;Congregational, Presbyterian, and Reformed Church Periodicals, 1803-1902;Criminal Justice Abstract;Cultural Periodicals from the Southern U.S., 1797-1877;Current Biography Illustrated (H.W. Wilson);Current Events and History Periodicals, 1691-1912;Orama, Humor, and Fine Arts Periodicals, 1764- 1877;eBook Academic Collection (EBSCOhost);eBook Collection (EBSCOhost);EconLit with Full Text;Education Index Retrospective: 1929-1983 (H.W. Wilson);Education Research Complete;Educational Administration Abstracts;Emerging American Religions, 1821-1895;Environment Complete;ERIC;Essay and General Literature Index (H.W. Wilson);European Views of the Americas: 1493 to 1750;Family	
Studies;Children's Core Collection (H.W. Wilson);College and Student Periodicals, 1806-1877;Commercial Periodicals from the Southern U.S., 1811-1877;Communication & Mass Media Complete;Congregational, Presbyterian, and Reformed Church Periodicals, 1803-1902;Criminal Justice Abstracts;Cultural Periodicals from the Southern U.S., 1797-1877;Current Biography Illustrated (H.W. Wilson);Current Events and History Periodicals, 1691-1912;Drama, Humor, and Fine Arts Periodicals, 1764- 1877;eBook Academic Collection (EBSCOhost);eBook Collection (EBSCOhost);EconLit with Full Text;Education Index Retrospective: 1929-1983 (H.W. Wilson);Education Research Complete;Educational Administration Abstracts;Emerging American Religions, 1821-1895;Environment Complete;ERIC;Essay and General Literature Index (H.W. Wilson);European Views of the Americas: 1493 to 1750;Family	
Student Periodicals, 1806-1877;Commercial Periodicals from the Southern U.S., 1811-1877;Communication & Mass Media Complete;Congregational, Presbyterian, and Reformed Church Periodicals, 1803-1902;Criminal Justice Abstracts;Cultural Periodicals from the Southern U.S., 1797-1877;Current Biography Illustrated (H.W. Wilson);Current Events and History Periodicals, 1691-1912;Drama, Humor, and Fine Arts Periodicals, 1764- 1877;eBook Academic Collection (EBSCOhost);eBook Collection (EBSCOhost);EconLit with Full Text;Education Index Retrospective: 1929-1983 (H.W. Wilson);Education Research Complete;Educational Administration Abstracts;Emerging American Religions, 1821-1895;Environment Complete;ERIC;Essay and General Literature Index (H.W. Wilson);European Views of the Americas: 1493 to 1750;Family	
Southern U.S., 1811-1877;Communication & Mass Media Complete;Congregational, Presbyterian, and Reformed Church Periodicals, 1803-1902;Criminal Justice Abstracts;Cultural Periodicals from the Southern U.S., 1797-1877;Current Biography Illustrated (H.W. Wilson);Current Events and History Periodicals, 1691-1912;Drama, Humor, and Fine Arts Periodicals, 1764- 1877;eBook Academic Collection (EBSCOhost);eBook Collection (EBSCOhost);EconLit with Full Text;Education Index Retrospective: 1929-1983 (H.W. Wilson);Education Research Complete;Educational Administration Abstracts;Emerging American Religions, 1821-1895;Environment Complete;ERIC;Essay and General Literature Index (H.W. Wilson);European Views of the Americas: 1493 to 1750;Family	
Complete;Congregational, Presbyterian, and Reformed Church Periodicals, 1803-1902;Criminal Justice Abstracts;Cultural Periodicals from the Southern U.S., 1797-1877;Current Biography Illustrated (H.W. Wilson);Current Events and History Periodicals, 1691-1912;Drama, Humor, and Fine Arts Periodicals, 1764- 1877;eBook Academic Collection (EBSCOhost);eBook Collection (EBSCOhost);EconLit with Full Text;Education Index Retrospective: 1929-1983 (H.W. Wilson);Education Research Complete;Educational Administration Abstracts;Emerging American Religions, 1821-1895;Environment Complete;ERIC;Essay and General Literature Index (H.W. Wilson);European Views of the Americas: 1493 to 1750;Family	
Periodicals, 1803-1902;Criminal Justice Abstracts;Cultural Periodicals from the Southern U.S., 1797-1877;Current Biography Illustrated (H.W. Wilson);Current Events and History Periodicals, 1691-1912;Drama, Humor, and Fine Arts Periodicals, 1764- 1877;eBook Academic Collection (EBSCOhost);eBook Collection (EBSCOhost);EconLit with Full Text;Education Index Retrospective: 1929-1983 (H.W. Wilson);Education Research Complete;Educational Administration Abstracts;Emerging American Religions, 1821-1895;Environment Complete;ERIC;Essay and General Literature Index (H.W. Wilson);European Views of the Americas: 1493 to 1750;Family	
Periodicals from the Southern U.S., 1797-1877;Current Biography Illustrated (H.W. Wilson);Current Events and History Periodicals, 1691-1912;Drama, Humor, and Fine Arts Periodicals, 1764- 1877;eBook Academic Collection (EBSCOhost);eBook Collection (EBSCOhost);EconLit with Full Text;Education Index Retrospective: 1929-1983 (H.W. Wilson);Education Research Complete;Educational Administration Abstracts;Emerging American Religions, 1821-1895;Environment Complete;ERIC;Essay and General Literature Index (H.W. Wilson);European Views of the Americas: 1493 to 1750;Family	
Illustrated (H.W. Wilson);Current Events and History Periodicals, 1691-1912;Drama, Humor, and Fine Arts Periodicals, 1764- 1877;eBook Academic Collection (EBSCOhost);eBook Collection (EBSCOhost);EconLit with Full Text;Education Index Retrospective: 1929-1983 (H.W. Wilson);Education Research Complete;Educational Administration Abstracts;Emerging American Religions, 1821-1895;Environment Complete;ERIC;Essay and General Literature Index (H.W. Wilson);European Views of the Americas: 1493 to 1750;Family	
1691-1912;Drama, Humor, and Fine Arts Periodicals, 1764- 1877;eBook Academic Collection (EBSCOhost);eBook Collection (EBSCOhost);EconLit with Full Text;Education Index Retrospective: 1929-1983 (H.W. Wilson);Education Research Complete;Educational Administration Abstracts;Emerging American Religions, 1821-1895;Environment Complete;ERIC;Essay and General Literature Index (H.W. Wilson);European Views of the Americas: 1493 to 1750;Family	
1877;eBook Academic Collection (EBSCOhost);eBook Collection (EBSCOhost);EconLit with Full Text;Education Index Retrospective: 1929-1983 (H.W. Wilson);Education Research Complete;Educational Administration Abstracts;Emerging American Religions, 1821-1895;Environment Complete;ERIC;Essay and General Literature Index (H.W. Wilson);European Views of the Americas: 1493 to 1750;Family	
(EBSCOhost);EconLit with Full Text;Education Index Retrospective: 1929-1983 (H.W. Wilson);Education Research Complete;Educational Administration Abstracts;Emerging American Religions, 1821-1895;Environment Complete;ERIC;Essay and General Literature Index (H.W. Wilson);European Views of the Americas: 1493 to 1750;Family	
Retrospective: 1929-1983 (H.W. Wilson);Education Research Complete;Educational Administration Abstracts;Emerging American Religions, 1821-1895;Environment Complete;ERIC;Essay and General Literature Index (H.W. Wilson);European Views of the Americas: 1493 to 1750;Family	
Complete;Educational Administration Abstracts;Emerging American Religions, 1821-1895;Environment Complete;ERIC;Essay and General Literature Index (H.W. Wilson);European Views of the Americas: 1493 to 1750;Family	
American Religions, 1821-1895;Environment Complete;ERIC;Essay and General Literature Index (H.W. Wilson);European Views of the Americas: 1493 to 1750;Family	
Complete;ERIC;Essay and General Literature Index (H.W. Wilson);European Views of the Americas: 1493 to 1750;Family	
Wilson);European Views of the Americas: 1493 to 1750;Family	
Studies Abstracts:Fiction Core Collection (H.W. Wilson) Film &	
Television Literature Index with Full Text; Fireside Companions	
and Family Literature Periodicals, 1805-1877;Forbes	
Archive;Foreign Language Periodicals in America, 1684-	
1904;FRANCIS;Funk & Wagnalls New World Encyclopedia;Gender	
Studies Database; General Interest Christian Periodicals, 1743-	
1889;GeoRef;GeoRef In Process;Graphic Novels Core Collection	
(H.W. Wilson);GreenFILE;Health Policy Reference Center;Health	
Source - Consumer Edition;Historical Abstracts with Full	
Text;History of Science, Technology & Medicine;Hobbies,	
Socialization, and Sport Periodicals, 1775-1889;Hospitality &	
Tourism Complete;Human Resources Abstracts;Humanities &	
Social Sciences Index Retrospective: 1907-1984 (H.W.	
Wilson);Humanities International Complete;Index to Legal	
Periodicals Retrospective: 1908-1981 (H.W. Wilson);Index to	

Printed Music;International Bibliography of Theatre & Dancewith Full Text;L'Année philologique;Left Index;Legal Source;LGBTLife with Full Text;Library & Information Science Source;LibraryLiterature & Information Science Retrospective: 1905-1983 (H.W.Wilson);Literary Periodicals of New England, 1789-1878;LiteraryReference Center;MAS Ultra - School Edition;Masons, Odd-Fellows and Other Societal Periodicals, 1794-1877;MasterFILEPremier;MathSciNet via EBSCOhost;MEDLINE;MentalMeasurements Yearbook with Tests in Print;Middle and JuniorHigh Core Collection (H.W. Wilson);Middle Eastern & CentralAsian Studies;Military & Government Collection;Military and LawEnforcement Periodicals, 1691-1887;Missionary and CharityPeriodicals, 1793-1902;MLA Directory of Periodicals, MLAInternational Bibliography;Music Index;Musical Periodicals,1781-1879;NEOS's Catalog;New TestamentAbstracts;Newswires;Nonbook Materials Core Collection (H.W.Wilson);Old Testament Abstracts;Periodicals from Around theWorld, 1691-1880;Periodicals of the American West, 1779-
Life with Full Text;Library & Information Science Source;Library Literature & Information Science Retrospective: 1905-1983 (H.W. Wilson);Literary Periodicals of New England, 1789-1878;Literary Reference Center;MAS Ultra - School Edition;Masons, Odd- Fellows and Other Societal Periodicals, 1794-1877;MasterFILE Premier;MathSciNet via EBSCOhost;MEDLINE;Mental Measurements Yearbook with Tests in Print;Middle and Junior High Core Collection (H.W. Wilson);Middle Eastern & Central Asian Studies;Military & Government Collection;Military and Law Enforcement Periodicals, 1691-1877;Missionary and Charity Periodicals, 1793-1902;MLA Directory of Periodicals,MLA International Bibliography;Music Index;Musical Periodicals, 1781-1879;NEOS's Catalog;New Testament Abstracts;Newswires;Nonbook Materials Core Collection (H.W. Wilson);Old Testament Abstracts;Periodicals from Around the
Literature & Information Science Retrospective: 1905-1983 (H.W. Wilson);Literary Periodicals of New England, 1789-1878;Literary Reference Center;MAS Ultra - School Edition;Masons, Odd- Fellows and Other Societal Periodicals, 1794-1877;MasterFILE Premier;MathSciNet via EBSCOhost;MEDLINE;Mental Measurements Yearbook with Tests in Print;Middle and Junior High Core Collection (H.W. Wilson);Middle Eastern & Central Asian Studies;Military & Government Collection;Military and Law Enforcement Periodicals, 1691-1877;Missionary and Charity Periodicals, 1793-1902;MLA Directory of Periodicals;MLA International Bibliography;Music Index;Musical Periodicals, 1781-1879;NEOS's Catalog;New Testament Abstracts;Newswires;Nonbook Materials Core Collection (H.W. Wilson);Old Testament Abstracts;Periodicals from Around the
Wilson);Literary Periodicals of New England, 1789-1878;Literary Reference Center;MAS Ultra - School Edition;Masons, Odd- Fellows and Other Societal Periodicals, 1794-1877;MasterFILE Premier;MathSciNet via EBSCOhost;MEDLINE;Mental Measurements Yearbook with Tests in Print;Middle and Junior High Core Collection (H.W. Wilson);Middle Eastern & Central Asian Studies;Military & Government Collection;Military and Law Enforcement Periodicals, 1691-1877;Missionary and Charity Periodicals, 1793-1902;MLA Directory of Periodicals, MLA International Bibliography;Music Index;Musical Periodicals, 1781-1879;NEOS's Catalog;New Testament Abstracts;Newswires;Nonbook Materials Core Collection (H.W. Wilson);Old Testament Abstracts;Periodicals from Around the
Reference Center;MAS Ultra - School Edition;Masons, Odd- Fellows and Other Societal Periodicals, 1794-1877;MasterFILE Premier;MathSciNet via EBSCOhost;MEDLINE;Mental Measurements Yearbook with Tests in Print;Middle and Junior High Core Collection (H.W. Wilson);Middle Eastern & Central Asian Studies;Military & Government Collection;Military and Law Enforcement Periodicals, 1691-1877;Missionary and Charity Periodicals, 1793-1902;MLA Directory of Periodicals;MLA International Bibliography;Music Index;Musical Periodicals, 1781-1879;NEOS's Catalog;New Testament Abstracts;Newswires;Nonbook Materials Core Collection (H.W. Wilson);Old Testament Abstracts;OmniFile Full Text Select (H.W. Wilson);Peace Research Abstracts;Periodicals from Around the
Fellows and Other Societal Periodicals, 1794-1877;MasterFILEPremier;MathSciNet via EBSCOhost;MEDLINE;MentalMeasurements Yearbook with Tests in Print;Middle and JuniorHigh Core Collection (H.W. Wilson);Middle Eastern & CentralAsian Studies;Military & Government Collection;Military and LawEnforcement Periodicals, 1691-1877;Missionary and CharityPeriodicals, 1793-1902;MLA Directory of Periodicals;MLAInternational Bibliography;Music Index;Musical Periodicals,1781-1879;NEOS's Catalog;New TestamentAbstracts;Newswires;Nonbook Materials Core Collection (H.W.Wilson);Old Testament Abstracts;OmniFile Full Text Select (H.W.Wilson);Peace Research Abstracts;Periodicals from Around the
Premier;MathSciNet via EBSCOhost;MEDLINE;Mental Measurements Yearbook with Tests in Print;Middle and Junior High Core Collection (H.W. Wilson);Middle Eastern & Central Asian Studies;Military & Government Collection;Military and Law Enforcement Periodicals, 1691-1877;Missionary and Charity Periodicals, 1793-1902;MLA Directory of Periodicals;MLA International Bibliography;Music Index;Musical Periodicals, 1781-1879;NEOS's Catalog;New Testament Abstracts;Newswires;Nonbook Materials Core Collection (H.W. Wilson);Old Testament Abstracts;OmniFile Full Text Select (H.W. Wilson);Peace Research Abstracts;Periodicals from Around the
Measurements Yearbook with Tests in Print;Middle and Junior High Core Collection (H.W. Wilson);Middle Eastern & Central Asian Studies;Military & Government Collection;Military and Law Enforcement Periodicals, 1691-1877;Missionary and Charity Periodicals, 1793-1902;MLA Directory of Periodicals;MLA International Bibliography;Music Index;Musical Periodicals, 1781-1879;NEOS's Catalog;New Testament Abstracts;Newswires;Nonbook Materials Core Collection (H.W. Wilson);Old Testament Abstracts;OmniFile Full Text Select (H.W. Wilson);Peace Research Abstracts;Periodicals from Around the
High Core Collection (H.W. Wilson);Middle Eastern & Central Asian Studies;Military & Government Collection;Military and Law Enforcement Periodicals, 1691-1877;Missionary and Charity Periodicals, 1793-1902;MLA Directory of Periodicals;MLA International Bibliography;Music Index;Musical Periodicals, 1781-1879;NEOS's Catalog;New Testament Abstracts;Newswires;Nonbook Materials Core Collection (H.W. Wilson);Old Testament Abstracts;OmniFile Full Text Select (H.W. Wilson);Peace Research Abstracts;Periodicals from Around the
Asian Studies;Military & Government Collection;Military and Law Enforcement Periodicals, 1691-1877;Missionary and Charity Periodicals, 1793-1902;MLA Directory of Periodicals;MLA International Bibliography;Music Index;Musical Periodicals, 1781-1879;NEOS's Catalog;New Testament Abstracts;Newswires;Nonbook Materials Core Collection (H.W. Wilson);Old Testament Abstracts;OmniFile Full Text Select (H.W. Wilson);Peace Research Abstracts;Periodicals from Around the
Enforcement Periodicals, 1691-1877;Missionary and Charity Periodicals, 1793-1902;MLA Directory of Periodicals;MLA International Bibliography;Music Index;Musical Periodicals, 1781-1879;NEOS's Catalog;New Testament Abstracts;Newswires;Nonbook Materials Core Collection (H.W. Wilson);Old Testament Abstracts;OmniFile Full Text Select (H.W. Wilson);Peace Research Abstracts;Periodicals from Around the
Periodicals, 1793-1902;MLA Directory of Periodicals;MLA International Bibliography;Music Index;Musical Periodicals, 1781-1879;NEOS's Catalog;New Testament Abstracts;Newswires;Nonbook Materials Core Collection (H.W. Wilson);Old Testament Abstracts;OmniFile Full Text Select (H.W. Wilson);Peace Research Abstracts;Periodicals from Around the
International Bibliography;Music Index;Musical Periodicals, 1781-1879;NEOS's Catalog;New Testament Abstracts;Newswires;Nonbook Materials Core Collection (H.W. Wilson);Old Testament Abstracts;OmniFile Full Text Select (H.W. Wilson);Peace Research Abstracts;Periodicals from Around the
1781-1879;NEOS's Catalog;New Testament Abstracts;Newswires;Nonbook Materials Core Collection (H.W. Wilson);Old Testament Abstracts;OmniFile Full Text Select (H.W. Wilson);Peace Research Abstracts;Periodicals from Around the
Abstracts;Newswires;Nonbook Materials Core Collection (H.W. Wilson);Old Testament Abstracts;OmniFile Full Text Select (H.W. Wilson);Peace Research Abstracts;Periodicals from Around the
Wilson);Old Testament Abstracts;OmniFile Full Text Select (H.W. Wilson);Peace Research Abstracts;Periodicals from Around the
Wilson);Peace Research Abstracts;Periodicals from Around the
World, 1691-1880;Periodicals of the American West, 1779-
1881;Periodicals of the British Empire and Its Colonies, 1702-
1879;Petroleum Abstracts TULSA® Database;Philosophers Index
with Full Text;Play Index (H.W. Wilson);Political Science
Complete;Popular Educational Periodicals, 1758-1889;Primary
Search;PsycEXTRA;Public Administration Abstracts;Public Affairs
Index;Public Library Core Collection: Nonfiction (H.W.
Wilson);Race Relations Abstracts;Readers' Guide Retrospective:
1890-1982 (H.W. Wilson); Regional Business News; Religion and
Philosophy Collection; Religious Periodicals for Women, Children,
and Families, 1804-1878; Religious Periodicals from the Southern
U.S., 1801-1904; RILM Abstracts of Music Literature; RIPM -
Retrospective Index to Music Periodicals;Scientific Periodicals,
1771-1901;Senior High Core Collection (H.W. Wilson);Short Story
Index (H.W. Wilson);Slavery and Abolition, 1789-1887;Social
Work Abstracts;SocINDEX with Full Text;SPORTDiscus with Full
Text;Story Papers, Dimes and Dollar Periodicals, 1828-
1877;Sunday School Periodicals, 1818-1885;Teacher Reference
Center; Temperance in America, 1826-1877; Textile Technology
Index;The Nation Archive;The National Review Archive;The New

				Republic Archive;Theology and Biblical Studies Periodicals, 1760- 1877;Time Magazine Archive;Urban Studies Abstracts;Violence & Abuse Abstracts;Women's Periodicals of the Eighteenth and Nineteenth Century, 1733-1844;Women's Periodicals of the Nineteenth Century, 1866-1891;World Textiles		
May 19, 16	Scopus	(interventi on AND (healthy eating OR food habits OR diet) AND (child care OR preschool OR day care OR daycare OR kindergart en) AND (vegetable OR fruit))	ND DOCTYPE (ar OR re) A ND PUBYEAR > 2005 AND (LIMIT- TO (LANGUA GE, "English") OR LIMIT- TO (LANGUA GE, "Spanish")) AND (LIM IT- TO (SRCTYPE, "j"))	N/A	N/A	79
May	Web of	(interventi	Refined		Web of Science	613
19, 16	Science	on AND (healthy eating OR food habits OR diet) AND (child care OR preschool OR day care OR daycare OR kindergart	by: LANGUAG ES: (ENGLISH OR SPANISH OR FRENCH) Timespan: 200 6-2016. Search language=Aut o		Core Collection BIOSIS Citation Index BIOSIS Previews CABI: CABI Abstracts Current Contents Connect Data Citation Index Derwent Innovations Index FSTA - the food	

en) AND	science
(vegetable	resource
OR fruit))	KCI-Korean
	Journal
	Database
	MEDLINE
	Russian Sciance
	Citation Index
	SciELO Citation
	Index
	Zoological Record

Total of records retrieved: 958